

INSTITUTO POLITÉCNICO DE LISBOA

Instituto Superior de Engenharia de Lisboa Escola Superior de Tecnologia da Saúde de Lisboa



Development of Predictive Models for COVID-19 Prognosis based on Patients' Demographic and Clinical Data

Cristiana da Palma Von Rekowski

Thesis to obtain the Master's Degree in Biomedical Engineering

Definitive Version

Supervisors:

Dr. Cecília Ribeiro da Cruz Calado (ISEL) Dr. Iola Pinto (ISEL) Dr. Luís Bento (CHULC)

July 2022



INSTITUTO POLITÉCNICO DE LISBOA

Instituto Superior de Engenharia de Lisboa Escola Superior de Tecnologia da Saúde de Lisboa



Development of Predictive Models for COVID-19 Prognosis based on Patients' Demographic and Clinical Data

Cristiana da Palma Von Rekowski

Thesis to obtain the Master's Degree in Biomedical Engineering

Supervisors:

Dr. Cecília Ribeiro da Cruz Calado (ISEL) Dr. Iola Pinto (ISEL) Dr. Luís Bento (CHULC)

Examination Committee:

<u>Chairperson</u>

Dr. João Costa (ISEL)

Members of the Committee

Dr. Carlos Geraldes (ISEL) Dr. Iola Pinto (ISEL)

July 2022

This page was intentionally left blank



Development of Predictive Models for COVID-19 Prognosis based on Patients' Demographic and Clinical Data

Cristiana da Palma Von Rekowski

This work was supported by *Instituto Politécnico de Lisboa* grant IDI&CA/IPL/2020/NephoMD/ISEL, and the FCT grant DSAIPA/DS/0117/2020 - PREMO - Predictive Models of COVID-19 Outcomes for Higher Risk Patients Towards a Precision Medicine.

This work was conducted in the Engineering & Health Laboratory, established through a collaboration between *Universidade Católica Portuguesa* and *Instituto Politécnico de Lisboa*.

This page was intentionally left blank

Acknowledgments

The development of this work had the help of several people. I'd like to begin by thanking Professor Cecília Calado for giving me the opportunity to be part of Engineering & Health Laboratory at ISEL and to be part of the PREMO project. Thanks to your guidance, I was able to have a deeper understanding of the vast world of research. Not only did I get to learn about new equipment, laboratory procedures and techniques, but I was also able to advance my knowledge to the point that I could contribute to the major project we're working on. So, thank you again, not only for believing in my abilities, but also for providing me with the resources to improve them. I also want to thank Doctor Luís Bento, who from the beginning entrusted me with the project's data, gave me the freedom to explore it and was always available to help me with any questions and to provide me with anything I was missing.

A big thank you also to the remaining members of the PREMO project, particularly to Rúben Araújo, for encouraging me throughout this work, for advising me in the best possible way and for making things seem simpler when they seemed more complex or even impossible. I'm looking forward to continuing to be a part of this talented multidisciplinary team and to make our contribution to the world of research.

I'd also like to express my gratitude to Professor Iola Pinto for all of her assistance in completing this Master thesis, as well as for assisting me in developing new skills and achieve my goals. I know it wasn't possible to do everything we had planned, but all the time spent developing databases and adjusting variables was a very critical milestone for the entire project.

A special thanks to Tiago Fonseca, who has been with me at the Engineering & Health Laboratory since the beginning. We contributed a lot to this project, in different ways, in my opinion, but the most important thing was what we learnt together and how we helped and supported one other. Also, none of this would have been possible without the support of my family and friends, who always encouraged me to expand my knowledge to the fullest.

This page was intentionally left blank

Abstract

Background – Cases of infection by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) were first reported in late December 2019. Due to the large spectrum of clinical presentations and outcomes, the disease was named Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and characterized as a pandemic due to the elevated number of cases worldwide, the high transmission rate and the lack of action measures. Since then, a lot of progress has been made, but the study of demographic and clinical information and the determination of possible laboratory biomarkers for COVID-19 prognosis is crucial.

Purpose – Determine predictive biomarkers for COVID-19's outcome (death or survival), in critically ill patients, using clinical, demographic and laboratory data from the intensive care unit (ICU).

Methods – Demographic, clinical and laboratory data from 337 COVID-19 patients admitted to the ICU of *Centro Hospitalar Universitário Lisboa Central*, Portugal, between March 2020 and March 2021, was extracted from the hospital's electronic medical record system, pre-processed, and analyzed. Comparisons were made regarding death, the need of invasive mechanic ventilation (IMV), the first three COVID-19 waves and age groups. Longitudinal data was gathered over the course of the patients stay in the ICU. To infer about the evolution of the patients' condition in the first week of ICU admission, a comparative analysis was carried out between the data from the 2^{nd} (335 patients) and 7th days (216 patients). Comparisons of laboratory parameters between discharged and deceased patients, at these time points were performed. The associations between the several biomarkers and death were tested by means of Univariate Generalized Estimating Equations (GEEs) models. Additionally, to analyze the impact of some biomarkers in mortality, crude odds ratios were estimated and interpreted, with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Death event-free survival rates were obtained by the Kaplan-Meier estimator. All *P* values were considered statistically significant at *P*<0.05.

Results – Deceased patients were considerably older, had more comorbidities, required more IMV, and spent less time in the hospital than discharged patients. Death rates did not differ significantly between COVID-19 waves. Patients from the 1st wave were significantly older and relied more on IMV and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). Most of the detected differences regarding laboratory biomarkers were found between discharged and deceased patients from the 2nd and 3rd waves, being that the deceased ones had almost always worse results. In general, worse results were obtained in the 1st wave and in the 7th day of ICU admission. In 2nd day of ICU admission, 2nd wave, higher mortality rates were observed for patients with lymphocyte (LYM) levels under normality ranges. In the 3rd wave, mortality rates were higher for patients with high sensitivity troponin I (hs-cTn I) levels above normality ranges in the 2nd day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, with LYM levels under normality ranges in the 7th day of ICU admission, and with platelet (PLT) levels below normality ranges, either in the 2nd or 7th days of ICU admission. Through the univariate logistic regression's results in 2nd day of ICU admission, 2nd wave, hs-cTn I, red blood cell (RBC) counts, platelet-lymphocyte ratio (PLR) and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) showed significant association with the risk of death. In 7th day of ICU admission, C-reactive protein (CRP), RBC counts, hematocrit (HCT), hemoglobin (HGB), white blood cell (WBC) and

neutrophil (NEU) counts, eosinophil (EO) counts and NLR, revealed significant association with the risk of death. In the 2nd day of ICU admission, 3rd wave, hs-cTn I, PLT counts, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and CRP showed significant association with the risk of death. For the 7th day, PCT, CRP, WBC and NEU counts, LYM counts, NLR and PLT counts results were also associated with higher risks of death. Univariate GEEs models results demonstrated that, in the 1st wave, hs-cTn I, myoglobin, EO counts, results were associated with higher risks of death. In the 2nd wave, the risk of death was significantly associated with higher risks of death. In the 2nd wave, the risk of death was significantly associated with hs-cTn I, myoglobin levels, EO counts, WBC and NEU counts, LYM counts, and INR. Finally, in the 3rd wave, hs-cTn I, CK, EO counts, WBC and NEU counts, LYM counts, NLR and PLT counts, were also associated with the risk of death.

Conclusion - This study provides useful information for prognostic evaluation that can be used to guide treatment and monitoring. Most importantly, it consists of valuable data that can be employed as the foundation of a variety of future research. Aside from the positive results, more research is needed to develop reliable and robust biomarkers for COVID-19's outcomes.

Keywords – COVID-19 • SARS-CoV-2 • Multi-Organ Involvement • Predictive Biomarkers • ICU Outcomes • Hematologic indexes

Resumo

Introdução – Casos de infeção pelo vírus *severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus* 2 (SARS-CoV-2) foram relatados pela primeira vez no final de dezembro de 2019. Devido ao grande espetro de apresentações e *outcomes* clínicos, a doença foi denominada *Coronavirus Disease 2019* (COVID-19) e considerada uma pandemia devido ao elevado número de casos em todo o mundo, à alta taxa de transmissão e à falta de medidas de ação. Apesar desta patologia estar a ser aprofundadamente investigada, o estudo de informação demográfica e clínica e a determinação de possíveis biomarcadores laboratoriais para o prognóstico da COVID-19 continua a ser crucial.

Objetivos – Determinar biomarcadores preditivos para o *outcome* da COVID-19 (morte ou vida), em pacientes críticos, usando dados clínicos, demográficos e laboratoriais da unidade de cuidados intensivos (UCI).

Métodos – Dados demográficos, clínicos e laboratoriais de 337 pacientes com COVID-19 internados na UCI do Centro Hospitalar Universitário Lisboa Central, em Portugal, entre março de 2020 e março de 2021, foram extraídos das bases de dados eletrónicas do hospital, pré-processados e analisados. Foram feitas comparações em relação ao óbito na UCI, necessidade de ventilação mecânica invasiva (VMI), três vagas de COVID-19 e faixas etárias. Dados longitudinais foram obtidos ao longo da permanência dos pacientes na UCI. Para inferir sobre a evolução do quadro dos pacientes na primeira semana de internamento na UCI, foi realizada uma análise comparativa entre os dados do 2º (335 pacientes) e 7º dias (216 pacientes). Foram realizadas comparações de parâmetros laboratoriais entre pacientes que receberam alta e pacientes falecidos, nestes momentos. As associações entre os diversos biomarcadores e a morte foram testadas por meio de modelos, do inglês, *Generalized Estimating Equation* (GEEs) univariados. Adicionalmente, para analisar o impacto de alguns biomarcadores na mortalidade, foram estimados e interpretados os *odds ratios*, com os correspondentes intervalos de confiança de 95%. As taxas de sobrevivência, em relação a cada biomarcador, foram obtidas pelo estimador Kaplan-Meier. Todos os valores de *P* foram considerados estatisticamente significantes para *P*<0,05.

Resultados – Os pacientes que faleceram eram consideravelmente mais velhos, tinham mais comorbidades, necessitavam mais de VMI e passavam menos tempo no hospital do que os pacientes que receberam alta. As taxas de mortalidade não diferiram significativamente entre as vagas de COVID-19. Os pacientes da 1ª vaga eram significativamente mais velhos e dependiam mais da VMI e da ECMO. A maioria das diferenças detetadas quanto aos biomarcadores laboratoriais foi entre pacientes que receberam alta e os que faleceram na 2ª e 3ª ondas, sendo que os falecidos demonstraram quase sempre piores resultados. A nível de biomarcadores, os piores resultados foram obtidos na 1ª vaga e no 7º dia de internamento UCI. Na 2ª vaga, as maiores taxas de mortalidade foram observadas para pacientes com níveis de linfócitos abaixo da normalidade no 2º dia de internamento na UCI. Na 3ª vaga, as taxas de mortalidade foram maiores para pacientes com níveis de linfócitos abaixo da normalidade no 2º dia de internamento na UCI e com níveis de plaquetas abaixo da normalidade, no 2º e 7º dias de internamento na UCI. Por meio de regressão logística univariada, determinou-se que, para a 2ª vaga, os resultados das troponinas de alta sensibilidade, eritrócitos, rácios entre plaquetas e linfócitos e dos rácios entre neutrófilos e linfócitos poderiam prever o risco de morte no 2º dia de internamento na UCI. O mesmo foi observado para a proteína C-reativa, hemácias, hematócrito, hemoglobina, leucócitos, neutrófilos, eosinófilos e rácio entre neutrófilos e linfócitos, no 7º dia de internamento. Na 3ª vaga, os resultados das troponinas de alta sensibilidade, plaquetas, lactato desidrogenase e proteína C-reativa também demonstraram capacidade para prever o risco de morte no 2º dia de internamento na UCI. Para o 7º dia, os resultados da procalcitonina, proteína C-reativa, leucócitos, linfócitos, neutrófilos e dos rácios entre neutrófilos e linfócitos e plaquetas e linfócitos também demonstraram capacidade preditiva para riscos de morte superiores. Através dos modelos Generalized Estimating Equation (GEEs) univariados, na 1ª vaga os resultados das troponinas de elevada sensibilidade, mioglobina e eosinófilos foram associados a maiores riscos de morte. Na 2ª vaga, o mesmo foi novamente verificado para as troponinas de elevada sensibilidade, a mioglobina e os eosinófilos, e também para os leucócitos, neutrófilos, linfócitos e INR. Por fim, na 3ª vaga, as troponinas de elevada sensibilidade, a creatinina cinase, eosinófilos, leucócitos, neutrófilos, linfócitos, rácio entre neutrófilos e linfócitos e as plaquetas também foram associados ao risco de morte.

Conclusão - Este estudo fornece informações úteis para uma avaliação prognóstica e que podem ser usadas para orientar o tratamento e a monitorização de pacientes com COVID-19. É ainda composto por dados que podem vir a ser empregados numa grande variedade de estudos futuros. Além dos resultados positivos, é necessária mais investigação nesta área de maneira a desenvolver biomarcadores confiáveis e robustos para os *outcomes* da COVID-19.

Palavras-Chave – COVID-19 • SARS-CoV-2 • Envolvimento Multi-Orgão • Biomarcadores preditivos
 Outcomes da UCI • Índices hematológicos

This page was intentionally left blank

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	VI
Abstract	VIII
List of figures	XIXV
List of tables	XIX
List of abbreviations	XXIII
Chapter 1: Objectives and work structure	1
Chapter 2: Literature review	3
2.1. General evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic	3
2.2. Brief introduction on coronaviruses	6
2.3. Genome and structure of SARS-CoV-2	8
2.4. Host entry and SARS-CoV's-2 life cycle	10
2.5. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 as a SARS-CoV'S-2 receptor and its i disease progression	nfluence in 13
2.6. Host's immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and cytokine storm	16
2.7. Baseline characteristics of COVID-19 patients	19
2.7.1. Age and gender	19
2.7.2. Main comorbidities	19
2.7.3. Most common symptoms	19
2.7.4. Chest Computed Tomography	19
2.8 - Multi-Organ involvement and biomarkers	21
2.8.1. Respiratory system	21
2.8.2. Cardiovascular system	23
2.8.3. Gastrointestinal tract	26
2.8.4. Renal involvement	27
2.8.5. Liver involvement	28
2.8.6. Pancreas	30
2.8.7. Neurological involvement	32
Chapter 3 – Methodology	33

3.1. Study population and data assembly	33
3.2. Clinical and demographic data	33
3.3. Laboratory data	35
3.4. Statistical analysis	37
Chapter 4 – Results and discussion	39
4.1. Clinical and demographic characteristics	39
4.1.1. All patients and comparisons relative to their outcomes	39
4.1.2. Comparisons relative to IMV	45
4.1.3. Comparisons relative to COVID-19 waves	47
4.1.4. Comparisons relative to age groups	51
4.2. Laboratory results in the ICU	54
4.2.1. Cardiac biomarkers	54
4.2.2. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers	65
4.2.3. Coagulation biomarkers	85
Chapter 5 – Conclusion and future perspectives	99
Bibliography	.1022

List of figures

Figure 1.1. Representative scheme of the present thesis structure
Figure 2.1.1. COVID-19 weakly reports of cases and global deaths as of August 29, 20214
Figure 2.2.1. Taxonomy of the SARS-CoV-27
Figure 2.3.1. SARS-CoV's-2 genome representation
Figure 2.3.2. SARS-CoV's-2 structure representation
Figure 2.4.1. SARS-CoV's-2 binding to ACE2 receptor after furin pre-activation
Figure 2.4.2. SARS-CoV's-2 host entry and life cycle11
Figure 2.4.3. SARS-CoV's-2 genome replication and transcription, resulting in a) positive strands of gRNA (+gRNA's) and b) single guide RNA's (+sgRNA's)12
Figure 2.5.1. One of ACE2 roles in homeostasis13
Figure 2.6.1. Immune response against viral infections. A) Innate Immune System; B) Adaptative Immune System (with both cellular and humoral immune responses)
Figure 2.8.1.1. SARS-CoV-2 entry through the lungs, pathogenesis, and multiple organ damage
Figure 2.8.2.1. Cardiovascular system's cells and their localization. Expression of ACE2 mainly
occurs in cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells and pericytes
Figure 2.8.5.1. Possible causes of hepatic injury. 1) SARS-CoV-2 direct liver damage through cholangiocyte entry. 2) Immune-mediated process of liver injury through cytokine storm. 3) Drug-induced liver injury related to medication for COVID-19 management
Figure 2.8.6.1. Possible causes of pancreatic injury include SARS-CoV-2 direct liver damage through beta cell entry or indirect damage by pericyte, endothelial and ductal cell targeting. Indirect damage leads to cell structural and functional transformation, causing local inflammation with cytokine and chemokine release, possibly contributing for beta cell involvement
Figure 4.1.1.1. Number of laboratory tests for detection of SARS-CoV-2 (area in red) and percentage of positive results (red line) per week in Portugal. The defined threshold (4%) is according to European directives. Indication for COVID-19 waves added according to <i>Centro Hospitalar Universitário Lisboa Central</i>
- gare minute contents anothe since symptom onset of communed diagnosis by

RT-PCR (whichever was earlier) until hospital discharge40

Figure 4.1.1.3. Population Pyramid of patients discharged from the hospital and patients who died in each age group (A) and in each number of comorbidities (B)44
Figure 4.1.2.1. Population Pyramid of non-mechanically ventilated patients and mechanically ventilated patients in each age group (A) and in each COVID-19 wave at admission (B)45
Figure 4.1.3.1. Population Pyramid of patients admitted during the first and second COVID-19 waves in each age group
Figure 4.1.3.2. Kaplan-Meier survival curves since ICU admission until ICU discharge for each COVID-19 Wave
Figure 4.2.1.1. Survival curves for patients with COVID-19 according to the hs-cTn I threshold of 34,2 pg/mL in the 2 nd day of ICU admission (A) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (B, C and D)
Figure 4.2.1.2. hs-cTn I (pg/mL) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for discharged patients, between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.1.3. LDH (U/L) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for deceased patients, between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.1.4. CK (U/L) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for deceased patients, between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.1.5. Median time course for all patients' hs-cTn I levels in each COVID-19 wave (A) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1 st (B), 2 nd (C) and 3 rd (D) COVID-19 waves, between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.1.6. Median time course for all patients' LDH levels in each COVID-19 wave (A) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1 st (B), 2 nd (C) and 3 rd (D) COVID-19 waves, between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.2.1. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the LYM threshold of 0,8 x10 ⁹ /L in the 2 nd day of ICU admission (A) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (B, C and D)
Figure 4.2.2.2. Median time course, in each COVID-19 wave, for discharged (A) and deceased (B) patients' CRP levels, discharged patients' PCT levels (C) and deceased patients' EO levels (D), between the 2 nd and 10 th days of ICU admission
Figure 4.2.2.3. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the LYM threshold of 0,8 x10 ⁹ /L in the 7 th day of ICU admission (A) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (B, C and D)

Figure 4.2.3.2. DDs (μ g/L) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for discharged patients, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission......90

Figure 4.2.3.3. PLTs x10⁹/L median time course by COVID-19 wave, for discharged patients, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission......90

Figure 4.2.3.4. Discharged (**A**) and deceased (**B**) patients' median time course by COVID-19 wave, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission90

List of tables

Table 2.1.1. SARS-CoV's-2 variants of concern and interest under monitoring as of August2021, according to the WHO
Table 2.3.1. SARS-CoV's-2 structural proteins main characteristics and functions9
Table 2.5.1. Angiotensin (1-7) roles in physiology and disease 14
Table 2.6.1. Cytokines that are elevated during COVID-19 progression 17
Table 2.8.2.1. Biomarkers linked to coagulation dysfunction in COVID-19 25
Table 2.8.5.1. Biomarkers linked to liver injury in COVID-19
Table 3.2.1. Grouping of individual comorbidities
Table 3.3.1. Selected variables of interest obtained from hemograms/blood tests and their daily value of interest
Table 3.3.2. Selected variables of interest from blood gas analysis and their daily value of interest
Table 3.3.3. Selected variables of interest from urinalysis and their daily value of interest36
Table 3.4.1. Symbology used to represent statistical tests
Table 4.1.1.1. Demographic data from all patients and comparisons between hospital discharged and deceased patients
Table 4.1.2.1. Comparisons between mechanically ventilated and non-mechanically ventilated patients
Table 4.1.3.1. Comparisons between COVID-19 first, second and third waves
Table 4.1.4.1. Comparisons between age groups 52
Table 4.2.1.1. Cardiac-related biomarkers in the 2 nd day of ICU admission
Table 4.2.1.2. Cardiac-related biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 2 nd day of ICU admission
Table 4.2.1.3. Comparisons between survival functions for all patients with and without increased hs-cTn I levels, and separate analysis for all COVID-19 waves, in the 2 nd day of ICU admission
Table 4.2.1.4. Statistically significant results from univariate logistic regression for cardiac-related biomarkers in the 2 nd day of ICU admission
Table 4.2.1.5. Cardiac-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 2 nd day of ICU admission58

Table 4.2.1.6. Cardiac-related biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission.......59

Table 4.2.1.8. Cardiac-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 7th day of ICU admission....61

 Table 4.2.2.10. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers' distributions with significant

 differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 7th day of

 ICU admission
 77

Table 4.2.3.1. Coagulation-related biomarkers in the 2nd day of ICU admission85

Table 4.2.3.5. Coagulation-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 2nd day of ICU admission ...89

Table 4.2.3.6. Coagulation-related biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission91

Table 4.2.3.11.	Statistically	significant	results	from	univariate	GEEs	models	for	coagulation-
related biomark	ers in each (COVID-19	wave						98

List of abbreviations

ACE2	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2
ACTIV	Accelerating COVID-19 Therapeutic Interventions and Vaccines
AKI	Acute Kidney Disease
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase
Ang	Angiotensin
aPTT	Activated Partial Thromboplastin Time
ARDS	Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome
AST	Aspartate Aminotransferase
AT1R	Ang II Type 1 Receptor
AT2R	Ang II Type 2 Receptor
AXL	Tyrosine-Protein Kinase Receptor UFO
BE	Base Excess/deficit
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
BPH	Benign Prostate Hyperplasia
BUN	Blood Urea Nitrogen
CEPI	Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations
CI	Confidence Interval
CLpro	Chymotrypsin-Like Protease
CNS	Central Nervous System
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
CoVs	Coronaviruses
CRP	C-reactive protein
CSG	Coronaviridae Study Group
СТ	Computed Tomography
DC	Dendritic Cells
DD	D-Dimer
DIC	Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation
DILI	Drug-Induced Liver Damage (DILI),
ECMO	Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
eGFR	Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate
EO	Eosinophil
EUL	Emergency Use Listing
FDP	Fibrin Degradation Product
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FiO ₂	Fraction of Inspired Oxygen
G-CSF	Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor
GEE	Generalized Estimating Equation
GGT	Gamma-Glutamyl Transferase
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
gRNA	Genome RNA
HCoV	Human Coronavirus
HCT	Hematocrit

HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HFO	High Flow Oxygen
HGB	Hemoglobin
HHb	Deoxyhemoglobin
hs-cTn	High-Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin
ICTV	International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IL	Interleukin
IL-1RA	Interleukin 1 Receptor Antagonist
IL-2R	Interleukin 2 Receptor
IMV	Invasive Mechanic Ventilation
INF	Interferon
INR	International Normalized Ratio
IQR	Interquartile Range
JAK's- STAT's	Janus Kinase Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription Proteins
Lac	Lactate
LDH	Lactate Dehydrogenase
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein
LYM	Lymphocyte
MasR	Mas Receptor
MCH	Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin
MCHC	Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin Concentration
MCP	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein
MCV	Mean Corpuscular Volume
MERS-CoV	Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus
MI	Myocardial Infarction
MIP	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein
MON	Monocyte
Mpro	Main Protease
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NEU	Neutrophil
NK	Natural Killer
NLR	Neutrophil-Lymphocyte Ratio
NSP	Non-Structural Protein
NT-proBNP	Natriuretic Peptide Testes
O2Hb	Oxyhemoglobin
ORF	Open Reading Frame
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnea
PaO ₂	Partial Pressure of Oxygen
PAMP	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern
PCT	Procalcitonin
PDGF	Platelet-Derived Growth Factor
PDW	Platelet Distribution Width
PHEIC	Public Health Emergency of International Concern
PLpro	Papain-Like Proteases
PLR	Platelet-Lymphocyte Ratio

PLT	Platelet
PNS	Peripheral Nervous System
рр	Polypeptides
PPR	Pattern-Recognition Receptor
PREMO	Predictive Models of COVID-19 Outcomes for Higher Risk Patients Towards a Precision Medicine
PT	Prothrombin Time
PT-act	Prothrombin Time Activity
q-PCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
RAS	Renin-Angiotensin System
RBC	Red Blood Cell
RBD	Receptor Binding Domain
RDW	Red Cell Distribution Width
RDW-SD	Red Cell Distribution Width
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcriptase – Polymerase Chain Reaction
SAGE	Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization
SARS-CoV	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus
SCr	Serum Creatinine
ssRNA	Single-Stranded Positive-Sense RNA
So2	Arterial oxygen saturation
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
TLR	Toll-Like Receptors
TMPRSS2	Transmembrane Protease Serine 2
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
UTR	Untranslated Region
uWBC	Uncorrected White Blood Cell count
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VOC	Variant Of Concern
VOI	Variant Of Interest
WBC	White Blood Cell
WHO	World Health Organization

This page was intentionally left blank

Chapter 1: Objectives and work structure

Given the significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic from late December 2019 to the present, research into demographic and clinical data, as well as the identification of potential laboratory biomarkers for COVID-19 prognosis is critical. Therefore, this thesis' major purpose is to identify predictive biomarkers for this disease's outcome in critically ill patients. This project is inserted in a larger one, namely Predictive Models of COVID-19 Outcomes for Higher Risk Patients Towards a Precision Medicine (PREMO), which uses a variety of methodologies (for example Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy, metabolomics, cytokine and vital signal analysis) to reach similar goals. For that reason, its intended that the results and conclusions from this thesis can be used not only as an individual source of information, but also as a supplement to future research.

In order to achieve the above-mentioned main goal, the following were also aimed:

- Gather and organize patients' clinical and demographic data into a single transversal database;
- Analyze the key clinical and demographic characteristics of the study sample through statistical descriptive measures, and compare data between discharged and deceased patients, patients who required invasive mechanical ventilation against those who did not, COVID-19 waves, and age groups;
- Organize and compile all of the patients' laboratory results into a single longitudinal database, then integrate them with the clinical and demographic information;
- Select specific sets of biomarkers (representative of several organs) and analyze them at the time of ICU admission and one week later, while comparing patients who were discharged from the ICU to those who died in the ICU, for each COVID-19 wave;
- Compare the behavior of the selected biomarkers between COVID-19 waves;
- Determine which biomarkers are predictive of a higher risk of death in the ICU;
- Analyze the associations between the several biomarkers and death, using the longitudinal data corresponding to all length of ICU stay.

This thesis was organized into five main chapters, each with its own sub-sections, the most essential of which are represented in **Figure 1.1**. Initially, an extensive literature review was conducted in order to learn more about the new virus, how it works, and how it affects the human body. The organs most affected by this virus, how it infects them, and the repercussions of this infection were also provided in this part as a foundation for the analysis of the sample study's laboratory results. The methodology was further broken down into sub-sections to clarify how clinical, demographic, and laboratory variables were chosen and organized, as well as to define the study sample. Results and discussion were merged into a single chapter, containing two main sub-sections. One was dedicated to the analysis of all patients' clinical and demographic features, as well as comparisons between those who were discharged from the ICU and those who died, those who required IMV and those who did not, and between COVID-19

waves and age groups. The other subsection was directed for the analysis of laboratory biomarkers in the ICU, more specifically cardiac-related biomarker, inflammatory and other hematologic biomarkers, and coagulation-related biomarkers. For each of these sets of biomarkers a comparative analysis was carried out between discharged and deceased patients, and COVID-19 waves, for specific days of ICU admission, in order to determine biomarkers related to the patients' outcome.



Figure 1.1. Representative scheme of the present thesis structure

Chapter 2: Literature review

2.1. General evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic

In late December 2019 several cases of patients with pneumonia of unknown cause were reported to health facilities in Wuhan, the capital of Hubei province in central China (1). After analyzing the first 27 documented cases it was concluded that the outbreak had an epidemiological link to the Huanan Seafood Wholesale Market, that was selling seafood and live animals. Due to the growing number of infected people, on December 31 the Wuhan Municipal Health Commission notified the public, as well as the World Health Organization (WHO) about the situation (1,2). On January 7, analysis from samples of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid indicated a novel coronavirus, abbreviated as 2019-nCoV by the WHO. Later in the same month it was renamed severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) by the Coronaviridae Study Group (CSG), a working group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). Due to the large spectrum of clinical presentations and outcomes of the infection caused by this virus, the disease was named Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) by the WHO (3). By the end of January, human-to-human transmission of the new coronavirus had been confirmed and the city of Wuhan locked down. The virus had also spread to all of the provinces of China, causing thousands of new cases to emerge daily (1). On January 30 the WHO declared a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC), considering that only in China had been confirmed 7736 cases and 170 deaths and 12,167 cases were suspected (4,5).

Since February 2020, the situation became even more serious with the emergence of multiple COVID-19 cases from a variety of other countries mainly due to the high transmission rate of the virus and to international travel. Alarmed by the elevated levels of spread and severity of the SARS-CoV-2 and the lack of action measures, the WHO characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic on March 11. By this time 118,319 cases were confirmed globally, as well as 4,292 deaths (6). While the situation in China was more controlled, outside of the country more and more cases were reported from all continents and health-care resources became overwhelmed (1).

Due to the lack of specific treatment and prevention options against the SARS-CoV-2, like vaccines and antivirals, the WHO focused on public health measures and guidance tools aiming to slow down the transmission rate of the virus, to protect health systems and to accurately diagnose, isolate and care for all cases of COVID-19 (7,8). Thus, countries applied their own strategies to avoid the formation of new outbreaks, with included measures such as testing isolation, quarantine, and social distancing. Another focal point was the collaborative research and data sharing in order to find new and more effective solutions for the global crisis being faced, with included for example de foundation of groups and forums for presentation of candidate diagnostic methods, therapeutics, and vaccines (7). As a result, the first RT-PCR laboratory diagnostic kits were shipped to WHO Regional Offices still in February 2020 and two months later a draft of COVID-19 candidate vaccines was published by the WHO. To develop an effective and safe vaccine, the cooperation between international organizations such as the WHO, Accelerating COVID-19 Therapeutic Interventions and Vaccines (ACTIV), Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI), amongst others, was key to ensure funding (8).

The rate of vaccine candidates for SARS-CoV-2 increased rapidly as the pandemic advanced and some excellent progress was made in such small amount of time. For example, some candidate vaccines began their phase I clinical trials within 2 months and showed some promising results (9). By the end of December 2020, with 79 231 893 cumulative cases and 1 754 574 deaths globally (10), 52 candidate vaccines were in clinical evaluation and 162 in preclinical evaluation (11). These included DNA, RNA, non-replicating viral vectors and inactivated vaccines. On December 31, 2020, the Pfizer/BioNtech Comirnaty vaccine was listed for WHO Emergency Use Listing (EUL), followed by two AstraZeneca/Oxford vaccines (SII/Covishield and AstraZeneca/AZD1222) on February 15, 2021, and the Janssen/Ad26.COV2.S vaccine on March 12, 2021(12). The EUL and the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE) have worked with these and other vaccines, to determine if they are quality-assured, safe, effective and to develop policy recommendations for their development, delivery, and others matters related to health interventions (12).

As of August 2021, date until the data for the present thesis was collected, there were 215,714,824 cumulative cases and 4,490,753 cumulative deaths globally. The highest percentages of both cases and deaths were in the Americas (39%; 47%) and Europe (30%; 28%) (**Figure 2.1.1**) (13).



Figure 2.1.1. COVID-19 weakly reports of cases and global deaths as of August 29, 2021 (adapted from (13)).

Since the end of the year 2020, different variants that posed risks to the population appeared, leading to the development of concepts like Variants of Interest (VOI'S) and Variants of concern (VOC's) to prioritize monitoring and research. VOC's, labeled as Alpha, Beta, Gamma, and Delta by the WHO, were designated from December 18, 2020, to May 11, 2021, and reported in numerous sites (**Table 2.1.1**) (13,14). At the same time, in Portugal, 44087 cases were still active, contributing to a total of 1037927 cumulative cases, and 17743 cumulative deaths were estimated until August 2021 (15).

Table 2.1.1. SARS-CoV's-2 variants of concern and interest under monitoring as of August 2021, according to theWHO (adapted from (13,14)).

WHO labels and Lineages	Type of Variant	Date and Location of First Documentation	Date of Designation	Number of Countries with Reports of the VOC's
Alpha (B.1.1.7)	VOC	United Kingdom, September 2020	December 18, 2020	193
Beta (B.1.351)	VOC	South Africa, May 2020	December 18, 2020	141
Gamma (P.1)	VOC	Brazil, November 2020	January 11, 2021	91
Delta (B.1.617.2)	VOC	India, October 2020	May 11, 2021	170
Lambda (C.37)	VOI	Peru, December 2020	June 14, 2021	-
Mu (B.1.621)	VOI	Colombia, January 2021	August 30, 2021	39

2.2. Brief introduction on coronaviruses

Coronaviruses (CoVs) are enveloped pathogenic and non-segmented viruses with large singlestranded positive-sense RNA (ssRNA) genome, that varies between 26 to 32kb in length (one of the largest among RNA viruses) (16). Their spherical envelope, with a diameter that ranges from 80 to 160nm, bears "club-shaped"/ "crown-shaped" projections that gave origin to virus's name (17,18).

They belong to the *Coronaviridae* family, *Cornidovirineae* suborder, *Nidovirales* order and *Riboviriae* realm. The *Coronaviridae* family includes the *Letovirinae* subfamily and the *Orthocoronavirinae* subfamily which is subdivided, based on the virus's protein sequence, into four genera: alphacoronaviruses, betacoronaviruses, gammacoronaviruses and deltacoronaviruses. Within betacoronaviruses there are also recognized the subgenera *Embecovirus*/ lineage A, *Sarbecovirus*/ lineage B, *Merbecovirus*/ lineage C and *Embecovirus*/ lineage D (3,19,20). Alpha and betacoronaviruses only infect mammals and usually cause respiratory illness in humans and gastrointestinal symptoms in animals. Gammacoronaviruses mostly include CoVs from avian origin and aquatic animals. Deltacoronaviruses infect birds and, in some cases, mammals (swine-derived CoVs) (19,21). As of this date there are seven CoV's known to infect humans, the Human Coronavirus (HCoV) 229E and the HCoV-NL63 (both alphacoronaviruses) and HCoV-OC43, HCoV-HKU1, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and SARS-CoV-2 (all betacoronaviruses) (22).

Human coronaviruses, such as the previously mentioned HCoV-229E and HCoV-OC43, have been known to circulate in the population since the 1960's, causing mild respiratory tract infections. However, since the beginning of the last two decades, highly pathogenic HCoVs have been linked to major outbreaks of severe pneumonia in different places around the world (23). These were the cases of the SARS-CoV and MERS viruses in November 2002 and June 2012, respectively, which resulted from zoonotic coronaviruses and lead to high morbidity and mortality (1). Both viruses may have originated in bats, although some intermediate/ secondary hosts were suspected (like civet cats for SARS-CoV and dromedary camels for MERS) due to the genetical similarities between the hostess and human viruses (more than 99% genome sequence identity) (1,23). The novel SARS-CoV-2 is another public health concern that rapidly surpassed SARS-CoV and MERS in terms of spread and infectivity. Several reports demonstrated, true phylogenetic analysis, that this virus clusters with SARS-CoVs in trees of the species *severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus*, placing it in the subgenus *Sarbecovirus* of the genus Betacoronavirus (**Figure 2.2.1**) (1,3).



Figure 2.2.1. Taxonomy of the SARS-CoV-2.

Being a betacoronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 shares some genome sequence identity with SARS-CoV (79%) and MERS (50%). In the other hand, it is closely related (88% similarity) to bat-SL-CoVZXC21 and bat-SL-CoVZC45, two bat-derived SARS-like CoV strains, which is consistent with the fact that bats hold a reservoir for different kinds of CoVs. Nevertheless, just like for SARS-CoV and MERS, its highly likely that SARS-CoV-2 was transmitted to humans trough intermediate hostess, considering that the sequencing identity to the previously mentioned bat CoVs is less than 90% (24). Some reports indicate that pangolins might be the intermediate host for SARS-CoV-2 since, as result of homologous recombination, there is a 90,55% similarity between the S genes of pangolins and bat CoVs (25). These animals showed clinical manifestations of infection, which included interstitial pneumonia and inflammatory cell infiltration, opposed to bats that remained healthy while carrying these types of viruses (1,26).

2.3. Genome and structure of SARS-CoV-2

SARS-CoV-2 genome was recently sequenced and its length is approximately 29,9kb with a composition of four structural proteins and sixteen non-structural proteins (NSPs) (27). Besides, the virus's genome also consists of a 5'cap, a 3'-poly-A tail and two untranslated regions (UTRs), responsible for inter and intramolecular interactions, like those between the RNA of viral and cellular proteins (16,28,29). Just like most HCoVs, this new virus's genome is arranged in a specific order, that being: a 5'-UTR-replicase followed by structural proteins (S, E, M and N) and finally the UTR-3' (**Figure 2.3.1**) (30).



Figure 2.3.1. SARS-CoV's-2 genome representation (adapted from (31)).

It contains multiple open reading frames (ORFs), with ORF1a/b being the longest one, occupying about two-thirds of the virus's genome (29). ORF1a and ORF1b contain a frameshift mutation with produces the polypeptides 1a (pp1a) and 1ab (pp1ab). These will be processed into 16 NSPs by the action of chymotrypsin-like protease (3CLpro)/ main protease (Mpro) and papain-like proteases (PLpro). PLpro cleavage action results in NSP1, NSP2 and NSP3 that are needed for viral replication and Mpro's action in NSP4-NSP16, needed in the virus's life cycle. The rest of the genome is responsible for encoding the four structural proteins (**Figure 2.3.2**) previously mentioned: spike (S), membrane (M), envelop (E) and nucleocapsid (N) proteins, common among all CoV's (**Table 2.3.1**) (17,23,30).



Figure 2.3.2. SARS-CoV's-2 structure representation (adapted from (32)).

 Table 2.3.1. SARS-CoV's-2 structural proteins main characteristics and functions.

Structural Proteins	Main characteristics and functions	References
	1273 aminoacid residues Trimeric protein with an extracellular N-terminus, a transmembrane region anchored in the viral membrane and an intracellular C-terminal Initiates the infection by sticking the virion to the host cell The spikes are camouflaged with polysaccharides, against the host's immune system	
S	 S1 (N-terminal domain (NTD) + receptor binding domain (RBD)) for binding to the receptors on host cells S2 (fusion peptide (FP) + heptad repeat 1 (HR1) + central helix (CH) + connector domain (CD) + heptad repeat 2 (HR2) + transmembrane domain (TM) + cytoplasmatic tail (CT)) responsible for virus and host cell membrane fusion For SARS-CoV-2, S1 recognizes the host's angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) via RBD 	(27,31,33)
м	 222 aminoacid residues Transmembrane protein tree domains: a C-terminal (inside), a N-terminal (outside) and a third transmembrane domain Transmembrane and endodomain are involved in protein-protein interaction (role in assembly of virion particles) Packaging of viral RNA Responsible for the virus's shape and assembly Generation of mature viral envelopes 3 transmembrane domains 	(23,29,31)
E	75 aminoacid residues Assembly (trough viroporins) and secretion of virions from host cells Inhibition of host cell stress response	(23,31)
N	140 aminoacid residues Tree domains: N arm, central linker (CL) and C tail Packaging of viral RNA (gRNA) into a helical ribonucleocapsid (RNP) Interaction with the viral genome and M protein during viral assembly for transcription and replication	(16,23,29,31)

2.4. Host entry and SARS-CoV's-2 life cycle

The most common way of infection by SARS-CoV-2 is initiated at the host's cells surface when the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is recognized as a targeted receptor (29,30). After this, SARS-CoV-2 can use both endosomal cysteine proteases (cathepsin B/L) and transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) for S protein primming, contributing to its high infectivity (34,35). The cumulative effects of these proteases and furin preactivation (**Figure 2.4.1**) are beneficial for cell entry, mainly in lung epithelial and/or fibroblast cell lines. Even if host cells have low expression of TMPRSS2 or other proteases, furin preactivation boosts the virus's entry (35,36). Deletions on furin cleavage sites results in a less effective replication on respiratory cells and pathogenesis (37).



Figure 2.4.1. SARS-CoV's-2 binding to ACE2 receptor after furin pre-activation (adapted from (35)).

Fusion of the viral membrane with the host's cell membrane begins when the S1 domain binds with ACE2. Comparing to SARS-CoV, the SARS-CoV-2 RBD has a significantly stronger affinity to ACE2 receptors. In the other hand, even though the RBD can be both in a standing-up or lying-down state, SARS-CoV-2 S protein is mainly in a lying-down position causing the RBD to be less accessible, when compared to SARS-CoV (35,38). After this stage, viral entry can occur in two different ways (**Figure 2.4.2**). One of the ways involves endocytosis (which may be cathepsin-dependent) with subsequent viral envelope and endosomal wall fusion. In the other one, the virus's entry is assured through the cleavage of the S protein by TMPRSS2 which results in conformational changes in the protein, leading to the fusion of viral and host membranes (23,30,39).
A. Direct entry at plasma membrane



Figure 2.4.2. SARS-CoV's-2 host entry and life cycle (adapted from (39)).

Once the viral envelope and endosomal wall/ host cell membrane fusion has occurred, the virus's nucleocapsid packed genome RNA (gRNA) is released into the cellular cytoplasm. After the unpackaging of N proteins, translation of ORF1a and 1b directly from +gRNA (now serving as mRNA) into viral replicase polyproteins pp1a and pp1ab occurs in the ribosome (22). The same gRNA will also be the mold for RNA transcription. Then, interactions of some of the polyprotein-derived NSPs lead to the formation of a multi-protein replicase-transcriptase complex (RTC). This complex turns gRNA into negative-strand RNA that will be further used to create positive strands of gRNA (+gRNA's) and single guide RNA's (+sgRNA's) (**Figure 2.4.3 A, B**) (22,29). All the previous steps occur inside double membrane vesicles, that further release the sgRNA's for structural and accessory protein encoding. Note that SARS-CoV-2 also uses the host's transfer RNA for its own protein translation. The gRNA, also released from the vesicles, is encapsulated with N proteins. All translated structural and accessory proteins are then released in the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi intermediate compartment (characteristic in CoV's). Here, the viral particles and gRNA are finally assembled into virions, then transported through secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane and secreted by exocytosis (22,23,29,40).



Figure 2.4.3. SARS-CoV's-2 genome replication and transcription (adapted from (22)).

Despite ACE2 being associated with vulnerability to SARS-CoV-2 infection, this enzyme alone isn't the sole factor involved in the virus infection. Ang II type 2 receptor (AT2R) per example acts as a co-receptor in the process of infection and some unidentified proteins may regulate the function of ACE2 receptor. Although ACE2 is the most commonly known receptor for SARS-CoV-2, its expression is relatively lower in tissues like the ones from the respiratory tract in comparison, per example, with the ileum (41). This led to the search of alternative receptors or co-receptors for viral entry trough the respiratory system. Thus, other receptors, such as tyrosine-protein kinase receptor UFO (AXL) were found. In this case, overexpression of AXL in HEK293T cells promotes SARS-CoV-2 entry and the blockage of this receptors significantly reduces infection (42). Other examples include CD147 and CD209I, transmembrane glycoproteins that function as receptors for SARS-CoV. Due to the similarity between this virus and SARS-CoV-2, these proteins could be other potential receptors used for cell entry in COVID-19 (41).

2.5. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 as a SARS-CoV'S-2 receptor and its influence in disease progression

ACE2 is a transmembrane protein present in cell membranes of organs like the lungs (tracheal, bronchial, and alveolar epithelial cells, type II pneumocytes and macrophages), heart (endothelium of coronary arteries, myocytes, fibroblasts) and kidneys, the gastrointestinal tract (per example in enterocytes of the small intestine) and arterial and venous endothelial cells (43,44). ACE2 protein expression can also be found in the nasal and oral mucosa, nasopharynx, skin, lymph nodes, bone marrow, brain, and liver. The fact that the lungs have a wide surface of alveolar epithelial cells might be related to their vulnerability to infection (41,45).

This protein is a negative regulator of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS), which is a key factor in blood pressure homeostasis and hydroelectrolyte balance, contributing for sodium reabsorption, and preventing the adverse effects of Angiotensin (Ang) II accumulation. Unlike its homologue ACE, that has a role in vasoconstriction and the rise of arterial blood pressure (BP), ACE2 leads to vasodilation and to the decrease of BP. This is achieved by the formation of an ACE2/Ang (1-7)/Mas receptor (MasR) axis in which Ang (1-7), a vasodilator, is mainly obtained through ACE2 (**Figure 2.5.1**). This enzyme convents angiotensin Ang I into Ang (1-9) (that will be further converted into Ang (1-7) by the action of ACE) and Ang II into (Ang 1-7). This leads to the production of Ang 1-7 that binds to the MasR, resulting in the above-mentioned axis (41).



Figure 2.5.1. One of ACE2 roles in homeostasis.

The former mentioned negative regulation provided by the ACE2/Ang (1-7)/MasR axis counteracts the effects of the ACE/Ang II/Ang II type 1 receptor (AT1R) axis, like the ones that occur in hypertension and some cardiovascular diseases. Ang (1-7) alone can act on the MasR to influence different mechanisms in organs like the heart, kidneys, and brain (46). When infection by the SARS-CoV-2 occurs, ACE2 is downregulated in the lung and the ACE/Ang II/AT1R system becomes dominant, causing the accumulation of Ang II the decrease of Ang (1-7) production (41,47). Liu et al (48) demonstrated this accumulation of Ang II in SARS-CoV-2 infected patients by comparing the plasma levels of Ang II from COVID-19 patients and healthy individuals. Interestingly, the levels of Ang II were strongly associated with the viral load and lung injury in infected patients.

In cases of baseline ACE2 deficiency, for example in the presence of comorbidities like diabetes, hypertension and kidney disease, the consequences of ACE2 downregulation induced by SARS-CoV-2 infection may be much worse (44,45). Also, with age, the expression of ACE2 in the lungs decreases markedly, predominantly in men. In these situations, the protective effects of Ang (1-7), listed on the **Table 2.5.1** would be diminished, which can lead to worse prognosis. Viable therapeutic approaches could involve the administration of soluble recombinant ACE2 and Ang (1-7) (46).

Organs	Role/ action	References
Lungs	Reduction of lung inflammation (decrease of total cell counts of eosinophils, lymphocytes, and neutrophils) Inhibition of leukocyte pro-inflammatory action by MasR activation on their surface Increase of anti-inflammatory cytokines Decrease of pro-inflammatory cytokines Attenuation of lung inflammation, airway remodeling and hyperresponsiveness in asthma cases Reduction of lung fibroblast migration and fibrosis Reduction of the expression of transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and collagen deposition Inhibition of alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis (event that causes lung fibrosis) Reduction of pulmonary arterial hypertension Potential use in therapies for acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)	(46,49)
Brain	Facilitation of the baroreflex Lowering/ increase of blood pressure Neuroprotection from brain ischemia or hemorrhage Attenuation of epileptic seizures	(46,50)
Heart	Myocardial protection Reduction of infarction area Antiarrhythmic (for example in ischemia-reperfusion arrythmias) Prevents heart disfunction, remodeling and hypertrophy Inhibition of oxidative stress	(46,51,52)
Blood Vessels	Vasodilatation Antihypertensive Anti-thrombogenic effects Antiproliferation of vascular smooth muscular cells	(46,51,52)

Table 2.5.1. Angiotensin (1-7) roles in physiology and disease.

Muscles	Anti-fibrotic effects Reduction of apoptosis and atrophy Reduction of insulin resistance Increase of glucose uptake	(46)
Liver	Decrease in hepatic vascular resistance Inhibition of intra-hepatic vasoconstriction Decrease of hepatic fibrosis Reduction in infiltration of inflammatory cells and cytokines in cases of disease Reduces insulin resistance	(46,51)
Kidneys	Antidiuretic or natriuretic effects Small increases in glomerular filtration rate Antifibrotic and antiproliferative action Vasodilator action (per example in the afferent arterioles through local nitric oxide release)	(46,51–54)

2.6. Host's immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and cytokine storm

After SARS-CoV-2 enters the host's cells, the immune system begins mediating inflammation and antiviral activity in order to diminish/ inhibit viral replication and dissemination (4,31). The innate/ nonspecific immunity (Figure 2.6.1, A) is the first line of defense against any infection. It involves the expression of pattern-recognition receptors (PPR's), such as Toll-like receptors (TLR's) and retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) - like receptors, by innate immune cells, that further recognize pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMP's) (55). PPR's can be localized in the cell surface or in the intracellular region, recognizing different types of PAMP's, including nucleic acids, lipoproteins, polysaccharides, and others. In the specific case of coronaviruses, recognition of viral RNA by endosomal receptors (like TLR3, 7 and 8) and cytosolic RNA sensors (like RIG-I) lead to the activation of various transcription factors that include interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3), nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer (NF-Kb) and activator protein 1 (AP-1) (55-57). Translocation into the nucleus occurs and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and INF's (especially type I and III) is induced. The immune response is further amplified by the activation of the Janus kinase signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, via signaling through INF receptors, with transcription of INF-stimulated genes (in infected and non-infected cells) and subsequently expression of antiviral proteins that inhibit viral infection and pro-inflammatory cytokines. (55,58-60).



Figure 2.6.1. Immune response against viral infections. A) Innate Immune System; B) Adaptative Immune System (with both cellular and humoral immune responses) (adapted from (59)).

For the adaptative immune response (Figure 2.6.1, B) to begin, antigen presenting cells like DC's and macrophages present the viral antigens (like the ones released by neutrophiles (NEU) after phagocytosis) to T cells. Eventually, cytotoxic T cells (TCD8+) will destroy infected cells like type II pneumocytes, and macrophages (cellular immune response) and helper T cells (TCD4+) will induce B cells into the secretion of pathogen-specific antibodies (60,61). So, in case of the humoral immune

response, neutralizing antibodies produced by B cells are very important in interrupting the virus life cycle and preventing re-infections (58,60).

SARS-CoV-2 induces an immune response failure (per example due to high viral loads, presence of certain risk factors or genetic susceptibility) which further leads to a cytokine storm. The pathological basis may be related to damage in type II pneumocytes and capillary endothelial cells with diffuse alveolar damage followed by a two phases immune dysregulation: immunosuppression and proinflammation state (cytokine storm) (62). The lack of type I and III IFN responses in early cases of SARS-CoV-2 infection makes it harder to restrict viral infection in early stages, contributing to the virus's pathogenicity. The increase of cytokines results in an influx of macrophages, NEU, and T cells from the circulation, with multiple destructive effects in various tissues. This dysregulation of the innate immune system leads to subsequent alterations in the acquired immune response allowing the perpetuation of the imbalanced immune response (59).

The increase of multiple proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines like the ones listed on **Table 2.6.1**, which levels are proportional to the severity of COVID-19 disease, is manifested clinically by the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), damage to extrapulmonary tissues and organs, multiple-organ failure, disseminated intravascular coagulation and potentially death (all these consequences will be further explored in the next sections) (60,62,63). Another characteristic of this virus is that it can induce cell damage and death by pyroptosis releasing markers like IL-1 β and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), already reported in patients with COVID-19 and considered indicators of severity (59,62,64–66).

Cytokines/ Chemokines	References
Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-a	(64,67–69)
Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 (MCP1) and 3 (MCP3)	(64,65,67,69,70)
Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGFs)	(64)
Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF)	(64,65,67)
Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF)	(64)
Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF)	(64)
Transforming Growth Factor (TGF)-β	(71)
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF)	(64)
Interferon-Gamma (IFNγ)	(64,68,71,72)
IFN-γ-induced protein 10 (IP-10)	(64,65,70)
Macrophage Inflammatory Protein 1 Alpha (MIP-1 α) and Beta (MIP-1 β)	(64,65)
Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1β)	(64,65)
Interleukin 1 Receptor Antagonist (IL-1RA)	(64,65,70,72)
Interleukin 2 Receptor (IL-2R)	(73)
IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-17	(64,65,67–75)

Table 2.6.1. Cytokines that are elevated during COVID-19 progression.

Regarding the adaptative immune response to SARS-CoV-2, there are different levels of antibody responses between different patients that typically appear in the first 2 weeks after symptom onset (59). Levels of specific IgA, IgM and IgG appear to be higher and appear sooner in patients whose clinical condition is worse. Low levels of TCD4+ and TCD8+ cells have also been reported as well as promotion of TH17 cells (70,71). The low levels of the referred cells may be related to T cell exhaustion in part caused by the inflammatory cytokines. TH17 cells are involved in the activation of monocytes (MON)/ macrophages, DC's, and NEUs and in the release of more cytokines, worsening the former mentioned cytokine storm. These mediators cause damage to epithelial cells and reach the blood stream, causing further damage in other organs (58,59,62). Elevated NEU counts have been reported several times, as well as decreased eosinophil (EO), natural killer and T and B cell counts (64,70,76–78).

2.7. Baseline characteristics of COVID-19 patients

2.7.1. Age and gender

Older age is a major predictor of clinical deterioration and mortality, so as an increasing number of comorbidities (79,80). Age may determine worse outcomes, just like in other viral infections, due to the gradual decreasing innate and adaptative immune responses effectivity (81). Gender also plays an important part in disease severity since COVID-19 has a higher death rate in males. Individuals on the age group from 0 to 40 years and females under 60 have significantly less probability to die. Males with 60 years or more have a much higher risk of developing a severe disease and death (82,83). In a certain way, this can be explained by the different influences that environmental mediators, genetic and hormonal factors (like for example estrogen downregulation of Ang II and upregulation of Ang (1-7) pathways) and immune system regulation have on females and males (84,85).

2.7.2. Main comorbidities

Many of COVID-19's comorbidities are characterized by alterations in ACE2 expression/ activity and imbalances in the RAS. Based on a meta-analysis that included 125,446 patients, the most prevalent comorbidities were hypertension (32%), obesity (25%), diabetes (18%) and cardiovascular disease (16%). Others like renal disease, cerebrovascular accidents and cardiovascular diseases were more strongly associated with COVID-19 severity and higher mortality (86). Chronic lung diseases, particularly chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and immunosuppression also predisposed patients to an unfavorable clinical outcome (70). In other reports, like one that involved 44,672 confirmed cases, chronic respiratory disease was one of the most common COVID-19 associated comorbidities (5).

2.7.3. Most common symptoms

Typically, clinical symptoms of infection by SARS-CoV-2 are reported approximately after 5,2 days of incubation (87). These mainly include fever, cough, fatigue, dyspnea, and sputum production (88). Other less common symptoms are migraines, hemoptysis, chest tightness, myalgia, shortness of breath and sore throat (32,88,89). Gastrointestinal symptoms like nausea and diarrhea with abdominal pain may also occur (64). These types of symptoms more often occur from the 7th to 14th days after the infection in conjunction with pulmonary ground-glass opacities and pneumonia.(1) In more severe cases patients tend to also develop pneumonia and respiratory failure due to ARDS, leading to their admission in ICU's (32). Acute cardiac injury and multi-organ failure are more common after de 16th day since the infection onset, in critical and deceased patients.(1)

2.7.4. Chest Computed Tomography

The diagnosis of COVID-19 is established by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), but computed tomography (CT) has a very important role in prognosis assessment, management guidance and identification of disease related complications (90). Besides, in early stages and when nucleic acid tests show negative results, chest CT may be useful to evaluate the disease in combination

with other laboratory tests. Main findings obtained by chest CT imaging in cases of infection by SARS-CoV-2 include ground-glass opacities and bilateral consolidation (alveolar-filling process that replaces air with other fluids like blood and pus) in the lower and more peripheral parts of the lungs (70,91,92). Cases have been reported where ground-glass opacities were diagnosed in the lower and peripheral parts of the lungs and with disease progression the density of these alterations increased, their range expanded to the center of the lungs, and in the end diffused throughout the totality of the organ (48).

2.8 - Multi-organ involvement and biomarkers

2.8.1. Respiratory system

The respiratory system in an initial reservoir for viral replication and possess several characteristics that facilitate the infection. ACE2 expression was recently detected in nasal epithelial cells, a very important implication in understanding SARS-CoV-2 transmissibility, considering that the virus can be transmitted through droplets (93). Besides, the lung has a large and highly vascularized surface area that facilitates dissemination of inhaled viruses through the respiratory system and other organs (94). Like former mentioned, ACE2 is present in some pulmonary cells, but the alveolar type II epithelial cells are the ones where it's more expressed compared to other lung and bronchial tissues (43,95). These cells produce surfactant, execute immunoregulatory functions and have self-renewal capacity. Being one of the first sites of SARS-CoV-2 entry and replication, the lung's type II pneumocytes (that eventually become hyperplasic), nearby cells and the alveolo-capillary membrane become damaged with time. This generates a continuous cycle of destruction and repair that further leads to diffuse alveolar damage followed by bilateral oedema, thickening of the alveolar septa (due to interstitial fibroblast proliferation and fibrosis) and infiltration of inflammatory cells. Mainly interstitial infiltration of mononuclear cells (lymphocytes, MON, macrophages) has been reported, but also some cases of multinucleated giant cells and neutrophilic granulocytes in the alveoli (81). This process is facilitated by the increased vascular permeability caused by the augmented Ang II production. The infiltration of immune cells leads to excessive release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, damaging the epithelial cells and reaching the blood circulation, causing damage to multiple organs (Figure 2.8.1.1) (96).

Like mentioned before, in COVID-19 the first symptoms are usually mild and from a respiratory nature (dry cough, shortness of breath, fever, chest pain, fatigue) although, in more severe cases, viral pneumonia and further complications like ARDS, cardiovascular pathologies and secondary infections can develop (96). There are no SARS-CoV-2 derived manifestations that allow a differentiation from other viral respiratory illness/ pneumonia.(97) ARDS (known for diffuse alveolar damage or epithelialcell hyperplasia) is the leading cause of mortality in COVID-19 cases and is defined as an acute and diffuse inflammatory lung injury that presents with hypoxemia and bilateral pulmonary opacities (followed by lung collapse) on lung imaging, associated with increased pulmonary vascular permeability, increased physiological dead space and decreased lung compliance (96,98). This complication requires respiratory support, that ranges from high flow oxygenation to noninvasive or invasive mechanical ventilation, and the admission to an intensive care unit (ICU). Oxygenation is also improved when patients are turned from a supine to a prone position which generates enough transpulmonary pressure to exceed airway opening pressure in dorsal regions of the lung. This way, more severely collapsed areas are expanded, thereby increasing ventilation-perfusion, and improving gas exchange (99). ARDS can be divided into 3 categories of severity based on the degree of hypoxemia/ inspired oxygen ratio (PaO_2/FiO_2) : mild (200 mmHg < $PaO_2/FiO_2 \le 300$ mmHg), moderate (100 mmHg < $PaO_2/FiO_2 \le 200$ mmHg) and severe ($PaO_2/FiO_2 \le 100 \text{ mmHg}$) (98,100). Hypoxemia itself is has a strong association with worse clinical outcomes and the PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio serves as an independent risk factor for predicting death in COVID-19 ICU patients (70,101). In cases of patients admitted to the ICU, complications like thrombosis and pulmonary embolism were found, despite the use of anticoagulation medication, leading the worsening of lung function and respiratory failure (94).



Figure 2.8.1.1. SARS-CoV-2 entry through the lungs, pathogenesis, and multiple organ damage. The lung's type II pneumocyte cells enter a continuous cycle of destruction and repair that further leads to diffuse alveolar damage, facilitated by the increased vascular permeability. This is followed by bilateral oedema, thickening of the alveolar and infiltration of inflammatory cells (like lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils). This process than leads to excessive release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, damaging the epithelial cells and reaching the blood circulation, causing damage to multiple organs (adapted from (96)).

2.8.2. Cardiovascular system

According to a study based on ACE2 expression in human tissues, the heart is one of the organs with the most prominent expression of this protein, especially in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells and/or pericytes (**Figure 2.8.2.1**) (95,102). In another research based on single cell RNA sequencing, more than 7.5% of myocardial cells had ACE2 expression (comparing to approximately 1% in type II pneumocytes and 2% in epithelial cells from the respiratory tract) which means SARS-CoV-2 can induce direct cardiotoxicity when entering cardiomyocytes (103). These can be some of the explanations for direct cardiac involvement in COVID-19 and the resulting cytokine storm and resulting hyperinflammation state with several consequences like, per example, myocardial disfunction. High expression of ACE2 in microvascular pericytes in capillaries all through the body may explain other clinical manifestations in the cardiovascular system, namely the high risk of thromboembolism and vascular disfunction (95).



Figure 2.8.2.1. Cardiovascular system's main cells and their localization. Expression of ACE2 mainly occurs in cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells and pericytes (adapted from (32)).

Focusing on the indirect damage in the cardiovascular system caused by SARS-CoV-2, some clinical manifestations (that may also result from direct damage) include myocardial ischemia and type 1 and 2 myocardial infarction (MI), myocarditis, arrythmias (new-onset atrial fibrillation and flutter, sinus tachycardia and bradycardia, prolongation of the QTc segment ...), cardiomyopathy, cardiogenic shock, and the former mentioned thromboembolic complications (104). These are driven mainly by the hyperinflammation state caused by the cytokine storm, which further leads to vascular inflammation, hypercoagulability, and other disturbances related to RAS counter regulation (105). Early research even mentioned that myocardial injury and other manifestations are more likely to be caused by this type of systemic changes rather than direct damage resulting from the viral infection (106).

Myocardial ischemia/ injury and myocarditis itself can also be considered as some of the leading causes of death in COVID-19 patients (106). According to the 2007 guideline issued by The National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry, a concentration of cardiac troponins superior to the 99th percentile of the values for a reference control group is indicative of myocardial injury due to possible MI (107). In a retrospective cohort study, more than half of the deceased patients had increased high-sensitivity cardiac troponin (hs-cTn) I during hospitalization, which was also associated with disease severity (108). It's not only important the study of the levels of cardiac troponins in a certain moment in time, but also their behavior during disease progression. Per example, there are several cases where levels of cardiac troponins from survivors remain stable while the one's from non-survivors, that were initially higher, continued to rise until death (106,108,109). Myocarditis is an inflammatory disease of the heart's muscle, leading to inflammatory infiltrates and injury to the myocardium without an ischemic etiology, opposed to what happens in MI's (110). The prevalence among COVID-19 patients is unclear, but some results indicate up to 12.5% of abnormalities similar to myocarditis (106). Others even argued that it may be responsible for approximately 7% of COVID-19 related deaths (111).

Cardiac arrythmias are also a very common cardiovascular manifestation, which high prevalence may be related to hypoxia (resulting from consequences of viral infection in the lung), electrolyte imbalance (resulting from COVID-19's interactions with the RAS, contributing to hypokalemia), inflammatory stress, metabolic disarray and may also be a result of other manifestations (like myocardial injury and myocarditis) (111,112). It's been reported that arrhythmias lead to the admission to ICUs of 44.4% of COVID-19 patients (113). This high percentages can be the result of overestimation since the majority of causes for arrhythmias are not reported and can be secondary to other clinical manifestations, or even related to patients' preexisting conditions (110).

COVID-19 related heart failure may be caused by pre-existing cardiac disfunction and/ or by newly developed myocarditis and cardiomyopathies. Per example, the right ventricle is very vulnerable to increases in pulmonary resistance. Since SARS-CoV-2 typically affects the lungs first, the functional reduction of residual gas volume can increase vascular resistance in the lungs and therefore increase pulmonary resistance. This causes a volume overload in the right ventricle, which can possibly lead to pulmonary hypertension and pulmonary hearth disease (112).

Dysfunction in the coagulation process has also been reported in COVID-19 cases, this can be evidenced per example by elevated levels of D-dimer (DD), fibrin degradation products and prothrombin time and by other manifestations in different coagulation indexes (**Table 2.8.2.1**) (94,111). DD was found to be associated with a fatal outcome in COVID-19 when levels are above 1ug/mL, showing increased coagulation activity. One study showed that DD and fibrin degradation products levels are also more prone to be elevated in COVID-19 non-survivors and that 71,4% of this population developed disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). This condition can be caused in part by the expression of tissue factor and secretion of von Willebrand factor (promotors of prothrombin and thrombin and platelet (PLT) aggregation, respectively) due to cytokine release and it's related to sepsis (113–115). DIC aggravates multiorgan damage and is related to thrombosis, not only of large vessels, but also epicardial

vessels and the ones belonging to the microcirculation (being one of the causes of thrombosis of coronary arteries) (105). Venous thromboembolism is also a problem mainly since infected patients may enter a state of prolonged immobilization besides already being in risk of vascular inflammation and coagulation disfunction (111). Plaque rupture, induction of coagulation factors and PLT aggregation through local inflammation and hemodynamic changes can also lead to ischemia and thrombosis, especially in cases of history of atherosclerosis (108). Pulmonary embolism, usually diagnosed a few days after ICU admission, is also a frequent result of endothelial inflammation combined with severe hypoxemia. Hypoxemia itself may lead to vasoconstriction and reduction of blood supply to pulmonary capillaries, promoting their occlusion (114).

Categories	Increased Biomarkers	Decreased Biomarkers	References
Coagulation Indexes	D-Dimer (DD) Fibrinogen (FIB) Prothrombin Time (PT)/ International normalized ratio (INR) Partial Thromboplastin Time Fibrin Degradation Product (FDP)	Antithrombin Prothrombin Time Activity (PT- act)	(64,70,77,114–116)

Table 2.8.2.1. Biomarkers	s for Coagulation	n Dysregulation	in COVID-19
---------------------------	-------------------	-----------------	-------------

The exact mechanism of coagulopathy is unknown but recent studies suggest a strong relationship with RAS axis dysregulation. This dysregulation may be caused by the effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection that facilitates the loss of ACE2 expression leading to accumulation of Ang II, and through this increasing the risk of thrombosis and endothelial dysfunction and decrease in Ang (1-7) levels and thereby its vasodilatory, anti-inflammatory, cardioprotective action and other effects that may play a role in the attenuation of COVID-19's clinical manifestations (32).

Considering all the mentioned clinical manifestations resulting from cardiovascular disfunction due to SARS-CoV-2 infection, monitoring cardiac function and standard biomarkers, like cardiac troponins and coagulation indexes, is recommended and crucial in severe cases of COVID-19 (94).

2.8.3. Gastrointestinal tract

The pathophysiology of gastrointestinal tract involvement is more likely multifactorial. Virus direct tissue damage through ACE2 entry is plausible due to the presence of these receptors in stomach epithelial cells, in enterocytes from the small intestine (including the duodenum, jejunum and ileum) and rectal epithelia. Higher levels of ACE2 expression were detected in the small intestine and duodenum and the lowest in the stomach and large intestine (32,95,117). ACE2 levels are higher in differentiated enterocytes when compared with the immature ones (118). TMPRSS2 levels are also highly expressed in the gastrointestinal tract (119).

According to a multicenter cohort study involving 318 confirmed COVID-19 patients, approximately 61% of them reported at least one gastrointestinal symptom, with 20,3% of the patients reporting it as their predominant complaint and 14,2% as the initial presenting symptom. The most reported manifestations were loss of appetite, diarrhea, and nausea. Among these patients, symptoms like fatigue, myalgia and sore throat, loss of smell or taste were reported in higher rates, when compared with patients with no gastrointestinal manifestations (120). Other studies also reported cases of abdominal pain, anorexia and rare situations that involved mesenteric ischemia, gastrointestinal vasculitis, and gastrointestinal bleeding (104,121).

Reports of histological analysis of COVID-19 patients demonstrated some of the consequences of SARS-CoV-2 cell entry, which included infiltrating plasma cells and lymphocytes (LYM) in the esophagus, stomach, duodenum, and rectum, with interstitial edema (117). A case also resulted in preeminent endothelial inflammation of submucosal vessels from the small intestine and accumulation of apoptotic bodies, together with evidence of mesenteric ischemia suggesting small-bowel injury (122). These manifestations may explain some of the former mentioned symptoms and, even though they haven't been associated with a higher risk of mortality, they seem to correlate with longer periods of illness (94).

2.8.4. Renal involvement

ACE2 expression in the kidneys is very high, allowing direct damage by SARS-CoV-2 infection, especially in the renal tubular epithelium and podocytes (81,95,123). Indirect damage also occurs due to imbalance of the RAS, cytokine storm (which causes the release of G-CSF, interleukins and IFN causing direct or indirect injury to the kidneys) and other immune responses, hypoxemia, coagulation disfunction and consequences of damage in other organs (124).

Histopathological findings from a postmortem analysis of 26 COVID-19 patients reported a range of abnormalities. Substantial endothelial damage was observed, which may induce acute kidney injury (AKI), lead to proteinuria and elevated serum creatinine levels(81). AKI, which was significant in these cases, is the abrupt loss of kidney function that affects 0,9% to 37% of the patients, depending on centers and countries, it occurs approximately 7 to 14 days after admission. Acute and diffuse proximal tubular injury, obstruction of peritubular and glomerular capillary loops by aggregates of erythrocytes, microvascular disfunction secondary to endothelial damage and other findings related to SARS-CoV-2 invasion of kidney tissue were also observed (104,125). Other reports show an elevated incidence of podocytopathies, kidney diseases that involve injury to podocytes (highly specialized cells in the glomerulus) including glomerulonephritis, leading to proteinuria or nephrotic syndrome (121,126). Some types of glomerulonephritis have been reported in COVID-19 patients that have poor prognosis and require dialysis in more than half of the cases (121).

Besides proteinuria, hematuria is also associated with worse clinical outcomes and higher mortality in COVID-19 patients with renal dysfunction (104). Other relevant parameters were serum creatinine (SCr), typically elevated in severe cases of COVID-19, and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) (127). One study demonstrated that a low estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (indicating renal insufficiency) on admission and development of AKI during hospitalization are independent risk factors for poor clinical outcomes (74). In general, and according to a cohort study, reports indicate that hematuria, proteinuria, elevated SCr, elevated BUN and decreased eGFR are independent risk factors for disease progression (128).

This said, obtaining urine analysis of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients may be useful for risk stratification (104). It may also be important to consider risk factors for AKI like older age, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, black race, ventilation, and hypertension. In a study that involved 5,449 COVID-19 patients, 89,7% of those that were on mechanical ventilation developed AKI. 52,2% of this group required renal replacement therapy (129). So, special attention is required for patients that are in need for mechanical ventilation.

2.8.5. Liver involvement

Liver ACE2 expression was reported to be just above cutoff (95). On the other hand, studies have reported a much higher expression of ACE2 in cholangiocytes (epithelial cells of the bile duct), leading to the conclusion that direct liver injury due to virus infection may not be a result of hepatocyte damage, but cholangiocyte dysfunction (32,95,123,130). Bile duct cells are related to initiation and regulation of immune responses and liver regeneration, thus the disruption of these functions can lead to hepatobiliary damage (131).

Despite the former mentioned facts, the mechanisms of direct injury by SARS-CoV-2 infection are still unclear. Histological findings such as mild lobular LYM infiltrations, centrilobular sinusoidal dilation and patchy necrosis on liver sections have been reported (132). In another study, biopsy samples of liver tissue from a COVID-19 patient have indicated moderate microvesicular steatosis and mild lobular and portal inflammation (133). These findings may in fact be related to direct injury caused by SARS-CoV-2 infection or to drug-induced liver damage (DILI), caused by the high doses of antiviral medications, antibiotics or steroids, cytokine storm or even underlying diseases (**Figure 2.8.5.1**) (81,132,133).



Figure 2.8.5.1. Possible causes of hepatic injury. 1) SARS-CoV-2 direct liver damage through cholangiocyte entry. 2) Immune-mediated process of liver injury through cytokine storm. 3) Drug-induced liver injury related to medication for COVID-19 management (adapted from (130)).

Besides histopathological findings and other aspects related to liver injury (such as older age and pre-existing liver disease), biochemical biomarkers are another tool that needs to be considered when searching for indicators of liver involvement in COVID-19 cases (130). According to a systematic review and meta-analysis of 20 retrospective studies regarding the association between liver injury and severe COVID-19, higher levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), total bilirubin and lower levels of albumin are associated to COVID-19 disease severity (**Table 2.8.5.1**) (131). Gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) values can be found in some COVID-19 related studies. These are cholestatic markers, meaning that GGT elevations, like the ones detected in a recent review that reported unpublished data (with GGT elevations in 30 of the 56 cases), are related to cholangiocyte injury (131,134). Although less frequently, elevated alkaline phosphatase (ALP) levels were also found in COVID-19 patients, and sometimes related to disease severity.(135,136) Regardless, in a systematic review and meta-analysis, the impact of SARS-Cov-2 infection in most liver enzymes (like AST, ALT, ALP, and others) was not significant at initial presentation. This points to the need of more studies with larger sample sizes and control groups (137).

Table 2.8.5.1	. Biomarkers	for Liver	Injury ir	n COVID-19
---------------	--------------	-----------	-----------	------------

Categories	Increased Biomarkers	Decreased Biomarkers	References
Liver-Related Biochemical Biomarkers	Aspartate Aminotransferase (AST) Alanine Aminotransferase (ALT) Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Gamma-glutamyl Transferase (GGT) Total Bilirubin	Albumin	(48,64,70,77,78,116,130,135,136,138)

2.8.6. Pancreas

ACE2 is expressed in both the exocrine and endocrine pancreas. Studies have determined low levels of ACE2 expression the interlobar ducts and endothelial cells/ pericytes (exocrine pancreas) (95). Other reports indicated that the levels of expression on these cells are positively higher when compared to the one's from the endocrine tissue (beta cells from Langerhans islets) (139). This way, SARS-CoV-2 can cause direct pancreatic injury by affecting beta cells and indirectly by targeting duct cells and endothelial cells/ pericytes (**Figure 2.8.6.1**), contributing to insulin deficiency and hyperglycemia (even in patients without preexisting diabetes), as it occurred in previous cases of SARS-CoV infection (32,104,140,141). Systemic effects may also be related to pancreatic damage since the global state of inflammation and the accumulation of prodiabetic metabolites can ultimately damage beta cells (141).



Figure 2.8.6.1. Possible causes of pancreatic injury include SARS-CoV-2 direct liver damage through beta cell entry or indirect damage by pericyte, endothelial and ductal cell targeting. Indirect damage leads to cell structural and functional transformation, causing local inflammation with cytokine and chemokine release, possibly contributing for beta cell involvement (adapted from (141)).

Although it's unclear whether or how SARS-CoV-2 infection results in injuries in the endocrine pancreas, besides direct perturbation of beta cell function, immune-mediated factors that facilitate insulin resistance and beta cell hyperstimulation (and eventually their dysfunction) are some of the factors involved in pancreatic injury (142–144). A cohort that involved 551 patients with COVID-19 reported altered glucometabolic control, with insulin resistance and abnormal cytokine profiles. Data also indicated that metabolic abnormalities persisted at least 2 months after patients had recovered from COVID-19. Finally, it was concluded that SARS-CoV-2 induces insulin resistance and disrupts beta cell function, which can lead to hyperglycemia (143). The destruction of beta cells may also trigger new-

onset/ acute diabetes.(144) Diabetes is a major risk factor for COVID-19 hospitalization and/or admission to the ICU and severe illness. In a retrospective cohort involving 1158 patients with COVID-19, 23,4% had diabetes and 27,1% pre-diabetes (141). Another cohort study with 28,095 COVID-19 patients also reached the conclusion that diabetes increased hospitalization and critical care risks for these patients (145).

As a result of exocrine pancreas damage, acute pancreatitis may occur in 32,5% of critically ill patients (more frequently in women). Symptoms include severe acute upper abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting and results in pancreatic enlargement and elevated pancreatic enzymes (amylase or lipase) in 7,5-17% of patients (121,142). Elevation of these pancreatic enzymes is related to a poor prognosis in COVID-19 patients, especially in the critically ill (121,142,146). Although, the elevation of these markers can also be related to kidney injury, degradation of the oxygenation (cases linked to mechanical ventilation and shock), other infections...(146). Hyperlipasemia was found in 11,7% of the patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 included in a systematic review and it was determined that these patients had a 3-fold higher risk of a poor clinical outcome including need for ICU admission and mechanical ventilation, and a bigger risk of death (147).

2.8.7. Neurological involvement

SARS-CoV-2 related neurological manifestations are diverse. Cases of encephalopathy, encephalitis, and cerebrovascular pathologies due to neuroinvasion or neurotropic damage have been reported, just like other manifestations related to neuroinflammatory damage (per example cases of Guillian-Barré syndrome and other inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathies) (121). Despite all these manifestations, brain tissue showed a consistent lack of ACE2 expression in different studies (95). Possible routes of virus entry into the nervous system include the olfactory epithelium (that contains neuronal and nonneuronal cells that express both ACE2 and TMPRSS2 that eventually undergo apoptosis, causing anosmia), carriage across the blood-brain barrier and through infected leukocytes (104,148,149). The virus may also infect the peripheral (PNS) and central (CNS) nervous systems by direct infection of nerve endings in tissues and through axonal routes that reach the CNS, respectively (149). Entry through the olfactory bulb is a way to invade various parts of the brain, including the brainstem. Since this structure is responsible for respiratory regulation by, per example, detecting fluctuations in oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations, allowing the modulation of the respiratory rate it's partially involved in the mechanisms of respiratory failure. The invasion of the brainstem may also cause dysfunction of the cardiac center, that regulates the heart rate, leading to cardiac manifestations or worsening of the preexisting ones (150).

Different factors are responsible for the mentioned clinical manifestations, being cytokine storm one of them. The purpose of this immune response is to fight the viral infection in the nervous system, but the fact that its exaggerated and dysregulated can lead to the development of meningitis, encephalitis, meningoencephalitis, death, and other types of damage to de central and even peripherical nervous system (149). Other factors include the direct effects of the virus in the nervous system and neurological complications that result from the systemic effects of COVID-19 (per example vascular effects that can result in ischemic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, transient ischemic attack...) (148). A report of a histopathologic examination of a patient infected with SARS-CoV showed neuron denaturation and necrosis, encephalic edema and broad gliocyte hyperplasia. Immunohistochemical staining also demonstrated that infection by this type of viruses results in elevated expression of cytokines in the brain and infiltration of MON, macrophages, and T cells (151).

Symptoms resulting from the mentioned effects of SARS-CoV-2 in the nervous system include headache, confusion, dizziness, anosmia, ageusia, myalgias, fatigue and visual impairment (94,104). In a European multicenter study approximately 86% and 88% of the 417 COVID-19 patients that were involved reported olfactory and gustatory dysfunction, respectively (152). Another study regarding the neurologic manifestations of patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China, of the 214 patients, 36,4% had neurologic manifestations (24,8% related to the CNS and 8,9% to the PNS). Patients in more severe conditions had significantly more nervous system-related manifestations, including acute cerebrovascular disease, ischemic stroke, cerebral hemorrhage, impaired consciousness, and skeletal muscle injury. Other symptoms included dizziness, headache, ataxia, seizures, nerve pain and taste, smell, and vision impairment (153).

Chapter 3 – Methodology

3.1. Study population and data assembly

Patients hospitalized to the ICU of *Centro Hospitalar Universitário Lisboa Central* between March 2020 and March 2021 and diagnosed with COVID-19, after a positive result on a reverse-transcriptase-polymerase-chain-reaction (RT-PCR) assay, were included in the study population. The present study is inserted in the project Predictive Models of COVID-19 Outcomes for Higher Risk Patients Towards a Precision Medicine (PREMO), approved by the former mentioned institution's ethics board and is under all legal and ethics considerations.

A large database including demographic data, information on symptom onset, RT-PCR diagnosis, dates of hospital/ ICU admission and discharge and implementation of certain therapies (defined as "Patient data") was built in the platform Microsoft Excel. All this information was gathered from the hospital's electronic medical record system. Results of blood gas analysis, hemograms, ionograms, urine tests and other daily laboratorial analysis were also extracted to individual Microsoft Excel files, for each patient, that were further condensed into another database (named "Laboratory Results").

In the development of this master thesis, only patients over 18 years of age and with sufficient information regarding the study variables were included. Patients without hospital discharge, ICU admission and discharge dates (due to lack of data or because the individuals were still admitted) were excluded, as well as without either symptom onset or RT-PCR COVID-19 diagnosis dates. In groups of patients that required invasive mechanic ventilation (IMV) and/or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), those without dates of beginning and/or end of the referred techniques were also excluded. From the remaining patients, those who had information regarding their laboratory results were included in the present study, leading to a sample of 337 patients.

3.2. Clinical and demographic data

Age and body mass index (BMI) were calculated with the data collected at hospital admission (date of birth, weight, and height) and the following age groups were considered: 30 years or younger; 30 through 39 years; 40 through 49 years; 50 through 59 years; 60 through 69 years; 70 through 79 years and 80 years or older. BMI was calculated based on the *Quelet* Index, which is obtained when the body weight (kilograms) is divided by the squared height (meters) of an individual (154,155). With this information the patients were also categorized according to their BMI, in order to evaluate their degree of obesity: less or equal to 29,9 Kg/m² (normal BMI); 30 through 34,9 Kg/m² (Class I Obesity); 35 through 39,9 Kg/m² (Class II Obesity); and equal to or greater than 40 Kg/m² (Class III Obesity) (154,155). Obese and non-obese sub-groups were also used as study variables.

The number and type of comorbidities from each patient, previously assessed by health professionals, were collected from medical records. The resulting lists of comorbidities were then analyzed and separated into individual nominal variables for future statistical analysis. Some individual comorbidities were grouped (**Table 3.2.1**) due to the original low frequencies, with the validation of health professionals.

Comorbidity Group (nominal variables)	Individual Comorbidity
Rheumatic Diseases	Arthritis Rheumatic Disease Systemic Sclerosis/ Scleroderma
Pulmonary Vascular Disease	Pulmonary Embolism Pulmonary Hypertension
Cardiovascular Disease	Aortic Dissection Aortic Stenosis Congestive Heart Failure Takotsubo Cardiomyopathy Unspecified Congenital Heart Disease
Heart Arrythmias	Atrioventricular Block Atrial Fibrillation Bradyarrhythmia
History of Organ Transplantation	Heart Transplant Lung Transplant Liver Transplant Renal Transplant
Hematologic Cancer	Leukemia Chronic Lymphatic Leukemia Multiple Myeloma Hodgkin Lymphoma
Tissue and/or Organ Cancer	Myeloproliferative Syndrome Carcinoma Bladder Cancer Colon Cancer Breast Cancer Thyroid Cancer Prostate Cancer Prostate Adenocarcinoma Lung Cancer
Nervous System Disease	Epilepsy Myasthenia Gravis Multiple Sclerosis Parkinson Disease

Table 3.2.1. Grouping of individual comorbidities

Patients were also grouped according to the number of comorbidities, so an ordinal variable with the following categories was created: 0 comorbidities; 1 to 2 comorbidities; 3 to 4 comorbidities; 5 or more comorbidities.

Due to the existence of groups with low frequencies, variables like "Admission Motive" had some categories condensed. Thus, the category "Central Nervous System Disorders" includes coma, convulsions, and focal neurological deficits.

COVID-19 waves were established according to the hospital's directives. The first wave was considered from March 10 to August 22, 2020, the second wave from August 23 to December 19, 2020, and the third wave from December 20, 2020 to June 5, 2021. Patients were distributed among the different COVID-19 waves according to the date of RT-PCR diagnosis or of symptom onset, whichever was earlier. This criterion, regarding these two dates, was applied throughout the study.

Respiratory support included IMV, ECMO and high flow oxygen (HFO). For IMV and ECMO, days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and IMV onset, between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and ECMO onset, between ICU admission and IMV onset, and the number of days with IMV/ECMO were calculated.

For the variables "Days in the ICU", "Days in the Hospital" and "Days between ICU and Hospital Discharge", dates of ICU/hospital discharge, for patients who died, coincided with the date of death. A nominal variable for patients deceased in the ICU was generated, namely "Deaths in the ICU", and another one for the final outcome, with the categories "Hospital Discharge" and "Total Deaths".

3.3. Laboratory data

As formerly mentioned, results of blood gas analysis, hemograms, ionograms, urine tests and other daily laboratorial analysis were extracted to individual Microsoft Excel files, for each patient, and then condensed into the database "Laboratory Results". Contrary to the clinical and demographic data, in this case the results from all variables were longitudinal. As a result, each variable was measured multiple times for each individual, allowing the detection of changes along the time they were admitted to the hospital. As an example, a patient could be admitted to the ICU for 42 days, but have a total of 1002 results during the entire stay, or be admitted for 2 days and have a total of 100 measurements. Thus, everything depended on the length of time patients were admitted to the ICU, the severity of their illness, and the necessity for more clinical analysis to fully understand a patient's situation.

Through pre-processing techniques, the formerly mentioned database was merged with the one with the patients' clinical and demographic information, into a single longitudinal database with approximately 1000 variables (it's important to mention that these included the date and time of each patients' sample analysis). Since this part of the study aimed to analyze the laboratory results of patients that were admitted to the ICU, all the others were excluded from this database (thus it was renamed "ICU Laboratory Data"). Subsequently, a sample of 335 patients was obtained and variables of interest were selected.

All variables related to hemograms/blood tests (**Table 3.3.1**), blood gas analysis (**Table 3.3.2**), and urinalysis (**Table 3.3.3**), were analyzed and, with clinical guidance, only the ones of interest were kept. The remaining ones were saved for future work. Maximum and minimum values of the selected variables were determined, depending on the goal of the analysis, in order to obtain a single measure per patient, per day. Since some continuous variables had doctor's notes and symbols as components, individual corrections were made, and these errors were considered "missing values".

Table 3.3.1. Selected variables of inte	erest obtained from	hemograms/blood tests and their daily value	of interest
Parameter	value of interest	Parameter	value of interest
Activated Partial Thromboplastin Time (aPTT) Ratio	Maximum	LDH (U/L)	Maximum
Albumin (g/L)	Minimum	LDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	Maximum
ALP (U/L)	Maximum	Lipase (U/L)	Maximum
ALT (U/L)	Maximum	LYM (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Minimum
Ammonia (µg/dL)	Maximum	Macrocytic PLTs (%)	Minimum
AST (U/L)	Maximum	Magnesium (mEq/L)	Maximum
Atypical LYM	Minimum	Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) (pg)	Minimum
Basophiles (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Maximum	Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin Concentration (MCHC) (x 10g/L)	Minimum
Blood Urea (mg/dL)	Maximum	Mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (fL)	Minimum
Calcium (mEq/L)	Minimum	Mean platelet volume (MPV) (fL)	Minimum
Chlorine (mEq/L)	Maximum	MONs (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Maximum and minimum
Cholinesterase (U/L)	Maximum	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	Maximum
C-Reactive Protein (CRP) (mg/L)	Maximum	Natriuretic Peptide Testes (NT-proBNP) (pg/mL)	Maximum
Creatine kinase (CK) (U/L)	Maximum	NEUs (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Maximum and minimum
Creatinine (mg/dL)	Maximum	Pancreatic amylase (U/L)	Maximum
Cystatin C (mg/L)	Maximum	Plaquetocrit (%)	Minimum
DDs (µg/L)	Maximum	Platelet Distribution Width (PDW) (%)	Minimum
EOs (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Maximum	PLTs (x 10^9/L) / (%)	Minimum
Erythroblasts	Maximum	Potassium (mEq/L)	Maximum
Erythrocytes	Minimum	Procalcitonin (PCT) (ng/mL)	Maximum
Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate (eGFR) (mL/min./1.73 m2)	Minimum	Red Cell Distribution Width (RDW) (%)	Maximum and minimum
Factor V	Minimum	Red Cell Distribution Width (RDW-SD) (fL)	Maximum and minimum
Ferritin (FER) (ng/mL)	Maximum	Sedimentation rate (mm/hr)	Maximum
FIB (g/L)	Minimum	Serum Folic Acid (ng/mL)	Minimum
GGT (U/L)	Maximum	Sodium (mEq/L)	Maximum and minimum
Glucose (mg/dL)	Maximum and minimum	Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (mIU/L)	Maximum and minimum
HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	Maximum	Total Bilirubin (mg/dL)	Maximum
Hematocrit (HCT)	Minimum	Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	Maximum
Hemoglobin	Minimum	Total proteins (g/L)	Minimum
High-sensitivity cardiac troponin (hs- cTn) I (pg/mL)	Maximum	Triglycerides (mg/dL)	Maximum
Homocysteine (µmol/L)	Maximum	Uncorrected White Blood Cell count (uWBC)	Maximum and minimum
Immature Granulocytes	Maximum and minimum	Uric acid (mg/dL)	Maximum
Interleucin-6 (IL-6) (pg/mL)	Maximum	Vitamin B12 (pg/mL)	Minimum
INR	Maximum	Vitamin D25 (ng/mL)	Minimum
Iron (mEq/L)	Minimum	WBC's (x 10^9/L)	Maximum and minimum

Table 3.3.2. Selected variables of interest from blood gas analysis and their daily value of interest

Parameter	Value of interest	Parameter	Value of interest
Acid-base balance (pH)	Maximum and minimum	Deoxyhemoglobin (HHb)	Maximum
Arterial oxygen saturation (So2)	Minimum	Lactate (Lac)	Maximum
Base excess/deficit (BE (ecf))	Minimum	Oxyhemoglobin (O2Hb)	Minimum
Bicarbonate (HCO3 ⁻ (act))	Minimum	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide (Pco2)	Maximum and minimum
Calcium (Ca++)	Minimum	Partial pressure of oxygen (Po2)	Minimum

Table 3.3.3. Selected variables of interest from urinalysis and their daily value of interest

Parameter	Value of interest	Parameter	Value of interest
Bilirubin (mg/dL)	Positive	Proteins (mg/dL)	Positive
Erythrocytes (/µL)	Maximum	Urobilinogen (mg/dL)	Positive

3.4. Statistical analysis

Initially, an exploratory analysis of all the variables recorded was carried out, according to its typology and the type of data: transversal or longitudinal data.

Categorical variables were represented by their absolute frequencies and percentages. Continuous variables were represented by their medians and interquartile range (25th percentile-75th percentile), since they were presented with an asymmetric distribution and deviations from normality. To assess the normality of the continuous variable's, Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests were used, as appropriate. Additionally, given the objectives and according to clinical criteria, some variables were categorized, and others were recoded.

Concerning qualitative variables, to make comparisons between two independent groups, specifically, to compare patients who were discharged from the hospital and the ones who died, as well, between patients who required IMV and the ones who didn't, non-parametric chi-square (χ^2) or fisher's exact test (if the applicability conditions of the first test were not verified) were used. For ordinal and continuous variables, in general, Mann-Whitney U test was applied, given the normality wasn't verified. For comparisons between three or more independent groups, for example, in the case where it is intended to compare the data referring to the three COVID-19 waves, or to comparisons between age groups data, Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA test was applied (with significance values adjusted by the Bonferroni correction, for pairwise comparisons). For comparisons between two related samples, Wilcoxon matched pair signed rank test was used for continuous variables.

The symbology used to represent each statistical test can be found in Table 3.4.1.

Test	Symbol
Chi-square	•
Fisher's exact test	•
Mann-Whitney U	*
Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA	†

Table 3.4.1. Symbology used to represent statistical tests

In terms of laboratory results, longitudinal data refers to information collected throughout patients ICU stay. To infer about the evolution of the patients' condition in the first week of ICU admission, a comparative analysis was carried out between the data from the 2^{nd} and the 7th days. Comparisons of laboratory parameters between discharged and deceased patients, at these time points were performed. When relevant, Pearson's correlation coefficient (*r*) was used to study linear associations between quantitative variables.

To visualize data pattern over time, panel data line plots were used, being the panel the patient. To visualize the relationship between the covariates and time, median band lines plots were used. It provides a convenient but crude way to show the tendency in the relationship between time and each one of the main biomarkers of interest in ICU context. Median band lines for all biomarkers were obtained by dividing the x axis into equal-width intervals (bands obtained by a specific mathematical formula) and then calculating the median of the x and y axis for each interval. Then a line plot is created with the crossed medians.

Due to the decreasing number of patients since the 7th day of ICU admission, the median line charts were redone to represent those days only, ending in the 10th day for representative reasons only.

Regarding the entire period of ICU stay, graphical evolution of all patients' results was accessed, for the global sample, by each COVID-19 wave, and considering the groups defined by the outcomes of interest. Considering the total longitudinal data corresponding to the UCI stay, the associations between the several biomarkers and death were tested by means of Univariate Generalized Estimating Equations models (GEEs), family binomial and logit link function, with robust standard errors and an exchangeable working correlation structure (156,157).

Additionally, to analyze the impact of some biomarkers in mortality, crude odds ratios were estimated and interpreted, with the corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

To study the death outcome, death event-free survival rates were obtained using the Kaplan-Meier estimator. To compare the survival curves, obtained considering by stratifying the data according to the cut-off point that separates the normal and non-normal reference values of a biomarker, the Log Rank (Mantel-Cox), Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon) and Tarone-Ware test, were used, as appropriate.

Descriptive and inferential statistics were obtained by SPSS software (version 26.0), and so were the population pyramids. All remaining graphical representations and the GEE models results were obtained using STATA software (version 12.0).

Chapter 4 – Results and discussion

4.1. Clinical and demographic characteristics

4.1.1. All patients and comparisons relative to their outcomes

Clinical characteristics and demographics of all the enrolled patients were detailed on **Table 4.1.1.1.** In total, from March 2020 to March 2021, 337 patients with COVID-19 were admitted to the hospital's ICU. Their median age was 64 (P_{25} = 53; P_{75} =73), ranging from 19 to 92 years old. More than half of the patients were aged 60 years and older, since 27% of them had ages between 60 and 69 years old, and 23% between 70 and 79 years old. Only 3% of the patients were under 30 years old. Concerning gender, 227 (67,4%) patients were male and 110 (32,6%) were female. BMI was calculated for 85,8% of the population, due to missing values in the variable "Weight", resulting in a BMI median of 27,7 (P_{25} = 24,7; P_{75} =31,1), Kg/m². Most of the patients (71,3%) had a BMI of 29,9 Kg/m² or lower, resulting in 28,7% of them being considered obese.

Approximately 85% of the patients had at least one comorbidity, being that the majority belonged to the group of 1 to 2 comorbidities (53,6%). The most prevalent comorbidities were arterial hypertension (57%), diabetes mellitus (37,1%), obesity (28,7%) and dyslipidemia (26,1%), which correspond to the most common comorbidities reported in the Portuguese population (158). Respiratory diseases like asthma (3,3%), COPD (5%), obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) (3,3%) and pulmonary emphysema (1,2%), were less frequent. Regarding vascular disease, myocardial ischemia was the most common (6,8%). Stroke (3%), pulmonary vascular disease (0,9%) and other types of cardiovascular diseases (1,2%) weren't as common. History of heart arrhythmias was detected in 5,3% of the patients. Tissue and organ cancer (5,9%) were more common than hematologic cancers (1,5%). Only 6,2% of the patients had history of chronic renal disease. Other comorbidities were less frequent, involving less than 5% of the patients.

At admission, most of the patients belonged to the third (41,2%) and second (40,4%) COVID-19 waves. This can be transposed to the general situation of the country in the different waves (**Figure 4.1.1.1**). As of May 2021, the Alpha variant (B.1.1.7) was still dominant in the country. Until June 9, 2021, 118 cases of the Beta (B.1.351), 145 of the Gamma (P.1) and 101 of the Delta (B.1.617) variants were reported. It was expected that the cases caused by the variant Alpha would decrease due to the increase of the Delta variant in other countries (159).

Almost all patients were admitted for medical causes (95,3%), being the main admission motive "COVID-19 induced ARDS" (81%). Other motives included "Acute Respiratory Failure or ARDS" (5%), "Monitoring" (3,3%), "Central Nervous System Disorders" (2,4%) and "Septic Shock or Sepsis" (2,1%). This can be related to the fact that the hospital's ICU, at a certain time, was only meant for COVID-19 patients. The most frequent method of respiratory support was IMV (75,4%), followed by HFO (31,2%) and ECMO (11%). The median of days patients spent with IMV, 8 (P_{25} = 4; P_{75} =14) days, was lower than the median of days they spent with ECMO, 9 (P_{25} = 4; P_{75} =22) days. However, the maximum time a patient spent on IMV was 58 days and on ECMO 42 days. The median number of days between

symptom onset/ a confirmed RT-PCR diagnosis, and IMV onset was of 9 ($P_{25}=5$; $P_{75}=12$) days, and for ECMO onset 13 ($P_{25}=9,5$; $P_{75}=17$) days.



Figure 4.1.1. Number of laboratory tests for detection of SARS-CoV-2 (area in red) and percentage of positive results (red line) per week in Portugal. The defined threshold (4%) is according to European directives. Indication for COVID-19 waves added according to *Centro Hospitalar Universitário Lisboa Central* (adapted from (159)).

Periods of time between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and hospital or ICU admission, days between hospital and ICU admission, days spent in the hospital or in the ICU and total of days between ICU and hospital discharge are displayed on **Figure 4.1.1.2**. It's important to mention that 21 of all patients only began having symptoms or had a RT-PCR confirmed diagnosis after being admitted to the hospital. Data from these patients wasn't considered when calculating the median number of days between symptom onset or RT-PCR diagnosis and hospital admission. Also, data from patients whose ICU admission dates were earlier than those of hospital admission weren't considered when calculating the number of days between hospital and ICU admission.



Figure 4.1.1.2. COVID-19 patients' timeline since symptom onset or confirmed diagnosis by RT-PCR (whichever was earlier) until hospital discharge.

Table 4.1.1.1. Demographic data from all patients and comparisons between hospital discharged and deceased patients

Variables	Total Missing's n (%) / N	All Patients (N=337)	Discharged from hospital (n=197)	Deceased (n=140)	P Value
Age					
Age, years	-	64,0 (53,0-73,0)	58,0 (49,0-68,0)	71,0 (63,0-78,0)	<0,001*
Age groups					
<30 years	-	10 (3,0)	8 (4,1)	2 (1,4)	
30-39 years	-	16 (4,7)	14 (7,1)	2 (1,4)	
40-49 years	-	34 (10,19	30 (15,2)	4 (2,9)	0.004*
50-59 years	-	72 (21,4)	55 (27,9)	17 (12,1)	<0,001*
60-69 years	-	91 (27,0)	50 (25,4)	41 (29,3)	
70-79 years	-	78 (23,1)	30 (15,2)	48 (34,3)	
≥80 years	-	36 (10,7)	10 (5,1)	26 (18,6)	
Gender					
Female	-	110 (32,6)	61 (31,0)	49 (35,0)	0 426•
Male	-	227 (67,4)	136 (69,0)	91 (65,0)	0,430
BMI					
BMI, Kg/m ²	48 (14,2%) / 289	27,7 (24,7-31,1)	27,7 (24,7-31,3)	27,1 (24,7-31,1)	0,439*
BMI Categories					
≤29,9 Kg/m²		206 (71,3)	122 (61,9)	84 (60,0)	
30-34,9 Kg/m ²	18 (11 2%) / 280	44 (15,2)	28 (14,2)	16 (11,4)	0 585*
35-39,9 Kg/m ²	40 (14,270)7 209	25 (8,7)	14 (7,1)	11 (7,9)	0,000
≥40 Kg/m²		14 (4,8)	10 (5,1)	4 (2,9)	
Presence of Comorbidities					
Yes	-	285 (84,6)	158 (80,2)	127 (90,7)	0.008•
No	-	52 (15,4)	39 (19,8)	13 (9,3)	0,008
Comorbidities					
Arterial Hypertension	-	192 (57,0)	93 (47,2)	99 (70,7)	<0,001•
Diabetes Mellitus	-	125 (37,1)	68 (34,5)	57 (40,7)	0,246•
Dyslipidemia	-	88 (26,1)	48 (24,4)	40 (28,6)	0,386•
Obesity	48 (14,2%) / 289	83 (28,7)	52 (26,4)	31 (22,1)	0,590•
Asthma	-	11 (3,3)	9 (4,6)	2 (1,4)	0,131
COPD	-	17 (5,0)	6 (3,0)	11 (7,9)	0,047•
OSA	-	11 (3,3)	4 (2,0)	7 (5,0)	0,212
Bronchiectasis	-	3 (0,9)	1 (0,5)	2 (1,4)	-
Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis	-	1 (0,3)	0 (0,0)	1 (0,7)	-

Pulmonary Emphysema	-	4 (1,2)	1 (0,5)	3 (2,1)	-
Pulmonary Vascular Disease	-	3 (0,9)	1 (0,5)	2 (1,4)	-
Myocardial Ischemia	-	23 (6,8)	13 (6,6)	10 (7,1)	0,845•
Cardiovascular Disease	-	4 (1,2)	1 (0,5)	4 (2,9)	-
Heart Arrythmias	-	18 (5,3)	6 (3,0)	12 (8,6)	0,026•
Stroke	-	10 (3,0)	3 (1,5)	7 (5,0)	0,100
Thalassemia	-	1 (0,3)	0 (0,0)	1 (0,7)	-
Hypothyroidism	-	14 (4,2)	7 (3,6)	7 (5,0)	0,512•
Chronic Renal Disease	-	21 (6,2)	8 (4,1)	13 (9,3)	0,051•
Chronic Liver Disease	-	1 (0,3)	1 (0,5)	0 (0)	-
Hematologic Cancer	-	5 (1,5)	4 (2,0)	1 (0,7)	-
Tissue and/or Organ Cancer	-	20 (5,9)	8 (4,1)	12 (8,6)	0,084•
Rheumatic Diseases	-	4 (1,2)	2 (1,0)	2 (1,4)	-
Nervous System Disease	-	9 (2,7)	7 (3,6)	2 (1,4)	0,315
Hyperuricemia	-	6 (1,8)	3 (1,5)	3 (2,1)	-
HIV Positive	-	7 (2,1)	4 (2,0)	3 (2,1)	-
ВРН	-	11 (3,3)	4 (2,0)	7 (5,0)	0,212
History of Organ Transplantation	-	6 (1,8)	3 (1,5)	3 (2,1)	-
Number of Comorbidities					
0 comorbidities	-	52 (15,4)	39 (19,8)	13 (9,3)	
1-2 comorbidities	-	153 (45,4)	96 (48,7)	57 (40,7)	-0.001*
3-4 comorbidities	-	119 (35,3)	59 (29,9)	60 (42,9)	<0,001
≥5 comorbidities	-	13 (3,9)	3 (1,5)	10 (7,1)	
COVID-19 Wave at Admission					
First wave	-	62 (18,4)	37 (18,8)	25 (17,9)	
Second wave	-	136 (40,4)	76 (38,6)	60 (42,9)	0,729•
Third wave	-	139 (41,2)	84 (42,6)	55 (39,3)	
Type of Patient at Admission					
Medical	-	321 (95,3)	184 (93,4)	137 (97,9)	
Surgical (Urgency) and Trauma	-	11 (3,3)	8 (4,1)	3 (2,1)	
Surgical (Elective)	-	1 (0,3)	1 (0,5)	0 (0,0)	-
Neurocritical	-	4 (1,2)	4 (2,0)	0 (0,0)	
Admission Motive					
Acute Respiratory Failure or ARDS	-	17 (5,0)	13 (6,6)	4 (2,9)	
COVID-19 induced ARDS	-	273 (81,0)	153 (77,7)	120 (85,7)	
Cardiogenic Shock or poorly defined shock	-	5 (1,5)	3 (1,5)	2 (1,4)	-
Septic Shock or Sepsis	-	7 (2,1)	4 (2,0)	3 (2,1)	
Cardiac Arrest	-	5 (1,5)	2 (1,0)	3 (2,1)	

Heart Failure	-	1 (0,3)	1 (0,5)	0 (0,0)	
Renal Failure	-	2 (0,6)	2 (1,0)	0 (0,0)	
Acid-Base Disorders	-	3 (0,9)	1 (0,5)	2 (1,4)	
Acute Abdomen	-	3 (0,9)	2 (1,0)	1 (0,7)	
Acute Pancreatitis	-	1 (0,3)	0 (0,0)	1 (0,7)	
Polytrauma	-	1 (0,3)	1 (0,5)	0 (0,0)	
Central Nervous System Disorders	-	8 (2,4)	6 (3,0)	2 (1,4)	
Monitoring	-	11 (3,3)	9 (4,6)	2 (1,4)	
Respiratory Support					
IMV	-	254 (75,4)	128 (65,0)	126 (90,0)	<0,001•
Days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and IMV onset	-	9,0 (5,0-12,0)	9,0 (6,0-12,8)	9,0 (4,0-12,0)	0,164*
Days between ICU admission and IMV onset	-	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,459*
Days with IMV	-	8,0 (4,0-14,0)	7,0 (4,0-15,0)	8,0 (3,0-13,3)	0,577*
ECMO	-	37 (11,0)	20 (10,2)	17 (12,1)	0,565•
Days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and ECMO onset	-	13,0 (9,5-17,0)	12,0 (9,0-16,0)	14,0 (11,0-17,0)	0,497*
Days with ECMO	-	9,0 (4,0-22,0)	10,0 (4,3-18,5)	9,0 (3,5-28,0)	0,821*
HFO	-	105 (31,2)	82 (41,6)	23 (16,4)	<0,001•
Outcomes					
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and Hospital Admission	34 (10,1%) / 303	6,0 (3,0-9,0)	7,0 (3,0-9,0)	5,0 (2,0-8,0)	0,005*
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and ICU Admission	-	8,0 (4,0-11,0)	8,0 (5,0-11,0)	7,0 (3,25-10,0)	0,099*
Days between Hospital and ICU Admission	15 (4,5) / 322	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	0,717*
Days in the ICU	-	8,0 (4,0-16,0)	8,0 (4,0-18,0)	8,0 (4,0-14,0)	0,463*
Days in the Hospital	13 (3,9) / 324	17,0 (9,3-29,8)	22,0 (14,5-39,0)	12,0 (7,0-18,0)	<0,001*
Days between ICU and Hospital Discharge	-	5,0 (0,0-13,0)	11,0 (5,5-21,0)	0,0 (0,0-0,0)	<0,001*
Deaths in the ICU	-	124 (36,8)	-	-	-
Hospital Discharge	-	197 (58,5)	-	-	
Total Deaths	-	140 (41,5)	-	-	-

P values weren't calculated if the variable's frequencies were too small/ null. P values weren't also calculated for the variables "Type of Patient at Admission" and "Admission Motive" because it wasn't clinically relevant.

In total, 140 (41,5%) of the 337 patients died and 197 (58,5%) were discharged from the hospital. From the total 337 patients, 124 (36,8%) died in the ICU. This means that 88,6% of the deaths occurred in the ICU.

Comparisons between hospital discharged (n=197) and deceased patients (n=140) (**Table 4.1.1.1**) reveled differences in age, since deceased patients were significantly older (71 (P_{25} = 63; P_{75} =78), vs. 58 (P_{25} = 49; P_{75} =68), years; *P*<0,001), and between age groups (*P*<0,001)). More than half of the discharged patients had ages between 50 and 69 years old, and more than 60% of the deceased patients were aged between 60 and 79 years old (**Figure 4.1.1.3A**). In both groups, the percentage of males was higher. Deceased patients were significantly more likely to have comorbidities (90,7% vs. 80,2%; *P*=0,008), hypertension (70,7% vs. 47,2%; *P*<0,001), COPD (7,9% vs. 3,0%; *P*=0,047) and hearth arrhythmias (8,6% vs. 3,0%; *P*=0,026). They were also more prone to a larger number of comorbidities (*P*<0,001), thus 42,9% of these patients had 3 to 4 comorbidities. On the other hand, 48,7% of those who were discharged from the hospital had between 1 and 2 comorbidities (**Figure 4.1.1.3B**).



Figure 4.1.1.3. Population Pyramid of patients discharged from the hospital and patients who died in each age group (A) and in each number of comorbidities (B).

Most of the discharged patients were admitted during the third COVID-19 wave (42,6%), whether the deceased were during the second one (42,9%). At admission, in both groups, the most frequent type of patients was "Medical" (97,9% in the deceased group and 93,4% in the discharged group) and the most common reason for admission was "COVID-19 induced ARDS" (85,7% in the deceased group and 77,7% in the discharged group). Deceased patients were significantly more likely to need IMV (90% vs. 65%; P<0,001), whether patients discharged from the hospital required more HFO than the others (41,6% vs. 16,4%; P<0,001). Days between symptom onset or RT-PCR diagnosis and hospital admission were significantly less in the deceased group (5 (P₂₅= 2; P₇₅=8) vs. 7 (P₂₅= 3; P₇₅=9), days; P=0,005) and so were the number of days at the hospital (12 (P₂₅= 7; P₇₅=18), vs. 22 (P₂₅= 14,5; P₇₅=39,0), days; P<0,001) and between ICU and hospital discharge (0 (P₂₅= 0; P₇₅=0), vs. 11 (P₂₅= 5,5; P₇₅=21,0), days; P<0,001).

4.1.2. Comparisons relative to IMV

The median age for mechanically ventilated (n=254) patients was 64 ($P_{25}=54$; $P_{75}=73$) years and for non-mechanically ventilated (n=83) patients 59 ($P_{25}=50$; $P_{75}=73$) years (**Table 4.1.2.1**). No significant associations were detected between the need for ventilation and the defined age groups (P=0,164) (**Figure 4.1.2.1A**). The age group with the highest number of mechanically ventilated patients was the one from 60 to 69 years old (29,9%) and for non-mechanically ventilated from 50 to 59 years old (26,5%). In both groups the frequency of males was superior. The median BMI of mechanically ventilated patients was significantly higher (27,7 ($P_{25}=25,4$; $P_{75}=31,3$), Kg/m² vs. 26,0 ($P_{25}=23,9$; $P_{75}=30,5$) Kg/m²; P=0,041) and, in both groups, more than 70% of the patients had a BMI less or equal to 29,9 Kg/m². The need for mechanical ventilation was associated with a greater number of comorbidities (87% vs. 77,1%; P=0,030). Also, most patients had 1 to 2 comorbidities (46,5% vs. 42,4%), followed by 3 to 4 comorbidities (35,8% vs. 33,7%).

The need for mechanical ventilation was also associated to COVID-19 waves at admission (P=0,023). Mechanically ventilated patients were more frequently admitted in the third wave (41,7%), whether non- mechanically ventilated ones in the second wave (50,6%) (**Figure 4.1.2.1B**).



Figure 4.1.2.1. Population Pyramid of non-mechanically ventilated patients and mechanically ventilated patients in each age group (A) and in each COVID-19 wave at admission (B).

Only mechanically ventilated patients received ECMO (14,6%), and all non- mechanically ventilated patients required HFO. The internment was significantly longer for mechanically ventilated in comparison to non-mechanically ventilated patients, both in the ICU (10,5 ($P_{25}=6$; $P_{75}=19$) vs. 4 ($P_{25}=2$; $P_{75}=6$) days; P<0,001) and in the hospital (20 ($P_{25}=12$; $P_{75}=34$) days vs. 11 ($P_{25}=6$; $P_{75}=18$) days; P=<0,001). Hospital mortality was also significantly higher in mechanically ventilated patients (49,6% vs. 16,9%; P=<0,001), including in the ICU (43,7% vs. 15,7%; P=<0,001). Mechanically ventilated patients also had a lower percentage of hospital discharges (50,4% vs. 83,1%; P=<0,001).

Table 4.1.2.1. Comparisons between mechanically ventilated and non-mechanically ventilated patients

Variables	Mechanically Ventilated (n=254)	Non-Mechanically Ventilated (n=83)	P Value
Age			
Age, years	64,0 (54,0-73,0)	59,0 (50,0-73,0)	0,212*
Age groups			
<30 years	8 (3,1)	2 (2,4)	
30-39 years	9 (3,5)	7 (8,4)	
40-49 years	23 (9,1)	11 (13,3)	
50-59 years	50 (19,7)	22 (26,5)	0,164*
60-69 years	76 (29,9)	15 (18,1)	
70-79 years	65 (25,6)	13 (15,7)	
≥80 years	23 (9,1)	13 (15,7)	
Gender			
Female	77 (30,3)	33 (39,8)	0.111•
Male	177 (69,7)	50 (60,2)	0,111
BMI			
BMI, Kg/m²	27,7 (25,4-31,3)	26,0 (23,9-30,5)	0,041
BMI Categories			
≤29,9 Kg/m ²	155 (70,1)	51 (75,0)	
30-34,9 Kg/m ²	38 (17,2)	6 (8,8)	0.589
35-39,9 Kg/m ²	17 (7,7)	8 (11,8)	0,000
≥40 Kg/m²	11 (5,0)	3 (4,4)	
Presence of Comorbidities			
Yes	221 (87,0)	64 (77,1)	0.030•
No	33 (13,0)	19 (22,9)	-,
Comorbidities			
Arterial Hypertension	152 (59,8)	40 (48,2)	0,063•
Diabetes Mellitus	96 (37,8)	29 (34,9)	0,640•
Dyslipidemia	68 (26,8)	20 (24,1)	0,630•
Obesity	66 (29,9)	17 (25,0)	0,438•
Asthma	9 (3,5)	2 (2,4)	1,000
COPD	14 (5,5)	3 (3,6)	0,773
OSA	11 (4,3)	0 (0,0)	-
Bronchiectasis	2 (0,8)	1 (1,2)	-
Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis	0 (0,0)	1 (1,2)	-
Pulmonary Emphysema	4 (1,6)	0 (0,0)	-
Pulmonary Vascular Disease	1 (0,4)	2 (2,4)	-
Myocardial Ischemia	17 (6,7)	6 (7,2)	0,866•
Cardiovascular Disease	2 (0,8)	3 (3,6)	0,098
Heart Arrythmias	13 (5,1)	5 (6,0)	0,780
Stroke	7 (2,8)	3 (3,6)	0,712
Chronic Renal Disease	19 (7,5)	2 (2,4)	0,097•
Tissue and/or Organ Cancer	18 (7,1)	2 (2,4)	0,179
Number of Comorbidities	00 (10 0)	(0, (0,0,0))	
	33 (13,0)	19 (22,9)	
1-2 comorbidities	118 (46,5)	35 (42,2)	0,078*
3-4 comorbidities	91 (35,8)	28 (33,7)	
≥5 comorbidities	12 (4,7)	1 (1,2)	
COVID-19 Wave at Admission	F4 (04 0)	0 (0 0)	
First wave	54 (21,3)	8 (9,6)	0.000
Second wave	94 (37,0)	42 (50,6)	0,023•
I hird wave	106 (41,7)	33 (39,8)	
I ype of Patient at Admission	044 (00.1)	77 (00 0)	
	244 (96,1)	(1) (92,8)	
Surgical (Urgency) and Trauma	8 (3,1)	3 (3,6)	-
Surgical (Elective)	U (0)	1 (1,2)	
Neurocritical	2 (0,8)	2 (2,4)	
Admission Motive			
--	------------------	-----------------	---------------
Acute Respiratory Failure or ARDS	15 (5,9)	2 (2,4)	
COVID-19 induced ARDS	213 (83,9)	60 (72,3)	
Cardiogenic Shock or poorly defined shock	4 (1,6)	1 (1,2)	
Septic Shock or Sepsis	6 (2,4)	1 (1,2)	
Cardiac Arrest	5 (2,0)	0 (0,0)	
Heart Failure	0 (0,0)	1 (1,2)	
Renal Failure	1 (0,4)	1 (1,2)	-
Acid-Base Disorders	1 (0,4)	2 (2,4)	
Acute Abdomen	2 (0,8)	1 (1,2)	
Acute Pancreatitis	1 (0,4)	0 (0,0)	
Polytrauma	1 (0,4)	0 (0,0)	
Central Nervous System Disorders	4 (1,6)	4 (4,8)	
Monitoring	1 (0,4)	10 (12,0)	
Respiratory Support	07 (44.0)	0 (0 0)	
ECMO	37 (14,6)	0 (0,0)	-
ECMO onset	13,0 (9,5-17,0)	-	-
Days with ECMO	9,0 (4,0-22,0)	-	-
HFO	22 (8,7)	83 (100,0)	<0,001•
Outcomes			
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and Hospital Admission	6,0 (3,0-8,0)	7,0 (4,0-9,0)	0,060*
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and ICU Admission	8,0 (4,0-11,0)	8,0 (5,0-10,0)	0,752*
Days between Hospital and ICU Admission	1,0 (0,0-4,0)	1,0 (0,0-1,8)	0,037*
Days in the ICU	10,5 (6,0-19,0)	4,0 (2,0-6,0)	<0,001*
Days in the Hospital	20,0 (12,0-34,0)	11,0 (6,0-18,0)	<0,001*
Days between ICU and Hospital Discharge	0,0 (0,0-13,0)	6,0 (0,0-11,0)	0,253*
Deaths in the ICU	111 (43,7)	13 (15,7)	<0,001•
Hospital Discharge	128 (50,4)	69 (83,1)	~0.001•
Total Deaths	126 (49,6)	14 (16,9)	\0,001

P values weren't calculated if the variable's frequencies were too small/ null. P values weren't also calculated for the variables "Type of Patient at Admission" and "Admission Motive" because it wasn't clinically relevant.

4.1.3. Comparisons relative to COVID-19 waves

Regarding comparisons made between COVID-19 waves (**Table 4.1.3.1**), the distribution of age (P=0,021) and the distribution of patients by age groups (P=0,048) were significantly different, more specifically between the third (n=139) and the first (n=62) waves (P=0,022 and 0,048 respectively) (**Figure 4.1.3.1**). For all waves, the percentage of males was higher (72,6%; 70,6%; 61,9%). The BMI distribution was statistically different between the second and third waves (P=0,010), and the same was verified for BMI categories (P=0,022). Concerning the presence of comorbidities, no significant differences were found but, in all waves, 80 to 90% of patients had one or more comorbidities. Only obesity was significantly different among COVID-19 waves (P=0,008), probably due to the former identified differences in BMI. Between COVID-19 waves, the need for IMV, ECM, and HFO was significantly different (P=0,023, P=<0,001 and P=0,009, respectively). Focusing on IMV, it was more frequent in the first COVID-19 wave, which is in accordance with national statics (160).

Table 4.1.3.1. Comparisons between COVID-19 first, second and third waves

Variables	First Wave (n=62)	Second Wave (n=136)	Third Wave (n=139)	P Value
Age				
Age, years	69,0 (57,8-76,0)	65,5 (52,0-74,0)	60,0 (53,0-71,0)	0,021 [†]
Age groups				
<30 years	2 (3,2)	6 (4,4)	2 (1,4)	
30-39 years	1 (1,6)	6 (4,4)	9 (6,5)	
40-49 years	7 (11,3)	15 (11,0)	12 (8,6)	
50-59 years	7 (11,3)	24 (17,6)	41 (29,5)	0,048 [†]
60-69 years	17 (27,4)	37 (27,2)	37 (26,6)	
70-79 years	20 (32,3)	28 (20,6)	30 (21,6)	
≥80 years	8 (12,9)	20 (14,7)	8 (5,8)	
Gender				
Female	17 (27,4)	40 (29,4)	53 (38,1)	0.4000
Male	45 (72,6)	96 (70,6)	86 (61,9)	0,190*
BMI				
BMI, Kg/m ²	27,7 (24,9-31,3)	26,1 (24,5-29,3)	28,1 (25,9-31,5)	0,013 [†]
BMI Categories				
≤29,9 Kg/m²	38 (61,3)	92 (67,6)	76 (54,7)	
30-34,9 Kg/m ²	10 (16,1)	7 (5,1)	27 (19,4)	0.000t
35-39,9 Kg/m ²	4 (6,5)	7 (5,1)	14 (10,1)	0,0261
≥40 Kg/m²	1 (1,6)	8 (5,9)	5 (3,6)	
Presence of Comorbidities				
Yes	55 (88,7)	113 (83,1)	117 (84,2)	0.590
No	7 (11,3)	23 (16,9)	22 (15,8)	0,569
Comorbidities				
Arterial Hypertension	34 (54,8)	79 (58,1)	79 (56,8)	0,912•
Diabetes Mellitus	22 (35,5)	53 (39,0)	50 (36,0)	0,840•
Dyslipidemia	15 (24,2)	38 (27,9)	35 (25,2)	0,812•
Obesity	15 (28,3)	22 (19,3)	46 (37,7)	0,008•
COPD	5 (8,1)	8 (5,9)	4 (2,9)	0,254•
Myocardial Ischemia	3 (4,8)	6 (4,4)	14 (10,1)	0,140•
Heart Arrythmias	4 (6,5)	8 (5,9)	6 (4,3)	0,772•
Chronic Renal Disease	5 (8,1)	8 (5,9)	8 (5,8)	0,803•

Tissue and/or Organ Cancer	6 (9,7)	4 (2,9)	10 (7,2)	0,127•
Number of Comorbidities				
0 comorbidities	7 (11,3)	23 (16,9)	22 (15,8)	
1-2 comorbidities	34 (54,8)	65 (47,8)	56 (38,8)	0 350t
3-4 comorbidities	19 (30,6)	43 (31,6)	57 (41,0)	0,000
≥5 comorbidities	2 (3,2)	5 (3,7)	6 (4,3)	
Respiratory Support				
IMV	54 (87,1)	94 (69,1)	106 (76,3)	0,023•
Days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and IMV onset	9,0 (4,8-14,5)	9,0 (5,0-12,3)	9,0 (4,0-11,0)	0,291 †
Days between ICU admission and IMV onset	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,601 †
Days with IMV	6,0 (1,8-17,5)	7,0 (2,8-12,5)	8,0 (5,0-15,3)	0,090 †
ECMO	14 (22,6)	18 (13,2)	5 (3,6)	<0,001•
Days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and ECMO onset	12,5 (10,0-17,0)	13,0 (8,8-16,3)	15,0 (9,0-24,0)	0,740 [†]
Days with ECMO	8,5 (3,0-19,0)	12,5 (4,0-30,3)	9,0 (4,5-15,0)	0,782 †
HFO	17 (27,4)	55 (40,4)	33 (23,7)	0,009•
Outcomes				
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and Hospital Admission	6,0 (3,0-9,0)	6,0 (3,0-9,0)	6,0 (3,0-8,8)	0,680 [†]
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and ICU Admission	8,0 (5,0-13,0)	8,0 (5,0-11,0)	7,0 (4,0-10,0)	0,066 [†]
Days between Hospital and ICU Admission	1,0 (0,0-5,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-2,0)	0,243 [†]
Days in the ICU	9,0 (3,8-20,0)	8,0 (4,0-14,0)	9,0 (4,0-17,0)	0,544 †
Days in the Hospital	21,0 (12,3-43,8)	17,0 (9,0-25,8)	17,0 (9,0-29,8)	0,062 †
Days between ICU and Hospital Discharge	4,0 (0,0-13,3)	1,5 (0,0-11,8)	5,0 (0,0-14,0)	0,491 [†]
Death in the ICU	20 (32,3)	53 (39,0)	51 (36,7)	0,662•
Total Deaths	25 (40,3)	60 (44,1)	55 (39,6)	0.700
Hospital Discharge	37 (59,7)	76 (55,9)	84 (60,4)	0,729*

P values are relative to comparisons between patients who were admitted to the hospital at the first, second and third waves of COVID-19 considered in Portugal. P values weren't calculated if the variable's frequencies were too small/ null.



Figure 4.1.3.1. Population Pyramid of patients admitted during the first and second COVID-19 waves in each age group.

Outcome variables didn't show any significant differences between the analyzed groups. The percentage of total deaths (40,3%; 44,1%; 39,6%) and deaths in the ICU (32,3%; 39,0%; 36,7%) had no significant differences between COVID-19 waves (P=0,729 and 0,662, respectively). Since further along a detailed analysis on laboratory biomarkers during ICU permanence will be made, a Kaplan-Meier survival curve was obtained for patients admitted to the ICU for each COVID-19 wave (**Figure 4.1.3.2**). Comparisons between COVID-19 waves were performed using the Tarone-Ware test since the Kaplan-Meier survival curves cross at early time points. Thus, no significant differences were detected between waves (P=0,367), as presented before.



Figure 4.1.3.2. Kaplan-Meier survival curves since ICU admission until ICU discharge for each COVID-19 Wave.

4.1.4. Comparisons relative to age groups

Regarding comparisons between age groups (**Table 4.1.4.1**), it was observed that men were more prevalent in each one of them, except for 80 years and over (47,2%). Thus, it was possible to conclude that the distribution of gender was significantly different between age groups (P=0,019). More than half of the patients had a BMI of 29,9 Kg/m² or less in every age group. The presence of comorbidities was significantly different between groups (P<0,001). It was also possible to observe that the percentage of patients with comorbidities increased with age. The distribution of arterial hypertension, diabetes mellitus and dyslipidemia were also significantly different between the age groups (P<0,001 for all mentioned variables). Again, the higher the age, the higher the percentage of patients with arterial hypertension. The remaining comorbidities had no significant differences between groups or couldn't be compared due to the small sample's sizes of some age groups. Although, significant differences were found between age groups regarding the number of comorbidities (P<0,001). All patients aged up to 59 years old were more likely to have 3 to 4 comorbidities.

There was significant association between age and the need of IMV (P=0,028), as well as between age and the number of days they spent on IMV (P=0,003). The number of days on IMV showed significant differences specifically between the age groups of 80 years old or above and 50 to 59 years old (P=0,001). The three age groups with a higher frequency of patients that needed IMV were between 60 and 69 years old, followed by 70 to 79 years old and finally 50 to 59 years old. The maximum median number of days spent on IMV was of 12,5 (P_{25} = 6,0; P_{75} =17,8) days, in the ages between 50 and 59 years old. Due to small sample sizes of certain age groups in the population that required ECMO, comparisons between groups couldn't be obtained. HFO was adopted in a higher percentage of patients with ages between 30 and 39 years old.

Both the number of days spent in the hospital and in the ICU were significantly different between age groups (P=0,002 and P=0,011 respectively). In both cases the highest median number of days spent at the hospital (21 days) and at the ICU (11 days) were from the patients belonging to the age group from 50 to 59 years old. The number of days between ICU and hospital discharge also showed significant differences between age groups (P=0,003), more specifically between 80 years or older and 50 to 59 years old (P=0,004) and 70 to 79 and 50 to 59 years old (P=0,011).

Death in the ICU was significantly different between groups (P=<0,001), being the highest frequency for patients of 80 years or older (63,9%) and with ages between 70 to 79 years old (55,1%). These age groups were also the only ones where the number of patients that died was higher than the number of patients that was discharged from the hospital. 72,2% of the patients aged 80 years or older and 61,5 of patients aged between 70 and 79 years old died in the ICU or in the hospital. All patients aged between 40 and 49 years old died solely in the ICU. The final outcome variable (death vs. hospital discharge) also showed significant differences between the age groups (P=<0,001). It was also verified than the higher the age group, the smaller the percentage of hospital discharges (varying from 80% in patients aged 30 years old or below to 27,8% in patients aged 80 years old or above).

Table 4.1.4.1. Comparisons between age groups

Variables	<30 (n=10)	30-39 (n=16)	40-49 (n=34)	50-59 (n=72)	60-69 (n=91)	70-79 (n=78)	≥80 (n=36)	P Value
Sex								
Female	1 (10)	3 (18,8)	9 (26,5)	22 (30,6)	24 (26,4)	32 (41,0)	19 (52,8)	0.010
Male	9 (90)	13 (81,3)	25 (73,5)	50 (69,4)	67 (73,6)	46 (59,0)	17 (47,2)	0,019
BMI								
BMI, Kg/m ²	24,2 (21,9-27,7)	27,7 (23,2-30,9)	27,8 (25,4-35,2)	28,4 (24,8-33,1)	27,7 (25,3-31,3)	27,1 (24,5-29,7)	26,4 (24,2-27,7)	0,096 †
BMI Categories								
≤29,9 Kg/m²	7 (87,5)	11 (73,7)	21 (67,7)	44 (63,8)	52 (66,7)	46 (78,0)	25 (86,2)	
30-34,9 Kg/m ²	0 (0,0)	2 (13,3)	2 (6,5)	12 (17,4)	17 (21,8))	7 (11,9)	4 (13,8)	0 170t
35-39,9 Kg/m ²	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	5 (16,1)	8 (11,6)	8 (10,3)	4 (6,8)	0 (0,0)	0,170
≥40 Kg/m²	1 (12,5)	2 (13,3)	3 (9,7)	5 (7,2)	1 (1,3)	2 (3,4)	0 (0,0)	
Presence of Comorbidities								
Yes	3 (30,0)	8 (50,0)	26 (76,5)	59 (81,9)	79 (86,8)	75 (96,2)	35 (97,2)	~0.001•
No	7 (70,0)	8 (50,0)	8 (23,5)	13 (18,1)	12 (13,2)	3 (3,8)	1 (2,8)	<0,001
Comorbidities								
Arterial Hypertension	1 (10,0)	1 (6,3)	3 (26,5)	30 (41,7)	59 (64,8)	60 (76,9)	32 (88,9)	<0,001•
Diabetes Mellitus	1 (10,0)	0 (0,0)	5 (14,7)	21 (29,2)	45 (49,5)	40 (51,3)	13 (36,1)	<0,001•
Dyslipidemia	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	3 (8,8)	12 (16,7)	32 (35,2)	30 (38,5)	11 (30,6)	<0,001•
Obesity	1 (12,5)	4 (26,7)	10 (32,3)	25 (36,2)	26 (33,3)	13 (22,0)	4 (13,8)	0,210•
COPD	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	2 (2,8)	7 (7,7)	5 (6,4)	3 (8,3)	-
Myocardial Ischemia	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	1 (2,9)	5 (6,9)	9 (9,9)	5 (6,4)	3 (8,3)	-
Heart Arrythmias	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	1 (1,4)	2 (2,2)	9 (11,5)	6 (16,7)	-
Chronic Renal Disease	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	2 (5,9)	1 (1,4)	7 (7,7)	7 (9,0)	4 (11,1)	-
Tissue and/or Organ Cancer	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	3 (4,2)	5 (5,5)	8 (10,3)	4 (11,1)	-
Number of Comorbidities								
0 comorbidities	7 (70,0)	8 (50,0)	8 (23,5)	13 (18,1)	12 (13,2)	3 (3,8)	1 (2,8)	
1-2 comorbidities	3 (30,0)	8 (50,0)	23 (67,6)	36 (50,0)	35 (38,5)	33 (42,3)	15 (41,7)	<0,001 [†]
3-4 comorbidities	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	3 (8,8)	21 (29,2)	38 (41,8)	38 (48,7)	19 (52,8)	
≥5 comorbidities	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	0 (0,0)	2 (2,8)	6 (6,6)	4 (5,1)	1 (2,8)	

Respiratory Support								
IMV	8 (80,0)	9 (56,3)	23 (67,6)	50 (69,4)	76 (83,5)	65 (83,3)	23 (63,9)	0,028•
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and IMV onset	4,5 (4,0-13,5)	11,0 (8,0-12,5)	6,0 (3,0-14,0)	9,0 (5,0-13,0)	9,0 (6,0-11,0)	8,0 (4,5-12,0)	9,0 (4,0-10,0)	0,722 [†]
Days between ICU admission and IMV onset	0,0 (0,0-0,0)	0,0 (0,0-4,5)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,0 (0,0-0,0)	0,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,496 †
Days with IMV	9,0 (3,0-23,5)	6,0 (3,0-7,5)	6,0 (3,0-11,0)	12,5 (6,0-17,8)	6,5 (3,0-16,0)	8,0 (5,0-13,5)	4,0 (1,0-10,0)	0,003 †
ECMO	4 (40,0)	2 (12,5)	6 (17,6)	12 (16,7)	10 (11,0)	3 (3,8)	0 (0,0)	-
Days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and ECMO onset	16,5 (5,5-26,8)	16,5 (8,00)	9,5 (8,5-13,3)	13,0 (8,5-13,0)	14,5 (11,0-16,0)	17,0 (13,0)	-	0,625 [†]
Days with ECMO	17,5 (5,0-31,5)	11,5 (4,00)	13,5 (7,8-20,5)	9,5 (3,8-23,5)	9,5 (2,8-27,5)	4,0 (0,0)	-	0,616 [†]
HFO	3 (30,0)	8 (50,0)	13 (38,2)	26 (36,1)	21 (23,1)	19 (24,4)	15 (41,7)	0,102•
Outcomes								
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and Hospital Admission	3,0 (3,0-6,5)	5,0 (2,0-6,5)	6,0 (2,0-8,0)	6,0 (3,0-9,0)	7,0 (5,0-9,0)	5,0 (2,5-8,5)	6,0 (2,0-9,0)	0,252 [†]
Days between symptom onset/ RT-PCR diagnosis and ICU Admission	4,5 (4,0-10,3)	8,0 (4,3-11,5)	6,5 (3,0-10,0)	8,0 (5,0-11,8)	9,0 (6,0-11,0)	7,0 (4,0-12,0)	8,0 (3,3-10,0)	0,724 [†]
Days between Hospital and ICU Admission	1,0 (0,5-1,5)	3,0 (1,0-7,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-3,0)	1,0 (0,0-4,0)	1,0 (0,0-1,0)	0,165 †
Days in the ICU	9,5 (5,0-25,0)	7,0 (3,3-11,0)	7,0 (3,0-13,5)	11,0 (5,0-20,8)	8,0 (5,0-20,0)	8,0 (4,8-16,3)	5,5 (2,3-9,0)	0,011 [†]
Days in the Hospital	17,0 (11,5-36,5)	17,0 (14,0-22,0)	18,0 (8,0-24,3)	21,0 (13,0-35,0)	18,0 (10,0-31,5)	17,0 (9,0-29,0)	10,0 (5,0-15,0)	0,002 †
Days between ICU and Hospital Discharge	6,5 (2,3-17,8)	7,0 (1,0-8,0)	6,5 (0,0-12,3)	9,5 (0,0-15,0)	2,0 (0,0-14,0)	0,0 (0,0-10,3)	0,0 (0,0-8,0)	0,003†
Death in the ICU	0 (0,0)	1 (6,3)	4 (11,8)	14 (19,4)	39 (42,9)	43 (55,1)	23 (63,9)	<0,001•
Total Deaths	2 (20,0)	2 (12,5)	4 (11,8)	17 (23,6)	41 (45,1)	48 (61,5)	26 (72,2)	<0.001•
Hospital Discharge	8 (80,0)	14 (87,5)	30 (88,2)	55 (76,4)	50 (54,9)	30 (38,5)	10 (27,8)	\0,001

P values weren't calculated if the variable's frequencies were too small/ null.

.

4.2. Laboratory results in the ICU

The database "ICU Laboratory Data" was used in this subchapter. The first goal for each set of biomarkers was to characterize the sample on the 1st day of ICU admission. Since most variables had several missing values on that specific day, with clinical guidance it was agreed that the 2nd day of admission was the best for this first analysis. Thus, for the 2nd day of ICU admission, comparisons between deceased and discharged patients' biomarkers were obtained for each COVID-19 wave. Additionally, comparisons of biomarker's distribution across COVID-19 waves for each group of patients were also obtained. In order to evaluate the patients' evolution after one week of ICU admission, the same analysis as for the 2nd day of ICU admission was made for the 7th day (selected with clinical guidance and because evaluation of the biomarkers was not possible after the 7th day of ICU admission due to the high number of missing values). For both the 2nd and the 7th days of ICU admission, survival analysis for nominal variables and univariate logistic regression for all variables were used. Finally, in each COVID-19 wave, comparisons between the results of the 2nd and 7th days, as well as median time course graphic representations of each biomarker between deceased and discharged patients, were utilized to assess each biomarker's evolution. For longitudinal data regarding the entire ICU admission time, GEEs were applied.

4.2.1. Cardiac biomarkers

Regarding the cardiac biomarkers, 325 patients' cardiac-related laboratory results were analyzed in the 2nd day of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.1.1**). It was observed that 40% of them had elevated hs-cTn I, 33,9% had elevated CK, 62,8% had elevated myoglobin and 97,6% had elevated LDH results. The percentage of patients with indications of a probable coronary syndrome (hs-cTn I \geq 64pg/mL) was of 27,9%. Regarding NTproBNP, median results were highly above the normality range, but weren't considered since the sample consisted only of 6 patients. For this reason, NTproBNP results weren't analyzed any further.

Biomarkers	Normality Ranges	Missing Values	All Patients (n=325)
hs-cTn I (pg/mL)			20,20 (6,60-80,75)
Increased hs-cTn I	< 34,2	60 (18,5%)	106 (40%)
In risk of CS			74 (27,9%)
CK (U/L)	20.200	26 (11 10/)	103,00 (47,00-313,00)
Increased CK	30-200	30 (11,1%)	98 (33,9%)
Myoglobin (ng/mL)	~ 85	247 (76.0%)	110,30 (62,63-464,88)
Increased Myoglobin	< 05	247 (70,078)	49 (62,8%)
NTproBNP (pg/mL)	~100	210 (08 2%)	4506,50 (327,25-16490,25)
Increased NTproBNP	<400	519 (90,270)	4 (66,7%)
LDH (U/L)	125 220	27 (11 40/)	490 (391,25-625,75)
Increased LDH	120-220	37 (11,4%)	281 (97,6%)

Table 4.2.1.1.	Cardiac-related	biomarkers ir	ו the 2 nd	day of ICU	admission
----------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------------	------------	-----------

Risk of coronary syndrome (CS) was considered for hs-cTn I ≥ 64pg/mL, according to hospital directives. Remaining reference values according to the hospital's laboratory directives. Comparisons between discharged and deceased patients in the ICU (**Table 4.2.1.2**) showed significant differences regarding hs-cTn I in the second (P=0,042) and third (P=0,003) COVID-19 waves. Deceased patients had significantly higher concentrations of hs-cTn I, and the number of patients with elevated results or in risk of CS in the 2nd (P=0,026) and 3rd (P=0,018) waves, was higher when compared to the ones discharged from the ICU.

	Biomarkers	All patients (n=59)	Discharged (n=41)	Deceased (n=18)	<i>P</i> Value
	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	45,15 (14,50; 219,85)	40,10 (10,80; 248,00)	60,10 (26,20-213,00)	0,374*
ave	Increased hs-cTn I	31 (57,4%)	21 (53,8%)	10 (66,7%)	0,393•
9 We	In risk of CS	19 (35,2%)	12 (30,8%)	7 (46,7%)	0,273 •
D-19	CK (U/L)	100,00 (45,00-356,25)	113,50 (56,00; 388,50)	82,50 (31,75-209,00)	0,260
N	Increased CK	20 (34,5%)	16 (40%)	4 (22,2%)	0,188•
st C	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	119,60 (37,20-919,35)	98,30 (32,30; 846,15)	143,40 (103,90-1150,15)	0,445*
Ξ	Increased Myoglobin	15 (71,4%)	10 (62,5%)	5 (100%)	0,262■
	LDH (U/L)	466,00 (358,50-586,75)	457 (357-583)	499,00 (389,50-590,50)	0,593*
	Increased LDH	55 (98,2%)	38 (97,4%)	17 (100%)	1,000
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=133)	Discharged (n=83)	Deceased (n=50)	<i>P</i> Value
	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	17,00 (5,40-80,80)	14,00 (4,45-45,25)	21,20 (8,23-275,68)	0,042*
Vave	Increased hs-cTn I	41 (35,7%)	19 (27,5%)	22 (47,8%)	0,026°
19 V	In risk of CS	30 (26,1)	14 (20,3%)	16 (34,8%)	0,083 •
ģ	CK (U/L)	91,00 (39,00-201,50)	80,00 (34,00-170,00)	101,50 (53,75-275,75)	0,172*
ŝ	Increased CK	30 (24,8%)	17 (22,7%)	13 (28,3%)	0,489 •
puq	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	78,40 (50,90-519,60)	76,70 (42,75-398,70)	234,90 (58,85-721,75)	0,491*
Seco	Increased Myoglobin	12 (46,2%)	7 (41,2%)	5 (55,6%)	0,683∎
•,	LDH (U/L)	454,00 (368,25-566,00)	432,00 (352,25-523,75)	508,00 (407,50-627,25)	0,010*
	Increased LDH	116 (96,7%)	73 (96,1%)	43 (97,7%)	1,000
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=133)	Discharged (n=85)	Deceased (n=48)	<i>P</i> Value
	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	18,25 (6,35-73,25)	9,50 (4,80-39,20)	33,10 (15,10-147,65)	0,003*
ave	Increased hs-cTn I	34 (35,4%)	14 (25,5%)	20 (48,8%)	0,018 °
9 M	In risk of CS	25 (26%)	12 (21,8%)	13 (31,7%)	0,275•
5	CK (U/L)	132,50 (53,25-362,00)	115,00 (42,00-342,00)	221,00 (60,00-393,00)	0,083*
NO N	Increased CK	48 (43,6%)	25 (37,3%)	23 (53,5%)	0,095•
rd C	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	173,30 (73,10-255,80)	101,00 (68,30-226,10)	207,00 (74,83-260,53)	0,520*
Thi	Increased Myoglobin	22 (71,0%)	11 (73,3%)	11 (68,8%)	1,000
	LDH (U/L)	568,50 (428,00-705,25)	475,00 (379,50-611,75)	650,50 (534,00-826,25)	<0,001*
	Increased LDH	110 (98,2%)	66 (97,1%)	44 (100%)	0,519

Table 4.2.1.2. Cardiac-related biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.

Elevation of hs-cTn I is typically related to cardiac myocyte injury/ necrosis. It's been described several times that this type of cardiac manifestation in patients with COVID-19 leads to a higher risk of mortality (161–165). A cohort study including 416 patients demonstrated through a Cox regression model that patients with cardiac injury are at a higher risk of death (hazard ratio 3,41 (95% CI; 1,62-7,16)) (166). In another multihospital retrospective cohort study involving 3000 patients, myocardial injury was common, but mostly associated with a low elevation of hs-cTn I at admission (167). The same

was verified for the present study sample. Although the frequency of patients at risk of CS was higher than the one of patients with mildly elevated cardiac troponin levels ($34,2 < hs-cTn I \le 64$), the median levels of hs-cTn I at admission were only mildly elevated in the 1st COVID-19 wave. So, in general, besides 40% of the patients having showed elevated troponin levels, the median was within the normality range (20,20 pg/mL) (**Table 4.2.1.1**).

Even though a concentration of cardiac troponins above the 99th percentile of the values corresponding to a reference control group is indicative of a possible MI, other clinical factors must be considered to establish a diagnosis (107). Cardiac troponins are "organ-specific, not disease-specific" thereby meaning their elevation can result from other factors besides MI, such as myocarditis, increased ventricular tension, excess catecholamines, diminished renal clearance and other causes for myocyte injury and/or necrosis. Chronic diseases like chronic kidney disease, hearth failure and pulmonary arterial hypertension are other examples (168). In the present study sample, besides not documented in this master thesis, several cases of acute myocarditis were observed by health professionals. In these cases, troponin elevations were a result of non-ischemic myocardial injury, thus not resulting in a type I infarction, but presenting as a pseudoinfarct/ non-obstructive myocardial infarct (169).

In all COVID-19 waves, a higher percentage of deceased patients had an elevation of cardiac troponins (26,7% vs. 25,6%; 34,8% vs. 15,9%; and 26,8% vs. 20%). Taking this fact into account, Kaplan-Meier survival curves for each COVID-19 wave were obtained for the groups: "Increased hs-cTn I" and "non-increased hs-cTn I" (**Figure 4.2.1.1**).



Figure 4.2.1.1. Survival curves for patients with COVID-19 according to the hs-cTn I threshold of 34,2 pg/mL in the 2nd day of ICU admission (**A**) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (**B**, **C** and **D**).

The survival functions were significantly different considering the hs-cTn I threshold of 34,2 pg/mL (**Figure 4.2.1.1A**). Analyzing the survival data for each wave, the survival curves were significantly different in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves (**Figures 4.2.1.1C** and **D**), results which are further supplemented by the tests reflected on **Table 4.2.1.3** (*P*=0,013; 0,013 and 0,006 respectively).

	All patients	1 st Covid-19 Wave	2 nd Covid-19 Wave	3 rd Covid-19 Wave
	P Value	P Value	<i>P</i> Value	P Value
Log Rank (Mantel-Cox)	0,013	0,505	0,065	0,003
Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon)	0,007	0,265	0,008	0,010
Tarone-Ware	0,008	0,329	0,013	0,006

Table 4.2.1.3. Comparisons between survival functions for all patients with and without increased hs-cTn I levels, and separate analysis for all COVID-19 waves, in the 2nd day of ICU admission

Regarding CK and myoglobin, deceased patients had almost always higher median concentrations (except CK that was higher for the discharged patients of the 1st COVID-19 wave) and higher frequency of patients with values out of normality ranges (except for myoglobin in the 3rd wave). Kaplan Meier survival curves stratified according to reference normality cut-off points for these biomarkers didn't show significant differences for any of the COVID-19 waves. Although, elevated CK has been associated with increased mortality and disease severity in COVID-19, as concluded in a systematic review and meta-analysis involving 2471 patients (170). It is still unclear whether this elevation is caused by the virus itself (since it may invade muscles and other nervous system cell's via ACE2 receptors causing direct viral myositis) or by other factors such as renal impairment, toxic effects of cytokines, preexisting myopathies and muscle dysfunction acquired during hospital stay/ disease course (170–172). Myoglobin exists in skeletal and cardiac muscle and increases in circulation after myocyte damage/ necrosis. It was shown, that when combined with CK, it has a better prediction of worse outcomes and death in COVID-19 patients (AUC of 0,883 (95%CI: 0,813-0,952; *P*<0,001)) (173).

In all COVID-19 waves LDH median levels were above normality ranges and, in average, for both groups (discharged and deceased) more than 97% of the patients had elevated LDH values. This was expected since, as already described, almost all COVID-19 patients demonstrate elevated LDH results (174). Also, the median levels of this biomarker were significantly different between discharged and deceased patients for the 2^{nd} (*P*=0,010) and 3^{rd} (*P*<0,001) waves. Besides being described that LDH levels could be an independent predictor of myocardial injury, other studies also determined that they are significantly associated with disease severity. This can be related to the typical multiorgan dysfunction of COVID-19 patients, with systemic inflammation, tissue damage and necrosis (including in the myocardium) (73,174,175). For each wave, Kaplan Meier survival curves stratified according to the reference normality cut-off points for this biomarker didn't show any significant differences.

To finalize the cardiac biomarker's analysis in the 2nd day of ICU admission, univariate logistic regression for all patients in each COVID-19 wave was applied to determine which biomarkers were related to the disease's outcome (ICU discharge or death) (**Table 4.2.1.4**). The univariate logistic regression analysis demonstrated that increased hs-cTn I levels, in the 2nd and 3rd waves, and that LDH

levels, in the 3rd wave, were significantly associated with a higher risk of death. Thus, mortality risk is increased 2,4-fold in the 2nd wave and 2,8-fold in the 3rd wave for patients with increased hs-cTn I results. In the case of LDH, every unit increase (U/L) results in a 0,3% increase in mortality risk.

Table 4.2.1.4. Statistically significant results from univariate logistic regression for cardiac-related biomarkers in the 2nd day of ICU admission

	Univariate logistic regression for patients in the 2 nd day of ICU admission			
		Crude OR	95% CI	P Value
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	Increased hs-cTn I	2,412	1,102-5,280	0,028
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Increased hs-cTn I	2,789	1,178-6,604	0,020
	LDH (U/L)	1,003	1,001-1,005	0,001

Separate comparisons between COVID-19 waves for the groups of discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.1.5**) lead to the conclusion that, in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission, the levels of hs-cTn I were significantly different between waves for the discharged patients (*P*=0,009) and that the levels of LDH were also significantly different between waves for the deceased patients (*P*<0,001).

Table 4.2.1.5. Cardiac-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 2nd day of ICU admission

	Hs-cTn I levels comparison between:	P Value
ged	All COVID-19 Waves (n=163)	0,009 [†]
tien	1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	0,019 [†]
Disc	1 st and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,015 [†]
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
	LDH levels comparison between:	P Value
ts t	All COVID-19 Waves (n=105)	<0,001†
ceas	1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
Dec	1 st and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,004†
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,001†
1		2,301

hs-cTn I median levels were much higher in the 1st wave (**Figure 4.2.1.2**), leading to significant differences between the 1st and 2nd (P=0,019) and 1st and 3rd (P=0,015) COVID-19 waves. Significant elevation of cardiac biomarkers in the 1st wave was also described in other studies. For example, one study in the United Kingdom observed a possible correlation between prolonged "symptom-to-call" time, higher peak hs-cTn I levels and decreased six months survival after myocardial infarction (176). The same was verified in other countries like Spain and China (177,178). Possible triggers were changes on patients' behavior due to the pandemic, like hospital/ medical care avoidance to prevent contracting the disease (176,178). Hence, this type of information can be very valuable for health professionals in future pandemics or other SARS-CoV-2 variants. In the other hand, LDH median levels were higher in the 3rd COVID-19 wave (**Figure 4.2.1.3**) for the 2nd day of ICU admission, leading to significant differences between the 1st and 3rd (P=0,004) and 3rd (P=0,001) COVID-19 waves. Despite that, all COVID-19 waves showed elevated median levels in both discharged and deceased patients' groups and almost all patients had elevated LDH results. The remaining cardiac biomarkers didn't show significant differences across the three waves and therefore the results of their statistical analysis were not presented.





Figure 4.2.1.2. hs-cTn I (pg/mL) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for discharged patients, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.



To evaluate the biomarkers after one week in the ICU, 216 patients were included (**Table 4.2.1.6**). It was concluded that 47,2% had elevated CK, 87,5% had elevated myoglobin and 98,4% had elevated LDH results, all higher percentages than in the 2nd day of ICU admission. On the other hand, 26,9% of the patients had elevated hs-cTn I levels, which is less than in the 2nd day of ICU admission (26,9% vs.40%), and the percentage of patients with indications of a probable CS was also smaller (17,2% Vs. 27,9%).

Biomarkers	Missing Values	All Patients (n=216)
hs-cTn I (pg/mL)		12,40 (5,35-39,10)
Increased hs-cTn I	71 (32,9%)	39 (26,9%)
In risk of CS		25 (17,2%)
CK (U/L)	52 (24 59/)	185,00 (65,00-481,00)
Increased CK	55 (24,576)	77 (47,2%)
Myoglobin (ng/mL)	102 (99 00/)	256,15 (172,48-591,03)
Increased Myoglobin	192 (00,9%)	21 (87,5%)
LDH (U/L)	22 (10 69/)	429,00 (338,00-525,00)
Increased LDH	23 (10,0%)	190 (98,4%)

Table 4.2.1.6. Cardiac-related biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission

Comparisons between discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.1.7**) showed significant differences regarding the proportion of patients in risk of CS (P=0,037) and the median levels of LDH (P=0,013) for the 1st COVID-19 wave. The same was verified for LDH in the 3rd wave (P=0,005). hs-cTn I levels were significantly different between discharged and deceased patients from the 2nd and 3rd waves (P=0,038 and 0,045 respectively). Finally, in the 3rd wave, CK median levels were different between the same groups (P=0,011) and so was the proportion of patients with elevated CK values (P=0,006).

In all COVID-19 waves, once again, a higher percentage of deceased patients had an elevation of cardiac troponins (23,8% vs. 45,5%; 18,9% vs. 25,0%; and 20,7% vs. 47,4%). This time around, Kaplan Meier survival curves stratified according to the reference normality cut-off points for this biomarker didn't show any significant differences in each wave.

	,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			_
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=39)	Discharged (n=27)	Deceased (n=12)	<i>P</i> Value
	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	20,35 (10,33-41,63)	16,10 (8,85-33,00)	27,00 (12,50-118,50)	0,133*
ave	Increased hs-cTn I	10 (31,3%)	5 (23,8%)	5 (45,5%)	0,252■
м,	In risk of CS	5 (15,6%)	1 (4,8%)	4 (36,4%)	0,037■
P-19	CK (U/L)	212,50 (66,75-410,50)	220,00 (55,00-479,50)	195,00 (69,00-373,00)	0,919*
N	Increased CK	19 (52,8%)	14 (56%)	5 (45,5%)	0,559•
st C	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	277,40 (188,70-642,50)	236,25 (174,00-616,10)	733,00 (733,00-733,00)	0,364*
Εľ	Increased Myoglobin	10 (90,9%)	9 (90%)	1 (100%)	1,000
	LDH (U/L)	445,00 (339,00-521,00)	413,00 (336,00-470,50)	548,50 (392,00-631,75)	0,013*
	Increased LDH	37 (100%)	25 (100%)	12 (100%)	-
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=87)	Discharged (n=52)	Deceased (n=35)	<i>P</i> Value
0	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	9,10 (4,25-29,00)	7,20 (2,95-23,55)	13,25 (7,23-37,35)	0,038*
Vave	Increased hs-cTn I	14 (21,5%)	7 (18,9%)	7 (25,0%)	0,555•
19 V	In risk of CS	9 (13,8%)	4 (10,8%)	5 (17,9%)	0,483∎
-d	CK (U/L)	105,50 (32,25-290,25)	103,50 (20,75-331,50)	105,50 (50,25-243,50)	0,371*
co	Increased CK	22 (34,4%)	13 (34,2%)	9 (34,6%)	0,973•
puq	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	359,00 (58,90-456,90)	306,45 (90,05-1366,98)	359,00 (30,80)	0,857*
Seco	Increased Myoglobin	5 (71,4%)	3 (75%)	2 (66,7%)	1,000
	LDH (U/L)	400,50 (332,75-532,50)	377,50 (323,00-515,00)	448,00 (333,75-564,50)	0,194*
	Increased LDH	75 (96,2%)	46 (95,8%)	29(96,7%)	1,000
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=90)	Discharged (n=58)	Deceased (n=32)	P Value
	hs-cTn I (pg/mL)	12,20 (5,40-50,90)	7,90 (3,60-22,75)	30,80 (11,70-145,60)	0,045*
ave	Increased hs-cTn I	15 (31,3%)	6 (20,7%)	9 (47,4%)	0,051•
9 M	In risk of CS	11 (22,9%)	5 (17,2%)	6 (31,6%)	0,304
<u>-</u>	CK (U/L)	235,00 (107,00-636,00)	186,00 (71,00-483,00)	459,50 (206,00-849,75)	0,011*
NO:	Increased CK	36 (57,1%)	17 (43,6%)	19 (79,2%)	0,006*
rd O	Myoglobin (ng/mL)	220,50 (153,78-734,90)	234,90 (168,80)	206,20 (108,70)	1,000*
Thi	Increased Myoglobin	6 (100%)	3 (100%)	3 (100%)	-
	LDH (U/L)	434,00 (345,50-516,75)	374,50 (312,50-501,50)	498,00 (410,25-561,00)	0,005*
	Increased LDH	78 (100%)	48 (100%)	30 (100%)	-

Table 4.2.1.7. Cardiac-related biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 7th day of ICU admission

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.

In the other hand, just like in the 2nd day of ICU admission, only in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves was there a significant difference between discharged and deceased patients regarding hs-cTn I median levels (P=0,038 and 0,045 respectively). LDH median levels were significantly different between the same groups in the 3rd wave (P=0,005), which also happened in the 2nd day of ICU admission.

Moving on to comparisons between COVID-19 waves for discharged and deceased patients' cardiac biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.1.8**), it was determined that CK median levels were significantly different between waves for deceased patients (*P*=0,003). The referred biomarker's levels were much higher in the 3rd wave, for deceased patients, leading to significant differences between the 2nd and 3rd (P=0,003) waves (**Figure 4.2.1.4**).

 Table 4.2.1.8.
 Cardiac-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across

 COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 7th day of ICU admission

	CK levels comparison between:	P Value
ts ed	All COVID-19 Waves (n=61)	0,003 [†]
eas	1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
Dec	1 st and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,097†
_	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,003 [†]



Figure 4.2.1.4. CK (U/L) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for deceased patients, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

To assess the patients' progress throughout their ICU stay, comparisons were made between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.1.9**). Due to the large number of missing values, comparisons between myoglobin levels weren't obtained.

		hs-cTn I (pg/mL)		CK (U/L)		LD	H (U/L)
		n	P Value	n	P Value	n	P Value
	Discharged patients	20	0,001	24	0,511	23	0,007
'ID-19 e	Deceased patients	9	0,374	11	0,594	11	0,722
1st COV Wav	All patients	29	0,001	35	0,351	34	0,032
4	Discharged patients	33	0,001	35	0,980	42	<0,001
COVID	Deceased patients	28	0,007	25	0,389	27	0,022
2 nd (19 V	All patients	61	<0,001	60	0,546	69	<0,001
	Discharged patients	24	0,081	34	0,365	40	<0,001
اD-19 ٩	Deceased patients	17	0,076	21	0,259	27	<0,001
3rd COV Wav	All patients	41	0,016	55	0,146	67	<0,001

Table 4.2.1.9. Comparisons regarding median cardiac-related biomarker's levels of all patients, the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission for each COVID-19 wave

P-values represent the comparison of the median of a given biomarker on the 2nd day with that of the 7th day of ICU admission. All *P* values obtained through related-samples Wilcoxon matched-pair signed rank test.

In all three COVID-19 waves all patients showed significant differences regarding their hs-cTn I results between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission (P=0,001; <0,001 and 0,016 in each wave, respectively) (**Figure 4.2.1.5A**). Median hs-cTn I values were always higher in the 2nd day, for both groups of discharged and deceased patients, especially in the 1st wave. This can be related to the fact that the patients that belong to this wave were significantly older. For all waves hs-cTn I levels started to decrease in the beginning and then increased between the 5th and 6th days of ICU admission (**Figures 4.2.1.5B-D**). The 2nd wave was the only one where the differences between the two days were significant between all groups of patients (P value of 0,001 for discharged patients, of 0,007 for deceased patients and inferior to 0,001 for all patients) since there was a marked decrease of hs-cTn I levels (**Figure 4.2.1.5C**). Other studies had contrary results were hs-cTn I levels rose until the 3rd day and then declined from the 4th to the 7th days for survivors, while for deceased patients an abrupted increase occurred until death (179).



Figure 4.2.1.5. Median time course for all patients' hs-cTn I levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1^{st} (**B**), 2^{nd} (**C**) and 3^{rd} (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

Median LDH levels were also significantly different for all patients between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission, except in the 1st COVID-19 wave (P<0,001 for the 2nd and 3rd waves) (**Figure 4.2.1.6A**). Between the 2nd and 7th days, LDH levels peaked approximately in the first two days of ICU admission for all patients and then started to decrease (except for the deceased patients of the 1st wave) (**Figures 4.2.1.6B-C**). Thus, in the 1st wave there were only significant differences between the two analyzed days for discharged patients (P=0,007). On the other hand, in the 2nd wave significant differences were found for both groups (P<0,001 for discharged patients and P=0,022 for deceased

ones) and the same was verified in the 3^{rd} wave (P<0,001 for both groups). The high increases of this biomarker in early stages of the decease observed in this study has been documented by others, which classified LDH as one of the most premature biomarkers related to inflammation and cell death (180).



Figure 4.2.1.6. Median time course for all patients' LDH levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (**B**), 2nd (**C**) and 3rd (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Considering the total longitudinal data corresponding to the UCI stay, the associations between cardiac-related biomarkers and death were tested by means of univariate GEEs models (**Table 4.2.1.10**). Similarly to the previously obtained results, patients with increased hs-cTn I levels had a higher risk of death. This time, not only in the 2nd and 3rd waves, but in all three of them (*P*=0,019; 0,002 and 0,003 respectively). Thus, patients with increased hs-cTn I results had an increased risk of death of 0,4% in the 1st wave, 1,7% in the 2nd wave, and 2,1% in the 3rd wave. Also, variables that for the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission weren't associated with the patients' outcome, like increased risk of CS, myoglobin, and CK, were associated with higher risks of death when GEEs models were applied. Patients in risk of CS had a 0,4% increased chance of death in the 1st wave, and of 2,1% in the 2nd wave. For patients with increased myoglobin, the risk of death was 2,4% higher in the 1st wave and 18,9% in the 2nd wave. Increased CK levels resulted in a 2,3% greater risk of death in the 3rd wave. These results can be very useful in future research when the entire period of ICU admission is thoroughly analyzed, and multivariate models are applied.

Table 4.2.1.10. Statistically significant results from univariate GEEs models for cardiac-related biomarkers in each COVID-19 wave

		OR	95% CI	P Value
	Increased hs-cTn I	1,004	1,001-1,007	0,019
1 st COVID-19 Wave	In risk of CS	1,004	1,001-1,008	0,017
	Increased Myoglobin	1,024	1,009-1,038	0,002
	Increased hs-cTn I	1,017	1,006-1,027	0,002
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	In risk of CS	1,021	1,006-1,035	0,006
	Increased Myoglobin	1,189	1,034-1,367	0,015
3 rd COVID-19	Increased hs-cTn I	1,021	1,007-1,035	0,003
Wave	Increased CK	1,023	1,012-1,034	<0,001

4.2.2. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers

Regarding inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers, to characterize the sample in the 2nd day of ICU admission 325 patients' laboratory results were analyzed (**Table 4.2.1.1**).

Biomarkers	Normality Ranges	Missing Values	All Patients (n=325)
Max. PCT (ng/mL) Increased PCT	<0,06	68 (20,9%)	0,26 (0,11-1,04) 231 (89,9%)
Max. CRP (mg/L) Increased CRP	<5,0	4 (1,2%)	162,30 (92,20-243,95) 321 (100%)
Max. IL-6 (pg/mL) Increased IL-6	<7,0	299 (92%)	83,37 (25,53-178,10) 26 (100%)
Min. RBC x 10 ¹² /L Decreased RBC	4,4-5,9	5 (1,5%)	4,14 (3,60-4,56) 212 (66,3%)
Min. HCT (%) Decreased HCT	40,0-50,0	5 (1,5%)	35,90 (31,75-39,58) 248 (77,5%)
Min. HGB x 10g/L Decreased HGB	13,0-16,0	5 (1,5%)	11,90 (10,53-13,20) 222 (69,4%)
Min. WBC x 10^9/L Decreased WBC	4,0-10,0	5 (1,5%)	9,01 (6,48-12,15) 22 (6,9%)
Max. WBC x 10^9/L Increased WBC	4,0-10,0	5 (1,5%)	10,02 (7,59-13,70) 161 (50,3%)
Min. LYM x 10^9/L Decreased LYM	0,8-5,0	5 (1,5%)	0,74 (0,51-1,09) 178 (55,6%)
Max. NEU x 10^9/L Increased NEU	1,6-7,0	5 (1,5%)	8,58 (6,29-11,92) 212 (66,3%)
Min. EO x 10 ⁹ /L Decreased EO	0,03-0,6	5 (1,5%)	0,00 (0,00-0,00) 275 (85,9%)
Min. MON (x 10^9/L) Decreased MON	0,1-1,0	5 (1,5%)	0,40 (0,25-0,68) 11 (3,4%)
Max. MON (x 10^9/L) Increased MON	0,1-1,0	5 (1,5%)	0,51 (0,34-0,79) 48 (15%)
Max. Platelet-lymphocyte ratio (PLR)	<192	5 (1,5%)	334,73 (226,54-509,85)
Increased PLR Max. Neutrophil-			261 (81,6%)
lymphocyte ratio (NLR) Increased NLR	0,78-3,53	5 (1,5%)	10,89 (6,72-17,22) 305 (95,3%)

Table 4.2.2.1. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers in the 2nd day of ICU admission

Reference values according to the hospital's laboratory directives and adapted from (116). PLR reference values according to (181).

According to the results, 89,9% of the patients had increased PCT values. PCT is normally produced by the parafollicular cells of the thyroid gland. In case of bacterial sepsis, PCT levels rise due to the increase of its production in all parenchymal tissues (stimulated by TNF- α and IL-6, per example), being very useful for antibiotic therapy monitoring. In the other hand, in viral infections its production is downregulated (by mediators like IFN γ). Despite this statement, PCT is increased in COVID-19 patients, suggesting that these patients may have secondary bacterial infections that lead to these increases (182,183). Thus, accordingly to a meta-analysis, PCT levels were associated with approximately a fivefold higher risk of severe infection by SARS-Cov-2 (OR, 4,76; 95% CI; 2,74-8,29) (184). CRP is a

nonspecific biomarker produced in the liver in case of inflammation and is triggered by a variety of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6 (183). In this study, median CRP results were far above reference values (162,30 mg/L) and elevated in all involved patients. For levels greater than or equal to 40mg/L, other authors have suggested this biomarker as a reliable indicator of COVID-19 severity and risk of death (185). IL-6, reported as the most secreted cytokine by macrophages, is strongly elevated in severe COVID-19 patients (68,186). In the present study population IL-6 results were increased for all patients (n=26), however the number of missing values for this variable was very high.

Median levels of red blood cells (RBCs) and HCT were below normality ranges and more than half the patients, in both cases, had decreased results (66,3% and 77,5% respectively). Decreases in erythrocyte levels have been linked to the infection by SARS-CoV-2. After the virus binds to RBCs, a series of metabolic changes cause an increase in reactive oxygen species, resulting in cell damage, lysis, and the inability to transport oxygen. SARS-CoV-2 also binds to hemoglobin (HGB), causing its denaturation and thus the inhibition of viral replication. This defense mechanism interferes in oxygen transport and results in hypoxia, a common symptom in COVID-19 patients (187). In this study median levels of HGB were below normality ranges and 69,4% of the patients had decreased results.

It has been reported that WBCs levels increase (leukocytosis) during SARS-CoV-2 infection, more commonly in severe cases (186). WBC count at admission was even significantly correlated with death in another research (188). In this study, maximum WBCs median levels were slightly above normality ranges and 50,3% of the patients had leukocytosis. As formerly described, the increase in WBCs could be driven by the increases verified in NEU counts (73). As a matter of fact, NEU counts were elevated in the present analysis and strongly associated with WBCs counts (Φ =0,809; *P*<0,001). These cells increase in circulation as the disease progresses due to the presence of infectious agents and tissue damage (189). Supported by neutrophilia, leukocytosis seems to correlate with more severe outcomes (190).

Like in any other viral infection, COVID-19 patients are presented with lymphopenia. With data from a longitudinal cohort of 5628 Korean COVID-19 patients, it was demonstrated that early lymphopenia is associated with poor prognosis, just like in various other reports (78,116,191,192). Possible underlying triggers are LYM depletion in the spleen and lymph nodes through cell apoptosis and viral antigen stimulation (193). In the present case, median LYM levels were decreased and 64,1% of the patients had lymphopenia. Eosinopenia is another response of infection with unclear pathophysiology. It can be a result of the migration of EOs to inflammation sites or, on contrary, the resistance of their mobilization from the bone marrow, or even direct cell apoptosis (190). Decreases in EO counts have been reported several times and considered a severity biomarker (116,194). Finally, MONs are also activated during viral infections, being recruited by inflammatory mediators. When they arrive to the target tissues, their phenotype changes, and they become macrophages or DCs, which fight inflammation. In COVID-19, cases of hyperactivation of these cells are common, resulting in pro-inflammatory cytokine release with cytotoxic effector cells recruitment, causing more tissue damage (195). Studies like the one from Rajamanickam *et al.* (196), demonstrated that COVID-19 severity is associated with elevated MON counts. In the other hand, Kilercik *et al.* (197) determined that decreased

MON percentages are significantly correlated with disease severity. The median of minimum MON count in this study was between normality ranges, and only 3,4% of the patients had decreased results. The median of maximum MON count was similarly normal, and 15% of the patients had increased values.

PLR is a relatively new and inexpensive marker of systemic inflammation. It has been used in cases of cardiovascular and autoimmune diseases as a predictor of inflammation and mortality and related to tumor size and metastasis (198,199). Recently, PLR has been used as a severity biomarker in COVID-19 cases and associated with higher morbidity and mortality. According to Hashem *et al.*, in patients requiring ICU internment, PLR results at admission could be used as predictors of severe infection by SARS-CoV-2 (181). However, more evidence in this matter is needed (some authors describe PLR results as confounding) and so is a reliable cut-off value (200). For the present study, median maximum PLR results were above the normality range, and an elevated percentage of patients had increased results (81,6%). NLR is another easily calculated inflammatory biomarker. As opposed to PLR, NLR has showed more reliable results and has a high prognostic value (201). COVID-19 patients' NLR can be used as an independent risk factor for hospital mortality, according to *Liu et al* (202). Regarding this biomarker, almost all patients had increased levels (95,3%) and the median of maximum NLR results were also elevated.

For comparisons between discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.2.2**), IL-6 results weren't considered due to the high number of missing values. Minimum values of WBCs weren't also analyzed since the results were within normality ranges. The same rule was also applied for both minimum and maximum MON counts. No significant differences were observed in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission between discharged and deceased patients from the 1^{st} COVID-19 wave, for any of the analyzed variables. Although, for both groups, all median results were outside normality ranges. Regarding the 2^{nd} wave, RBC counts were significantly different between discharged and deceased patients, being that median levels were lower for the deceased ones since 80,9% of them had decreased results. Other reports have also described decreased RBCs and HGB results in Portuguese ICUs and that these low RBC counts are independently associated with mortality (OR=9,021; *P*<0,001) (203). In the present case, HGB median results were slightly below normality ranges for all COVID-19 waves. In the 2^{nd} wave, they were even significantly different between discharged and deceased patients (*P*=0,045), taking into account the fact that 80,9% of the deceased ones had decreased HGB results.

In both the 2nd and 3rd waves, median LYM counts were significantly different between discharged and deceased patients (*P*=0,014 and 0,019 respectively). It was also verified that the deceased ones always revealed a worse degree of lymphocytopenia. Formerly, other authors have obtained similar results, namely the patients who died had lower LYM counts (191). Taking the former results into account, Kaplan-Meier survival curves for each COVID-19 wave were obtained for the nominal variable "Decreased LYM", versus "non-decreased LYM" results (**Figure 4.2.2.1**).

Third COVID-19 Wave First COVID-19 Wave Second COVID-19 Wave Biomarkers Ρ Ρ Ρ All patients Discharged Deceased All patients Discharged Deceased All patients Discharged Deceased (n=59) (n=41) (n=18) Value (n=133) (n=83) (n=50) Value (n=133) (n=85) (n=48) Value 0,45 (0,17-0.66 (0.22-0,27 (0,13-0,21 (0,11-0,60 (0,16-0.35 (0.14-0,18 (0,08-0,13 (0,06-0,31 (0,10-Max. PCT (ng/mL) 0.299* 0.238* 0.002* 1,32) 1,15) 1,44) 0,85) 0,97) 0,68) 0,89) 0,46) 1,68) Increased PCT 48 (100%) 32 (100%) 16 (100%) 82 (82,8%) 46 (79,3%) 36 (87,8%) 0,270 101 (91,8%) 60 (89,6%) 41 (95,3%) 0,478 -223.30 208.30 242.25 199,90 133,95 (76,98-117.70 (63.50-148.10 (94.50-166.05 (93.00-151.90 (67.43-Max. CRP (mg/L) (127,80-(117,45-(176,05-0,122* 0.223* (129,00-0,024* 209,88) 206,30) 225,30) 248,68) 232,93) 261,40) 254,30) 283,10) 256,28) Increased CRP 59 (100%) 41 (100%) 18 (100%) 130 (100%) 83 (100%) 47 (100%) 132 (100%) 84 (100%) 48 (100%) --4.10 (3.50-4.16 (3.65-4.05 (3.57-4,28 (3,59-3,86 (3,41-4,21 (3,72-4,23 (3,75-4,21 (3,59-4,01 (3,19-Min. RBC x 10¹²/L 0.391* 0,030* 0,542* 4,42) 4,42) 4,41) 4,50) 4,63) 4,26) 4,64) 4,64) 4,64) Decreased RBC 0.042* 41 (70,7%) 28 (70%) 13 (72,2%) 0.863* 91 (70%) 53 (63,9%) 38 (80,9%) 80 (60,6%) 49 (58,3%) 31 (64,6%) 0,480* 34,60 (30,25-34,65 (30,58-33,70 (28,10-35,65 (31,80-36,30 (32,60-34,80 (30,30-36,65 (32,60-36,65 (33,35-36,30 (31,48-0.093* 0,680* 0,569* Min. HCT 38,40) 38,18) 39,08) 39,10) 39,80) 37,50) 40,33) 40,48) 40,30) Decreased HCT 47 (81%) 33 (82,5%) 14 (77,8%) 0,724 104 (80%) 64 (77,1%) 40 (85,1%) 0,273* 97 (73,5%) 62 (73,8%) 35 (72,9%) 0,911* 11.55 (9.98-11.60 (10.15-10.85 (9.33-11.85 (10.48-12.10 (10.80-11.50 (9.80-12.25 (10.90-12.40 (10.98-11.95 (10.40-Min. HGB 0,545* 0,045* 0,380* 13,05) 12,98) 13,20) 13,20) 13,30) 12,60) 13,38) 13,28) 13,68) Decreased HGB 42 (72,4%) 30 (75%) 0,538 38 (80,9%) 0.077• 87 (65,9%) 54 (64,3%) 33 (68,8%) 0.603* 12 (66,7%) 93 (71,5%) 55 (66,3%) 10,73 (8,78-10,66 (8,59-10,84 (9,26-10,23 (7,28-9,56 (7,16-10,77 (7,76-9,42 (7,36-9,03 (7,34-10,00 (7,38-Max. WBC 0,290* 0,453* 0,488* 13,41) 13,12) 17,34) 13,88) 13,92) 13,60) 13,66) 13,57) 13,74) Increased WBC 35 (60,3%) 18 (45%) 9 (50%) 0,724• 66 (50,8%) 32 (38,6%) 23 (48,9%) 0,250• 60 (45,5%) 32 (38,1%) 23 (47,9%) 0,271• 0.67 (0.50-0.74 (0.51-0.63 (0.42-0.77 (0.63-0.78 (0.51-0.61 (0.47-0.83 (0.56-0.75 (0.54-0.64 (0.45-Min. LYM x 10^9/L 0.501* 0,014* 0,019* 1,10) 1,18) 1,10) 1,15) 1,20) 0,96) 1,01) 1,10) 0,93) Decreased LYM 31 (53,4%) 25 (62,5%) 12 (66,7%) 0,760* 69 (53,1%) 47 (56,6%) 33 (70,2%) 0,126* 78 (59,1%) 55 (65,5%) 33 (68,8%) 0,701• 8.80 (7.24-8.57 9,14 (7,94-8.62 (6.02-7.93 (5.32-9.30 (6.85-8,05 (6,08-7.80 (5.83-9,11 (6,35-0.243* 0.323* Max. NEU x 10^9/L 0.289* 11,48) (6, 68 - 11, 25)14,08) 12,45) 12,53) 12,43) 11,86) 11,58) 12,54) 0,238• Increased NEU 45 (77,6%) 20 (50%) 12 (66,7%) 85 (65,4%) 39 (47%) 27 (57,4%) 0,252• 82 (62,1%) 38 (45,2%) 25 (52,1%) 0,449• 0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-0,00 (0,00-Min. EO x 10⁹/L 0.915* 0.022* 0.011* 0,01) 0,00) 0,00) 0,01) 0,01) 0,0,4) 0,00) 0,00) 0,01) Decreased EO 45 (77,6%) 32 (80%) 13 (72,2%) 0.516 117 (90%) 73 (88%) 44 (93,6%) 0.374 113 (85,6%) 68 (81%) 45 (93,5%) 0.044* 294,79 256,11 435,27 358,53 330,56 431,37 334,73 324,70 365.66 Max. PLR (196.06-(193.85-(250.07-0.064* (247.53-(235.63-(269.84-0.008* (225.61-(236.08-(203.25-0.601* 461,08) 544,19) 414,59) 681,48) 519,85) 429,07) 576,47) 505,10) 581,29) Increased PLR 45 (77,6%) 31 (77,5%) 14 (77,8%) 1.000 110 (84,6%) 67 (80,7%) 43 (91,5%) 0.102* 106 (80,3%) 68 (81,0%) 38 (79,2%) 0.804* 12.01 (6.17-10,73 (5,52-14,67 (9,23-10.47 (6.36-8.86 (5.61-15,88 (8,87-10,92 (7,40-9.90 (6.74-12,70 (8,48-Max. NLR 0,122* 0,003* 0.032* 22,06) 15,75) 23,50) 17,78) 29,01) 18,87) 15,50) 15,78) 15,25) Increased NLR 53 (91,4%) 37 (92,5%) 16 (88,9%) 0.641 124 (95,4%) 79 (95,2%) 45 (95,7%) 1.000 128 (97,0%) 81 (96,4%) 47 (97,9%) 1,000

Table 4.2.2.2. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 2nd day of ICU admission

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.



Figure 4.2.2.1. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the LYM threshold of 0,8 X10⁹/L in the 2nd day of ICU admission (**A**) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (**B**, **C** and **D**).

The survival rate of patients with LYM counts lower than 0.8×10^{9} /L was significantly lower than that of the patients with LYM counts equal or superior to 0.8×10^{9} /L, in the 2nd COVID-19 wave (**Figure 4.2.1.1C**). These results are further supplemented by the tests reflected on **Table 4.2.1.3** (*P*=0.033).

	All patients	1 st Covid-19 Wave	2 nd Covid-19 Wave	3 rd Covid-19 Wave
	P Value	P Value	P Value	P Value
Log Rank (Mantel-Cox)	0,583	0,898	0,060	0,470
Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon)	0,295	0,813	0,031	0,781
Tarone-Ware	0,401	0,855	0,033	0,602

Table 4.2.1.3. Comparisons between survival functions for all patients with and without decreased LYM counts, and separate analysis for all COVID-19 waves in the 2nd day of ICU admission

Median EO counts were below normality ranges for discharged and deceased patients, in all COVID-19 waves. Significant differences between both groups regarding median EO counts were verified in the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} waves (*P*=0,022 and 0,011 respectively). The frequency of patients with decreased results was higher in the group of deceased patients for both waves (93,6% and 93,5%). Other reports described similar results. For example, Cortés-Vieyra *et al.* (204) determined that

eosinopenia was more frequent in deceased patients rather than in recovered ones, and that the survival rate of patients without eosinopenia was greater.

PLR was significantly different between discharged and deceased patients in the 2nd COVID-19 wave (*P*=0,008), and the same was observed for NLR in the 2nd and 3rd waves (*P*=0,003 and 0,032 respectively). Both ratios were highly elevated in all the waves, for both groups. Higher PLR and NLR values in deceased patients on admission have been reported by other authors (200,201). In one case, ROC curves were obtained to analyze the diagnostic values of PLR and NLR. The AUCs obtained for each ratio were 0,535 (95% CI; 0,46-0,60) and 0,703 (95% CI; 0,64-0,76), respectively (201).

In all COVID-19 waves PCT and CRP values were highly increased, but only in the 3^{rd} wave were there significant differences between the two groups of patients (*P*=0,002 and 0,024 respectively). Higher PCT levels in deceased COVID-19 patients have been reported, especially as the disease worsened (205,206). Other authors also showed that CRP values were much higher in patients who died, in comparisons with those who recovered (186).

To finalize this set biomarkers' analysis in the 2nd day of ICU admission, univariate logistic regression for each COVID-19 wave was applied to determine which biomarkers were related to the patients' outcome (discharge from the ICU or death) (**Table 4.2.1.4**). The univariate logistic regression analysis demonstrated that decreased RBC counts, PLRs and NLRs were associated with an increased risk of death in the 2nd wave. Thus, in this wave, the mortality risk was increased 2,4-fold for patients with decreased RBC counts. Also, for every unit increase in the PLR, the risk of mortality increased 0,2% and for every unit increase in the NLR the same risk increased by 5,7%. In the 3rd wave, for every unit increase in the levels of CRP, the risk of mortality increased by 0,4%. These results are in conformity with the former mentioned outcomes from other authors and with the differences found between groups in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves.

	Univariate logistic regression for patients in the 2 nd day of ICU admission								
		Crude OR	95% CI	P Value					
	Decreased RBCs	2,390	1,018-5,611	0,045					
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	Max. PLR	1,002	1,001-1,004	0,007					
	Max. NLR	1,057	1,018-1,097	0,004					
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Max. CRP (mg/L)	1,004	1,000-1,008	0,029					

Table 4.2.1.4. Statistically significant results from univariate logistic regression for Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers in the 2nd day of ICU admission

After assessing the differences between groups of patients in each COVID-19 wave, it was also investigated if these groups' laboratory results showed differences between waves. Separate comparisons between COVID-19 waves for discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.2.5**) led to the conclusion that, in the 2nd day of ICU admission, the median levels of PCT were significantly different between waves for discharged patients (P=0,035) and that the median levels of EO were significantly different between waves for deceased patients (P=0,026). Median CRP levels were significantly different between waves for both discharged and deceased patients (P=0,013 and 0,009 respectively).

Table 4.2.2.5. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 2nd day of ICU admission

	PCT median levels comparison between:	P Value
	All COVID-19 Waves (n=157)	0,035 [†]
ts	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,029†
ien	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,228†
d pat	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,879†
harge	CRP median levels comparison between:	P Value
Disc	All COVID-19 Waves (n=208)	0,013†
	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,010 [†]
	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,094†
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,986†
	CRP median levels comparison between:	P Value
	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113)	<i>P</i> Value 0,009 [†]
S	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009† 0,012†
ients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009† 0,012† 0,549†
l patients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009† 0,012† 0,549† 0,108†
ceased patients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves EO median levels comparison between:	P Value 0,009† 0,012† 0,549† 0,108† P Value
Deceased patients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves EO median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113)	P Value 0,009 [†] 0,012 [†] 0,549 [†] 0,108 [†] P Value 0,026 [†]
Deceased patients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves EO median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009 [†] 0,012 [†] 0,549 [†] 0,108 [†] P Value 0,026 [†] 0,025 [†]
Deceased patients	CRP median levels comparison between:All COVID-19 Waves (n=113)2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 WavesEO median levels comparison between:All COVID-19 Waves (n=113)2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009 [†] 0,012 [†] 0,549 [†] 0,108 [†] P Value 0,026 [†] 0,025 [†] 0,063 [†]
Deceased patients	CRP median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves EO median levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	P Value 0,009 [†] 0,012 [†] 0,549 [†] 0,108 [†] P Value 0,026 [†] 0,025 [†] 0,063 [†] 1,000 [†]

CRP median levels were much higher in the 1st wave, for both groups, leading to significant differences between the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves for both the discharged (P=0,010) and deceased (P=0,012) patients (Figure 4.2.2.2A, B). PCT median results were also much higher in the 1st wave, for the discharged patients, resulting in significant differences between the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves (P=0,029) (Figure 4.2.2.3C). The same happened for deceased patients regarding EOs median results, thus significant differences between the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves were observed (P=0,025) (Figure 4.2.2.2D). Buttenshon et al.(207) obtained similar results. When compared to patients from the 1st COVID-19 wave, patients from the 2nd wave appeared to have a less severe disease course. Additionally, a smaller number of patients required IMV and the time from symptom onset until hospital admission was shorter. In the present study, the same was verified relatively to the need for IMV but the time from symptom onset until hospital admission was the same for all COVID-19 waves. The significant differences detected between COVID-19 waves may result from different factors. Examples are the different restrictions that were in effect during the three waves; the fact that the initial treatment of COVID-19 was merely symptomatic; that the disease management evolved during the pandemic; and that different variants have been associated with the mortality rate of the disease but influence its course very differently (207).



Figure 4.2.2.2. Median time course, in each COVID-19 wave, for discharged (A) and deceased (B) patients' CRP levels, discharged patients' PCT levels (C) and deceased patients' EO levels (D), between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

To evaluate the patients' evolution after one week in the ICU, the same analysis made for the 2nd day was applied to the 7th day of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.2.6**). Thus 216 patients were included. In comparison to the 2nd day of ICU admission, PCT and CRP median results increased, but the percentage of patients with elevated values was smaller in both cases (89,9% vs. 66,2% and 100% vs. 99,1%). This could indicate that patients whose results did not return to normal had a worsening of their condition. RBC's, HCT and HGB medians decreased, with a rise in the percentages of patients with values under normality ranges (66,3% vs. 86%; 77,5% vs. 88,8%; and 69,4% vs. 88,3% respectively). WBC's and NEU's median results increased, elevating the percentage of patients with values above normality ranges (50,3% vs. 64,5% and 66,3% and 77,6%). LYM and EO medians also increased, diminishing the number of patients with results below normality ranges (55,6% vs. 48,1% and 85,9% vs. 36,4%). In general, the patients' condition between the two analyzed days worsened despite the implemented therapies in the ICU, which weren't considered in the present study.

Biomarkers	Missing Values	All Patients (n=216)
Max. PCT (ng/mL)	59 (27.3%)	0,32 (0,12-1,04)
Increased PCT	00 (11,070)	143 (66,2%)
Max. CRP (mg/L)	2 (0.9%)	180,65 (72,10-260,03)
Increased CRP	2 (0,370)	212 (99,1%)
Min. RBC x 10 ¹² /L	2(0.0%)	3,70 (3,20-4,08)
Decreased RBC	2 (0,978)	184 (86,0%)
Min. HCT (%)	2 (0.0%)	33,20 (28,78-36,75)
Decreased HCT	2 (0,976)	190 (88,8%)
Min. HGB x 10g/L	2(0.0%)	10,70 (9,30-11,90)
Decreased HGB	2 (0,976)	189 (88,3%)
Max. WBC x 10^9/L	2(0.0%)	11,82 (9,18-15,34)
Increased WBC	2 (0,978)	138 (64,5%)
Min. LYM x 10^9/L	2(0.0%)	0,81 (0,57-1,22)
Decreased LYM	2 (0,970)	103 (48,1%)
Max. Neu x 10^9/L	2(0.0%)	9,65 (7,21-13,46)
Increased NEU	2 (0,978)	166 (77,6%)
Min. EO x 10 ⁹ /L	2(0.0%)	0,05 (0,01-0,13)
Decreased EO	2 (0,976)	78 (36,4%)
Max. PLR	2 (0.0%)	368,14 (218,58-518,34)
Increased PLR	2 (0,9%)	173 (80,8%)
Max. NLR	2(0.0%)	11,40 (7,03-18,95)
Increased NLR	2 (0,9%)	208 (97,2%)

Table 4.2.2.6. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission

Comparisons between discharged and deceased patients for the 7th day of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.2.7**) once again didn't show significant differences between groups for the 1st COVID-19 wave. In the 2nd wave, all biomarker's medians were significantly different between groups, except for PCT, LYM's and PLR. In all cases, the group of deceased patients had worse results comparing to the discharged patients. Finally, in the 3rd wave, significant differences between groups were verified for PCT, CRP, WBCs, LYMs and NLR. Once again, the group of deceased patients remained the one with worse findings. This rise in the number of biomarkers with significant differences between groups on the 7th day of ICU admission is probably since the deceased patients' condition worsened more rapidly over time than that of discharged patients. In the 1st wave, patients' condition also deteriorated from the 2nd to the 7th days of ICU admission, but with no significant differences between groups.

All the analyzed biomarkers had an unfavorable evolution in the studied period of time, except for EO and LYM counts, which adapted increasing tendencies. These observations will be analyzed in detail further along.

Kaplan-Meier survival curves stratified according to the reference normality cut-off points were obtained for the present set of biomarkers, in the 7th day of ICU admission, for every COVID-19 wave. Survival functions were only significantly different considering the LYM threshold of 0,8 X10⁹/L (**Figure 4.2.2.3**).

Table 4.2.2.7. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 7th day of ICU admission

		First COVID-	19 Wave			Second COVID	-19 Wave			Third COVID-	19 Wave	
Biomarkers	All patients (n=39)	Discharged (n=27)	Deceased (n=12)	P Value	All patients (n=87)	Discharged (n=52)	Deceased (n=35)	P Value	All patients (n=90)	Discharged (n=58)	Deceased (n=32)	P Value
Max. PCT (ng/mL)	0,31 (0,15- 1,04)	0,20 (0,14- 1,10)	0,36 (0,24- 1,92)	0,313*	0,18 (0,09- 0,70)	0,16 (0,05- 0,54)	0,25 (0,10- 0,79)	0,126*	0,44 (0,17- 1,59)	0,37 (0,12- 0,76)	1,16 (0,26- 5,88)	0,008*
Increased PCT	31 (100%)	22 (100%)	9 (100%)	-	45 (78,9%)	21 (67,7%)	24 (92,3%)	0,023•	67 (97,1%)	40 (95,2%)	27 (100%)	0,517
Max. CRP (mg/L)	189,30 (81,50- 259,70)	189,80 (83,60- 258,10)	154,35 (52,30- 260,68)	0,499*	156,35 (53,05- 245,15)	104,55 (35,90- 226,00)	219,00 (119,58- 267,88)	0,003*	183,10 (89,80- 273,55)	169,20 (74,45- 260,70)	205,55 (154,45- 283,53)	0,019*
Increased CRP	39 (100%)	27 (100%)	12 (100%)	-	85 (98,8%)	51 (98,1%)	34 (100%)	1,000■	88 (98,9%)	56 (98,2%)	32 (100%)	1,000■
Min. RBC x 10 ¹² /L	3,67 (3,17- 4,01)	3,74 (3,41- 3,88)	3,38 (3,07- 4,01)	0,685*	3,71 (3,22- 4,17)	3,86 (3,37- 4,40)	3,30 (2,92- 3,88)	0,013*	3,70 (3,24- 4,08)	3,72 (3,36- 4,06)	3,69 (3,00- 4,26)	0,611*
Decreased RBC	36 (92,3%)	25 (92,6%)	11 (91,7%)	1,000■	71 (82,6%)	39 (75%)	32 (94,1%)	0,022•	77 (85,6%)	51 (89,5%)	26 (81,3%)	0,337
Min. HCT	32,30 (28,40- 36,60)	32,90 (30,70- 36,50)	30,30 (26,98- 37,50)	0,518*	33,10 (28,65- 37,53)	34,30 (29,15- 39,10)	30,95 (27,38- 34,23)	0,015*	33,80 (29,05- 36,45)	33,80 (29,90- 35,85)	32,50 (27,08- 38,95)	0,794*
Decreased HCT	37 (94,9%)	26 (96,3%)	11 (91,7%)	0,526■	74 (86%)	41 (78,8%)	33 (97,1%)	0,024■	79 (88,8%)	52 (91,2%)	27 (84,4%)	0,485
Min. HGB	10,40 (9,50- 11,50)	10,60 (9,80- 11,50)	9,90 (8,73- 12,10)	0,558*	10,70 (9,28- 12,03)	11,30 (9,50- 12,88)	9,95 (8,85- 11,20)	0,008*	10,80 (9,30- 11,80)	10,80 (9,60- 11,65)	10,20 (8,65- 12,48)	0,596*
Decreased HGB	36 (92,3%)	25 (92,6%)	11 (91,7%)	1,000■	75 (87,2%)	42 (80,8%)	33 (97,1%)	0,044■	78 (87,6%)	51 (89,5%)	27 (84,4%)	0,515∎
Max. WBC	12,83 (9,53- 14,73)	12,83 (8,55- 14,20)	13,47 (10,70- 19,72)	0,159*	11,85 (9,27- 16,38)	10,83 (7,94- 14,33)	14,19 (10,59- 18,38)	0,014*	11,05 (9,15- 14,86)	10,29 (8,87- 13,17)	13,45 (9,53- 18,83)	0,043*
Increased WBC	27 (69,2%)	17 (63%)	10 (83,3%)	0,276■	58 (67,4%)	32 (61,5%)	26 (76,5)	0,149 •	53 (59,6%)	31 (54,4%)	22 (68,8%)	0,185°
Min. LYM x 10^9/L	0,82 (0,63- 1,34)	0,86 (0,73- 1,35)	0,68 (0,53- 1,26)	0,298*	0,86 (0,56- 1,10)	0,94 (0,57- 1,33)	0,78 (0,44- 0,99)	0,090*	0,76 (0,55- 1,27)	0,90 (0,60- 1,37)	0,61 (0,42- 0,80)	0,002*
Decreased LYM	18 (46,2%)	10 (37%)	8 (66,7%)	0,087•	38 (44,2%)	20 (38,5%)	18 (52,9%)	0,186 •	47 (52,8%)	23 (40,4%)	24 (75%)	0,002*
Max. NEU x 10^9/L	11,10 (7,70- 13,03)	9,52 (6,70- 12,55)	12,25 (9,30- 16,61)	0,104*	9,86 (7,17- 13,63)	9,28 (6,22- 12,31)	12,20 (8,96- 16,10)	0,003*	9,32 (7,25- 13,27)	8,71 (7,07- 11,00)	12,21 (8,33- 17,20)	0,010*
Increased NEU	30 (76,9%)	19 (70,4%)	11 (91,7%)	0,228■	66 (76,7%)	35 (67,3%)	31 (91,2%)	0,010•	70 (78,7%)	44 (77,2%)	26 (81,3%)	0,654•
Min. EO x 10 ⁹ /L	0,07 (0,00- 0,14)	0,09 (0,01- 0,15)	0,01 (0,00- 0,11)	0,118*	0,04 (0,00- 0,10)	0,06 (0,01- 0,13)	0,01 (0,00- 0,05)	0,004*	0,07 (0,02- 0,16)	0,08 (0,02- 0,19)	0,05 (0,01- 0,13)	0,229*
Decreased EO	14 (35,9%)	7 (25,9%)	7 (58,3%)	0,075	36 (41,9%)	16 (30,8%)	20 (58,8%)	0,010•	28 (31,5%)	15 (26,3%)	13 (40,6%)	0,163•
Max. PLR	353,19 (190,85- 500,00)	352,99 (190,85- 500,00)	374,27 (200,19- 508,83)	0,869*	361,94 (218,36- 522,26)	346,71 (201,15- 527,78)	386,26 (248,86- 526,32)	0,318*	393,83 (218,45- 559,93)	341,67 (200,03- 512,87)	424,03 (304,20- 590,37)	0,207*
Increased PLR	29 (74,4%)	20 (74,1%)	9 (75%)	1,000	70 (81,4%)	40 (76,9%)	30 (88,2%)	0,187•	74 (83,1%)	46 (80,7%)	28 (87,5%)	0,411•
Max. NLR	12,96 (7,70- 18,49)	8,82 (5,83- 15,98)	17,80 (12,77- 18,75)	0,056*	11,28 (6,34- 20,33)	9,26 (4,89- 18,42)	14,05 (8,36- 32,17)	0,002*	11,18 (7,49- 18,68)	9,61 (6,10- 15,66)	15,35 (10,08- 32,38)	<0,001*
Increased NLR	37 (94,9%)	26 (96,3%)	11 (91,7%)	0,526=	83 (96,5%)	49 (94,2%)	34 (100%)	0,274	88 (98,9%)	56 (98,2%)	32 (100%)	1,000

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.



Figure 4.2.2.3. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the LYM threshold of 0,8 X10⁹/L in the 7th day of ICU interment (**A**) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (**B**, **C** and **D**).

The survival rate of patients with LYM counts inferior to $0,8x10^{9}/L$ was significantly lower than that of the patients with LYM counts equal or superior to $0,8x10^{9}/L$, in the 3rd COVID-19 wave (**Figure 4.2.1.3D**). These results are further supplemented by the tests reflected on **Table 4.2.1.8** (*P*=0,048). Similarly to Zhang *et al.* (208), median LYMs counts remained low for the group of deceased patients in several time points. This is a very important finding, since decreases in LYMs counts are related to immune injury and poor prognosis. On the other hand, the groups of discharged patients had slightly decreased/ normal median LYMs counts that increased from the 2nd to the 7th days of ICU admission.

Table 4.2.2.8.	Comparisons	between	survival	functions	for all	patients	with	and	without	decreased	LYM	counts,	and
separate analy	sis for all COV	ID-19 war	ves in the	e 7 th day o	f ICU a	admission	ו						

	All patients	1 st Covid-19 Wave	2 nd Covid-19 Wave	3 rd Covid-19 Wave
	P Value	P Value	P Value	P Value
Log Rank (Mantel-Cox)	0,081	0,415	0,772	0,048
Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon)	0,113	0,473	0,958	0,029
Tarone-Ware	0,096	0,431	0,895	0,033

To complete the biomarker' analysis on the 7th day of ICU admission, univariate logistic regression was used to establish which biomarkers were related to the disease's outcome for all patients, in each COVID-19 wave (Table 4.2.1.9). The results were statistically significant for several variables in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves. This was probably due to the worsening of the patients' condition since the 2nd day of ICU admission and the lack of differences between groups in the 1st wave, for all biomarkers. Both in the 2nd and 3rd waves, for every unit increase in CRP levels (mg/L), the risk of mortality increased 0,5% (P=0,014 and 0,022 respectively). While in the 2nd wave, for every unit increase in WBC counts, the risk of mortality increased 10,5%, in the 3rd one it increased 11,8%. Regarding NEU counts, for every unit increase, the risk of mortality increased by 13,1% in the 2nd wave and 16,6% in the 3rd. Increased NEU counts also led to a 5-fold increased risk of mortality in the 2nd wave. Still regarding the same wave, the risk of mortality is increased by 5,3-fold in patients with decreased RBC counts and 8,9-fold in patients with decreased HCT results. Decreased EO counts also led to a 3,2-fold higher risk of death. Once again, in both the 2nd and 3rd waves, for every unit increase in NLR, the risk of death increased by 7,6%. Finally, in the 3rd wave, according to former obtained results, decreased LYM counts resulted in a 4,4-fold higher risk of mortality. These results led to the conclusion that patients with worse results in the 7th day of ICU admission were in higher risk of death that those in the 2nd day of ICU admission, depending on the evaluated biomarkers.

	Univariate logistic regression for patients in the 7 th day of ICU admission							
		Crude OR	95% CI	P Value				
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	Max. CRP (mg/L)	1,005	1,001-1,010	0,014				
	Decreased RBC	5,333	1,120-25,390	0,035				
	Decreased HCT	8,854	1,087-72,142	0,042				
	Min. HGB	0,734	0,576-0,935	0,012				
	Max. WBC	1,105	1,018-1,199	0,017				
	Max. NEU x 10^9/L	1,131	1,034-1,236	0,007				
	Increased NEU	5,019	1,342-18,772	0,017				
	Decreased EO	3,214	1,304-7,920	0,011				
	Max. NLR	1,076	1,027-1,128	0,002				
	Max. PCT (ng/mL)	1,326	1,026-1,714	0,031				
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Max. CRP (mg/L)	1,005	1,001-1,009	0,022				
	Max. WBC	1,118	1,020-1,225	0,018				
	Decreased LYM	4,435	1,699-11,574	0,002				
	Max. NEU x 10^9/L	1,166	1,051-1,294	0,004				
	Max. NLR	1,076	1,028-1,127	0,002				

Table 4.2.2.9. Statistically significant results from univariate logistic regression for Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission

Moving on to the separate comparisons between COVID-19 waves for discharged and deceased patients, this time for the 7th day after ICU admission (**Table 4.2.2.10**), significant differences for CRP levels in the group of discharged patients (*P*=0,026) and for PCT levels in the group of deceased patients (*P*=0,036) were obtained. PCT median levels were much higher in the 1st wave, leading to significant differences between the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves the group of deceased patients (P=0,030) (**Figure 4.2.2.4**). Besides not showing significant differences, for the group of discharged patients, differences between COVID-19 waves for CRP levels were most likely since these levels were also higher in the 1st wave (**Figure 4.2.2.4A**), in comparison with the 2nd wave.

Table 4.2.2.10. Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 7th day of ICU admission

Discharged patients	CRP levels comparison between:	P Value		
	All COVID-19 Waves (n=136)	0,026†		
	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,057†		
	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	1,000†		
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,080†		
Deceased patients	PCT levels comparison between:	P Value		
	All COVID-19 Waves (n=62)	0,036 [†]		
	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	1,000†		
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,030†		
	1 st and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0.987†		



Figure 4.2.2.4. PCT (ng/mL) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for deceased patients, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

To assess the patients' progress throughout their ICU stay, comparisons were made between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.1.11**). Variables with no significant differences between the two days weren't displayed.

Table 4.2.2.11. Comparisons of Inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers of all patients, the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission for each COVID-19 wave

		RBC x 10 ¹² /L	НСТ (%)	HGB x 10g/L	WBC x 10^9/L	LYM x 10^9/L	NEU x 10^9/L	EO x 10 ⁹ /L	NLR
1st COVID-19 Wave	Discharged patients (n=26)	<0,001	0,004	<0,001	0,091	0,005	0,269	0,001	0,469
	Deceased patients (n=12)	0,028	0,041	0,028	0,136	0,367	0,117	0,123	0,308
	All patients (n=38)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,032	0,005	0,072	<0,001	0,255
2 nd COVID- 19 Wave	Discharged patients (n=52)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,672	0,021	0,816	<0,001	0,489
	Deceased patients (n=34)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,874	<0,001	0,001	0,023
	All patients (n=86)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,010	0,061	0,039	<0,001	0,294
3 rd COVID- 19 Wave	Discharged patients (n=57)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,221	0,001	0,636	<0,001	0,040
	Deceased patients (n=32)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,024	0,594	0,047	<0,001	0,112
	All patients (n=89)	<0,001	<0,001	<0,001	0,018	0,010	0,088	<0,001	0,613

P-values represent the comparison of the median of a given biomarker on the 2nd day with that of the 7th day of ICU admission. All *P* values obtained through related-samples Wilcoxon matched-pair signed rank test.

RBC's, HCT and HMG median results were significantly different between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission. For both the discharged and deceased patients, median HGB levels dropped in the course of the 7 considered days, along with the decrease of HCT (**Figure 4.2.2.5A**, **B**) and RBC counts (**Figure 4.2.2.5C**, **D**). In this study the discussed changes were observed, in different degrees, for all tree COVID-19 waves (despite only being displayed, as an example, the results of the 1st COVID-19 wave). These changes were already verified by other authors, who correlated the decreases in HGB with pulmonary involvement and subsequent oxygen demand (209). HGB levels were always significantly lower in the group of deceased patients, results which were consistent with the ones reported by Kilercik *et al.* (197).



Figure 4.2.2.5. Median time course for deceased and discharged patients HGB levels drop between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission, along with HCT (**A** and **B**) and RBCs (**C** and **D**).

Regarding median WBC counts, significant differences were found between the 2^{nd} and 7^{th} days of admission for all patients, in every COVID-19 wave (*P*=0,032; 0,010 and 0,018 respectively) (**Figure 4.2.2.6A**). A significant increase in these biomarkers can be seen along the 7 days of ICU admission. Significant increases in WBCs median levels between the two days were also verified for the 2^{nd} (*P*<0,001) and 3^{rd} (*P*=0,024) COVID-19 waves, in the group of deceased patients (**Figure 4.2.2.6B, C**). In the group of discharged patients, a small increase in WBC median levels also occurred, but wasn't significative or as severe as for the deceased patients.



Figure 4.2.2.6. Median time course for all patients' WBC levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (**B**), 2nd (**C**) and 3rd (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Increases in NEUs median levels between the two considered days were also significant for the 2nd (*P*<0,001) and 3rd (*P*=0,047) COVID-19 waves, in the group of deceased patients (**Figure 4.2.2.7B**, **C**). This type of increases in the first days of ICU admission, which persist throughout the patients ICU stay, were already described by Chen *et al.* (210). In their report, these changes were correlated with a fatal outcome. In the group of discharged patients, a small increase in NEU median levels also occurred, but wasn't significative or as severe as for the deceased patients. In the 1st wave (**Figure 4.2.2.7A**), the group of discharged patients had a marked increase of NEU median levels, but it was most likely caused by outliers or even hospital acquired infections, as blood NEU levels typically increase in the presence of infectious agents. This could be a plausible explanation since in cases of COVID-19, patients' NEU counts are mostly increased in the first days and start to decrease after treatment (189).

By examining the graphic representation of median band lines both WBC and NEU counts, it was once again demonstrated that the current leukocytosis is supported by neutrophilia as the graphic representations are quite similar, even when there is no separation between COVID-19 waves or patient groups (**Figure 4.2.2.7D**).



Figure 4.2.27. Discharged and deceased patients' NEU median time course between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission, for the 1st (**A**), 2nd (**B**) and 3rd (**C**) COVID-19 waves and comparison between WBC and NEU levels (**D**) from all patients.

Median LYM counts were significantly higher in the 7th day of ICU admission, in comparison with the 2nd day, for all patients in the 1st (*P*=0,005) and 3rd (*P*=0,010) COVID-19 waves (**Figure 4.2.2.8A**). In the 2nd wave, LYM levels were relatively stable and between normality ranges until the 8th day of ICU admission. Despite being in the lower range of normality in the first days of ICU admission, LYM levels of discharged patients showed an increasing tendency in each COVID-19 wave (*P*=0,005; 0,021 and 0,001 respectively) (**Figure 4.2.2.8B-D**).





Figure 4.2.2.8. Median time course for all patients' LYM levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1^{st} (**B**), 2^{nd} (**C**) and 3^{rd} (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

Deceased patients, on the other hand, maintained lower levels of LYM in the first week of ICU internment, or those even declined, as seen in the 3rd wave. Findings like these were already reported in other large longitudinal studies (179,210). After day six of ICU internment, the LYM levels of deceased patients appeared to start increasing (finding not wet described in other reports). This growing trend contrasts with certain authors' studies, which show persistent declines in LYM levels during the course of the hospitalization (211).

EO median levels also shown significant differences between the 2nd and 7th days of admission for all patients, in every COVID-19 wave (P<0,001 for all cases) (Figure 4.2.2.9A). The group of deceased patients showed null median EO counts in the first four days of ICU admission for the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves (Figure 4.2.2.9C, D) and in the first 2 days for the 1st wave (Figure 4.2.2.9B). In the other hand, this only happened in the first two days of ICU admission for the group of discharged patients, also in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves. These results are consistent with recent research, which demonstrated that in recovered patients, EO counts of zero occurred in a lower percentage (49,2%) than in deceased patients (78,3%) (204). Right after these low results, EO counts of the present study sample tended to increase (except for the group of deceased patients from the 1st COVID-19 wave). After the 4th/5th days of ICU admission, discharged patients started to have EO counts between normality ranges (0,03-0,6x10⁹/L) in all waves, since for deceased patients that only happened between the 7th/8th days. Besides not being observed in the present study, eosinophilia may play a protective role in COVID-19 patients due to the better outcomes of patients with this clinical manifestation (204). According to Nair et al.(212) eosinophilia is associated with milder disease courses and better outcomes. Thus, patients with elevated EO counts required less time with IMV and oxygen supplementation, spent less time in the ICU, and had lower CRP levels. Because EO's have beneficial functions such as controlling the inflammation generated by NEUs (204), it is reasonable to deduce that the fact that EO counts of dying patients took longer to start increasing led to worse outcomes.



Figure 4.2.2.9. Median time course for all patients' EO levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1^{st} (**B**), 2^{nd} (**C**) and 3^{rd} (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

Significant differences between the NLR results of the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission were only verified for the group of deceased patients in the 2nd COVID-19 wave (*P*=0,023) and for the group of discharged patients in the 3rd wave (*P*=0,040). Despite this observation, all patients' NLR had an increasing tendency, in all waves, until the 6th day of ICU admission (**Figure 4.2.2.10A**). Ye *et al.* (213) verified that the initial value of NLR and its peak were significantly higher in the group of deceased patients (*P*<0,001). In this study, NLR values and peak values were always greater in the group of deceased patients, in all COVID-19 waves (**Figure 4.2.2.10B-D**). The increasing values of NLR means either that NEU counts are increasing or that the LYM counts are decreasing (190). In this case, NLR increased probably due to the increases in NEU counts.




Figure 4.2.2.10. Median time course for all patients' NLR in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the discharged and deceased patients in the 1^{st} (**B**), 2^{nd} (**C**) and 3^{rd} (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

Considering the longitudinal data corresponding to the UCI stay, associations between inflammatory and other hematological biomarkers and death were tested by means of univariate GEEs models (Table 4.2.1.12). For the entire period of ICU admission, in the 1st wave, for every unit increase in EO counts, the risk of death decreased by 0,3%. Also, patients with decreased EO counts had an increased risk of death of 0,9% in the 2nd wave, and of 1,4% in the 3rd wave. For every unit increase of WBCs and NEUs, the risk of death increased 0,1% and 0,2% respectively, both in the 2nd and 3rd waves. In the 2nd wave, patients with increased WBCs and NEU, had an increased risk of death of 1,5% and 1,8% respectively. Regarding LYMs, for every unit increase the risk of death decreased 1,5% in the 2nd wave and 1,6% in the 3rd wave. Also, for patients with decreased LYM counts, the risk of death increased 1,4% in the 2nd wave and 2,7% in the 3rd wave. When compared to univariate logistic regression, variables that were not related to the risk of mortality in the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission were shown to be in fact associated with an elevated risk of death when the longitudinal data was analyzed through univariate GEEs models. These findings demonstrate the importance of studying data using various approaches in order to reach diverse conclusions, such as the fact that some biomarkers predict higher risks of death when analyzed on a single day, and others only detected that risk when analyzed over a longer period of time.

Table 4.2.2.12. Statistically significant results from univariate GEEs models for inflammatory and other hematologic biomarkers in each COVID-19 wave

_		OR	95% CI	P Value
1 st COVID-19 Wave	Min. EO x 10 ⁹ /L	0,997	0,993-1,000	0,043
	Min. LYM x 10^9/L	0,985	0,977-0,993	<0,001
	Decreased LYM	1,014	1,005-1,023	0,002
	Decreased EO	1,009	1,004-1,015	<0,001
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	Max. WBC x 10^9/L	1,001	1,001-1,002	0,001
	Increased WBC	1,015	1,007-1,024	<0,001
	Max. Neu x 10^9/L	1,002	1,000-1,002	<0,001
	Increased NEU	1,018	1,009-1,027	<0,001
	Min. LYM x 10^9/L	0,984	0,973-0,995	0,004
	Decreased LYM	1,027	1,017-1,038	<0,001
	Min. EO x 10 ⁹ /L	0,968	0,954-0,982	<0,001
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Decreased EO	1,014	1,006-1,022	0,001
	Max. WBC x 10^9/L	1,001	1,000-1,002	0,032
	Max. Neu x 10^9/L	1,002	1,000-1,003	0,006
	Increased NEU	1,013	1,001-1,024	0,021

4.2.3. Coagulation biomarkers

Regarding coagulation-related biomarkers, to characterize the sample in the 2nd day of ICU admission 325 patients' laboratory results were analyzed (**Table 4.2.3.1**). Other coagulation biomarkers like activated thromboplastin time, factor V and homocysteine weren't included in the following analysis due to high number of missing values. In the studied sample, 37,9% of the patients had increased INR, 89,9% had increased DDs, 81,8% had increased FIB and 88% had increased FER. Minimum and maximum values for PLT counts were obtained, being that 14,1% of the patients had decreased results (thrombocytopenia) and 4,7% of them had increased results (thrombocytosis).

Biomarkers	Normality Ranges	Missing Values	All Patients (n=325)
Max. INR	0 80-1 20	11 (3 1%)	1,17 (1,09-1,27)
Increased INR	0,00-1,20	11 (3,470)	119 (37,9%)
Min. PLTs (x10 ⁹ /L)	150 450	5 (1 5%)	239,50 (183,25-301,00)
Decreased PLTs	130-430	5 (1,576)	45 (14,1%)
Max. PLTs (x10 ⁹ /L)	150-450	5 (1 5%)	258,50 (201,00-323,50)
Increased PLTs	130-430	5 (1,576)	15 (4,7%)
Max. DDs (µg/L)	< 230	11 (3 1%)	758,00 (362,50-2412,00)
Increased DDs	< 230	11 (3,470)	267 (89,9%)
Max. FIB (g/L)	2-4	111 (3/ 2%)	5,40 (4,50-6,70)
Increased FIB	2-4	111 (34,270)	175 (81,8%)
Max. FER (ng/mL)	30-340	108 (33.2%)	1032,60 (573,10-2285,05)
Increased FER	00-040	100 (00,270)	191 (88,0%)

Table 4.2.3.1. Coagulation-related biomarkers in the 2nd day of ICU admission

Comparisons between patients discharged from the ICU and those who died (Table 4.2.3.2) reveled no significant differences regarding median INR, FIB and FER levels in all COVID-19 waves. Median INR results were only above normality ranges for deceased patients, in the 2nd wave. Although, in the same wave, 50% of the patients had elevated results, meaning that the increases above normality ranges for INR weren't very significative. In a systematic review and meta-analysis, patients that didn't survive during follow-up had significantly elevated INR values, especially in the first 24 to 48 hours after admission, in comparison to those who were discharged (214). INR increasing trends are related to endothelial cell damage or activation caused by the infection by SARS-CoV-2. When compromised, endothelial cells express high levels of tissue factor, the main trigger of the coagulation cascade (in COVID-19 cases the extrinsic cascade is the most affected, thereby influencing INR results). This activation leads to the formation of thrombin, which further converts FIB into fibrin. This protein is involved in the coagulation of blood, together with PLTs that get entangled in the fibrin clot. In order to maintain homeostasis, a set of cofactors and inhibitors regulated a process called fibrinolysis were plasmin breaks down the fibrin clot. During this process fibrin and degradation products like DDs are released (215,216). Thus, one can understand why there could be increases in the INR, FIB and DDs results and decreases in PLTs counts (PLTs are less available in the blood stream since they are being used to form clots), and why these biomarkers results could be correlated.

	Biomarkers	All patients (n=59)	Discharged (n=41)	Deceased (n=18)	P value
	Max. INR	1,18 (1,12-1,30)	1,18 (1,12-1,29)	1,17 (1,11-1,36)	0,857*
	Increased INR	21 (36,8%)	14 (35,9%)	7 (38,9%)	0,828•
lave	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	228,50 (162,25-280,25)	213,50 (166-270)	260,00 (156,75-337,50)	0,187*
N 61	Decreased PLTs	11 (19%)	8 (20%)	3 (16,7%)	1,000=
ļ	Max. DDs (µg/L)	1227,00 (502,00-3949,00)	1127 (549-3679)	1305 (493,00-5997,75)	0,747*
ŝ	Increased DDs	54 (98,2%)	36 (97,3%)	18 (100%)	1,000=
Irst	Max. FIB (g/L)	5,80 (4,13-7,53)	5,80 (3,78-7,53)	5,90 (4,88-7,53)	0,608*
ΪĒ	Increased FIB	34 (77,3%)	20 (71,4%)	14 (87,5%)	0,283
	Max. FER (ng/mL)	1138,80 (692,20-2583,30)	1191,20 (731,70-2421,80)	947,60 (557,50-3173,30)	0,924*
	Increased FER	44 (88%)	32 (91,4%)	14 (93,3%)	0,654
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=133)	Discharged (n=83)	Deceased (n=50)	P value
	Max. INR	1,21 (1,13-1,31)	1,19 (1,14-1,31)	1,22 (1,12-1,34)	0,455*
ve	Increased INR	63 (50%)	39 (49,4%)	24 (51,1%)	0,854•
Wa	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	251,00 (193,00-304,75)	257 (196-308)	239 (191-297)	0,541*
0-19	Decreased PLTs	16 (12,3%)	11 (13,3%)	5 (10,6%)	0,663•
	Max. DDs (µg/L)	699,50 (358,50-2743,50)	629 (330-2660)	853 (390-3652)	0,243*
S S	Increased DDs	111 (89,5%)	68 (86,1%)	43 (95,6%)	0,131
Sone	Max. FIB (g/L)	5,20 (4,10-6,23)	5,20 (4,40-6,48)	5,10 (3,83-6,08)	0,321*
Sec	Increased FIB	75 (76,5%)	49 (79%)	26 (72,2%)	0,443•
	Max. FER (ng/mL)	906,50 (501,20-1805,95)	928,80 (584,50-1901,50)	770,30 (348,90-1797,98)	0,180*
	Increased FER	80 (86%)	53 (89,8%)	29 (85,3%)	0,216∎
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=133)	Discharged (n=85)	Deceased (n=48)	P value
	Max. INR	1,11 (1,04-1,21)	1,11 (1,04-1,22)	1,12 (1,04-1,20)	0,429*
e	Increased INR	35 (26,7%)	26 (31,3%)	9 (18,8%)	0,117•
Wav	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	227,00 (182,00-310,25)	246,50 (198,75-326,50)	210,50 (147,00-266,75)	0,006*
-19	Decreased PLTs	18 (13,6%)	6 (7,1%)	12 (25%)	0,004•
٨D	Max. DDs (µg/L)	660,50 (323,75-1517,00)	479,00 (268,50-1024,50)	795,00 (420,50-1922,50)	0,024*
8	Increased DDs	102 (86,4%)	60 (82,2%)	42 (93,3%)	0,086•
hird	Max. FIB (g/L)	5,75 (4,73-7,00)	6,10 (5,00-7,00)	5,60 (4,70-6,75)	0,349*
F	Increased FIB	66 (91,7%)	39 (90,7%)	27 (93,1%)	1,000
	Max. FER (ng/mL)	1265,55 (685,68-2580,35)	1265,55 (692,15-2508,20)	1270,95 (662,00-3639,83)	0,634*
	Increased FER	67 (90,5%)	45 (93,8%)	23 (88,5%)	0,691

Table 4.2.3.2. Coagulation-related biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 2nd day of ICU admission

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.

On average, INR median results were higher for deceased patients. Other authors have obtained similar results where, at admission, non-survivors developed not only significant higher PT, but also higher aPTT in comparison with survivors (217, 218). There was also a higher frequency of patients with increased results in this group, except in the 3rd COVID-19 wave. In this case, besides 31,3% of the discharged patients having increased results (in comparison with the 18,8% of the deceased patients), median INR was still lower than the one from deceased patients.

Regarding FIB median results, all groups of patients from every COVID-19 wave demonstrated values above normality ranges. No significant differences were found between groups regarding FIB results. In the first two waves, the percentage of patients with increased results varied from 70% to 88%. In the 3rd wave, this percentage increased, reaching percentages above 90% for both groups. Li *et al.*

(219) found that Δ FIB was one of the co-variates associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19 (OR=6,45 (1,31; 31,69); *P*=0,022). High FIB in early stages of the disease has been classified as a risk factor for severe COVID-19 and correlated with excessive inflammation and ICU admission (220–222).

DDs median results were higher in the group of deceased patients for all COVID-19 waves, but significant differences between groups were only verified in the 3^{rd} wave (*P*=0,024). Independently of the wave, deceased patients also had higher percentages of increased results but, in general, this percentages were always above 85% for all groups. DDs can help diagnose thrombosis and can be used as a biomarker for poor prognosis in the early stages of infection (186). The high results seen in this study can be related to the fact that, as formerly reported, DDs are higher in COVID-19 patients that need intensive care. According to Zhang et al. (223) DDs levels above 2mg/L can be used as mortality indicators with 92% sensitivity and 83% of specificity.

Median PLT counts didn't decrease below normality ranges, but 7-20% of the discharged and 10-25% of the deceased patients had decreased values. Deceased patients had, more commonly, lower mean PLT counts, but only in the 3rd COVID-19 wave were there significant differences between discharged and deceased patients regarding their PLR counts (*P*=0,006) and the proportion of cases with decreased results (*P*=0,004). Just like in the present study, thrombocytopenia (more frequently) and thrombocytosis have been seen among COVID-19 patients, but most studies have correlated thrombocytopenia with unfavorable outcomes (186). Low PLT counts have been associated with disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients (218).

Finally, FER, an indirect marker of the quantity of iron stored in the body, was highly above normality ranges in all COVID-19 waves. This results from the attack to HGB by SARS-CoV-2, that leads to the release of iron into the circulation. Besides reducing the rate of oxygen binding, the excess of iron can cause oxidative damage to organs like the lungs and worsen the inflammatory process. The excess iron is stored in proteins like FER, further increasing the blood's viscosity and thus contributing to thrombotic mechanisms (224). According to Feld *et al.* (225), although elevated FER levels are associated with mortality, prediction of important outcomes like death using solely this biomarker aren't reliable. Controversially, according to another study, FER can be used as a predictive biomarker for severe disease and/or worse outcomes in COVID-19. Yet, FER results must be interpreted cautiously due to effect of other comorbidities and diseases. The same authors also detected higher FER serum levels in groups of non-survivors, when compared to survivors (226). In the present study, higher median FER results were verified in the group of discharged patients for the 1st and 2nd COVID-19 waves. In the 3rd wave, the opposite was observed, although a higher percentage of discharged patients had increased results (93,8% Vs. 88,5%). In the presence of this results, study of patients' underling comorbidities and diseases would be useful.

Next, Kaplan-Meier survival curves from each COVID-19 wave were obtained for the groups of patients with and without "Decreased PLTs" (**Figure 4.2.3.1**).



Figure 4.2.3.1. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the PLT threshold of 150 x10⁹/L in the 2nd day of ICU interment (A) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (B, C and D).

The survival rate of patients with PLT counts inferior to 150×10^{9} /L was significantly lower (*P*<0,001) than that of patients with PLT counts equal or superior to 150×10^{9} /L, in the 3rd COVID-19 wave (**Table 4.2.3.3**). He *et al.* (227) obtained similar results, stating that patients with higher PLT levels at admission were associated with preferred survival.

	All patients	1 st Covid-19 Wave	2 nd Covid-19 Wave	3 rd Covid-19 Wave
	P Value	P Value	P Value	P Value
Log Rank (Mantel-Cox)	0,278	0,537	0,775	<0,001
Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon)	0,292	0,275	0,566	<0,001
Tarone-Ware	0,252	0,377	0,647	<0,001

Table 4.2.3.3. Comparisons between survival functions for all patients with and without decreased PLT counts, and separate analysis for all COVID-19 waves in the 2nd day of ICU admission

Towards finishing the biomarkers' analysis in the 2nd day of ICU admission, univariate logistic regression for all patients in each COVID-19 wave was applied to determine which biomarkers were related to the disease's outcome (**Table 4.2.3.4**). Statistically significant results were only obtained for PLTs in the 3rd wave. Thus, for every unit increase in PLT counts, the risk of death decreases by 0,6% and for patients with decreased PLT counts the mortality risk in increased 4,3-fold. These results are consistent with the former survival analysis for the 3rd COVID-19 wave.

Table 4.2.3.4. Statistically significant results from univariate logistic regression for coagulation-related biomarkers in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission

	Univariate logistic regression for patients in the 2 nd day of ICU admission					
		Crude OR	95% CI	P Value		
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	0,994	0,989-0,998	0,006		
	Decreased PLTs	4,333	1,506-12,465	0,007		

Following the analysis of patients' coagulation biomarkers in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission, in each COVID-19 wave, it was also determined whether the laboratory results of discharged and deceased patients differed between waves. Separate comparisons between COVID-19 waves for discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.3.5**) lead to the conclusion that, in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission, the median INR was significantly different between waves for discharged and deceased patients (*P*<0,001 in both cases). The median levels of DDs and PLT were also significantly different between waves for the group of discharged patients (*P*=0,003 and 0,041 respectively).

Table 4.2.3.5. Coagulation-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across

 COVID-19 waves, for discharged and deceased patients in the 2nd day of ICU admission

	DDs levels comparison between:	P Value
ients	All COVID-19 Waves (n=189)	0,003 [†]
	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,070†
	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,002 [†]
	3 rd and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	0,410†
	INR comparison between:	P Value
pati	All COVID-19 Waves (n=201)	<0,001 [†]
ged	1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
lischarç	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,012 [†]
	3 rd and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	<0,001 [†]
	PLT levels comparison between:	P Value
	All COVID-19 Waves (n=207)	0,041 [†]
	1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	0,067†
	1 st and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,057†
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves INR levels comparison between:	1,000 [↑] <i>P</i> Value
sed Its	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves INR levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113)	1,000 [↑] <i>P</i> Value <0,001 [†]
ceased trients	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves INR levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	1,000 [↑] <i>P</i> Value <0,001 [†] 1,000 [†]
Deceased patients	2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves INR levels comparison between: All COVID-19 Waves (n=113) 1 st and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves 3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	1,000 [↑] <i>P</i> Value <0,001 [↑] 1,000 [†] 0,041 [†]

The fact that median DDs levels were significantly higher in the 2^{nd} day of ICU admission for the 1^{st} wave in contrast to the 3^{rd} wave (*P*=0,002) could explain the considerable disparities identified between discharged patients' DDs median levels between waves (**Figure 4.2.3.2**). Median PLTs levels also displayed significant differences between waves for the discharged patients, possibly because PLTs counts were significantly lower in the 1^{st} wave, in comparison with the 3^{rd} one (*P*=0,041) (**Figure 4.2.3.3**).







INR median levels disparities between waves, for both the discharged and deceased groups, were due to significant differences between the results of the 1st and 3rd (P=0,012 and 0,041 respectively) and 2nd and 3rd (P<0,001 for both groups) COVID-19 waves. This means that both the patients of the discharged and the decease groups had lower median INR results in the 3rd wave (**Figures 4.2.3.4A, B**).



Figure 4.2.3.4. Discharged (A) and deceased (B) patients' median time course by COVID-19 wave, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Based on this data it can be inferred that discharged patients of the 3rd wave had better INR, PLT counts and DDs results (**Figures 4.2.3.2/ 3/ 4A**). On the other hand, in the 1st wave DDs were higher for both discharged and deceased patients, PLT counts were lower, and FIB and FER levels were elevated, possibly meaning that because patients were advised to stay at home in the 1st wave, the time until hospital admission was greater (180). This could also mean that these patients arrived at the hospital at different stages of the disease and thus with different levels of severity. Because only the IQR of the number of days between symptom onset/RT-PCR diagnosis and ICU admission was somewhat higher in the 1st wave of this study, other factors such as changes in SARS-CoV-2 variants and treatment courses as the pandemic progressed could be at play.

To assess the patients' evolution after one week in the ICU, 216 patients were included (**Table 4.2.3.6**). It was concluded that the frequency of patients with results outside of normality ranges

increased for all biomarkers (excepted FER results which were increased for 88% of the study sample in the two evaluated days). The median results of the biomarkers also increased, indicating that the remaining patients' coagulation state deteriorated with time.

Biomarkers	Missing Values	All Patients (n=216)
Max. INR	3 (1 10/)	1,23 (1,14-1,33)
Increased INR	3 (1,478)	125 (58,7%)
Min. PLTs (x10 ⁹ /L)	2 (0.0%)	284,00 (216,50-359,00)
Decreased PLTs	2 (0,9%)	19 (8,9%)
Max. DDs (µg/L)	30 (0 3%)	1176,00 (564,00-2675,50)
Increased DDs	30 (3,378)	190 (96,9%)
Max. FIB (g/L)	114 (52 8%)	6,95 (5,10-8,70)
Increased FIB	114 (32,076)	93 (91,2%)
Max. FER (ng/mL)	96 (11 1%)	1349,65 (587,25-2362,23)
Increased FER	30 (44,470)	105 (87,5%)

Table 4.2.3.6. Coagulation-related biomarkers in the 7th day of ICU admission

The next step involved analyzing the patients' condition in the 7th day of ICU admission, for each wave, between the groups of discharged and deceased patients (**Table 4.2.3.7**). This time, due to more missing values for some variables, their analysis wasn't preformed.

Table 4.2.3.7. Coagulation-related biomarkers of all patients and comparisons between the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died, for all COVID-19 waves in the 7th day of ICU admission

	Biomarkers	All patients (n=39)	Discharged (n=27)	Deceased (n=12)	P value
	Max. INR	1,25 (1,15-1,36)	1,25 (1,15-1,37)	1,24 (1,09-1,34)	0,505*
	Increased INR	22 (57,9%)	16 (61,5%)	6 (50%)	0,503•
ave	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	267 (203-356)	286 (222-407)	234 (178,25-296,25)	0,168*
N 6	Decreased PLTs	5 (12,8%)	3 (11,1%)	2 (16,7%)	-
Ę	Max. DDs (µg/L)	2090 (773-4148)	1340 (435-2812)	3888 (1542,25-8718,75)	0,018*
No.	Increased DDs	39 (100%)	27 (100%)	12 (100%)	-
rst (Max. FIB (g/L)	7,30 (6,40-8,95)	7,30 (6,50-9,65)	6,80 (3,68-8,40)	0,210*
ίĒ	Increased FIB	18 (85,7%)	12 (92,3%)	6 (75%)	0,531
	Max. FER (ng/mL)	1589,70 (933,00-2021,00)	1592,25 (837,83-2053,80)	1450,60 (1134,50- 2325,70)	0,685*
	Increased FER	30 (96,8%)	21 (95,5%)	9 (100%)	1,000
	Biomarkers	All patients (n=87)	Discharged (n=52)	Deceased (n=35)	P value
	Max. INR	1,26 (1,18-1,36)	1,24 (1,17-1,33)	1,31 (1,21-1,36)	0.105*
ave	Increased INP				-,
~	increased ink	57 (66,3%)	31 (59,6%)	26 (76,5%)	0,106•
9 W	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50)	0,106• 0,856*
ID-19 W	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%)	0,106• 0,856* -
COVID-19 W	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs Max. DDs (µg/L)	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%) 1070,50 (574,00-2652,75)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%) 1052 (481-2473)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%) 1693 (706-3175)	0,106• 0,856* - 0,465*
nd COVID-19 Wa	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs Max. DDs (µg/L) Increased DDs	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%) 1070,50 (574,00-2652,75) 75 (96,2%)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%) 1052 (481-2473) 45 (95,7%)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%) 1693 (706-3175) 30 (96,8%)	0,106• 0,856* - 0,465* 1,000•
scond COVID-19 W	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs Max. DDs (µg/L) Increased DDs Max. FIB (g/L)	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%) 1070,50 (574,00-2652,75) 75 (96,2%) 5,70 (4,60-7,30)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%) 1052 (481-2473) 45 (95,7%) 5,45 (4,75-7,20)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%) 1693 (706-3175) 30 (96,8%) 6,00 (4,35-8,20)	0,106• 0,856* - 0,465* 1,000• 0,593*
Second COVID-19 Wa	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs Max. DDs (µg/L) Increased DDs Max. FIB (g/L) Increased FIB	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%) 1070,50 (574,00-2652,75) 75 (96,2%) 5,70 (4,60-7,30) 38 (88,4%)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%) 1052 (481-2473) 45 (95,7%) 5,45 (4,75-7,20) 23 (88,5%)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%) 1693 (706-3175) 30 (96,8%) 6,00 (4,35-8,20) 15 (88,2%)	0,106• 0,856* - 0,465* 1,000• 0,593* 1,000•
Second COVID-19 Wa	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L Decreased PLTs Max. DDs (µg/L) Increased DDs Max. FIB (g/L) Increased FIB Max. FER (ng/mL)	57 (66,3%) 283,50 (221,75-361,75) 7 (8,1%) 1070,50 (574,00-2652,75) 75 (96,2%) 5,70 (4,60-7,30) 38 (88,4%) 829,70 (332,30-2090,60)	31 (59,6%) 287,00 (223,00-358,75) 4 (7,7%) 1052 (481-2473) 45 (95,7%) 5,45 (4,75-7,20) 23 (88,5%) 776,90 (359,75-1993,48)	26 (76,5%) 283,50 (212,25-373,50) 3 (8,8%) 1693 (706-3175) 30 (96,8%) 6,00 (4,35-8,20) 15 (88,2%) 935,20 (249,50-2722,55)	0,106• 0,856* - 0,465* 1,000• 0,593* 1,000• 0,949*

	Biomarkers	All patients (n=90)	Discharged (n=58)	Deceased (n=32)	P value
	Max. INR	1,21 (1,12-1,28)	1,90 (1,12-1,28)	1,23 (1,14-1,28)	0,216*
	Increased INR	46 (51,7%)	25 (43,9%)	21 (65,6%)	0,049•
Vavo	Min. PLTs x10 ⁹ /L	287,00 (214,50-359,50)	305,00 (237,50-385,50)	237,00 (184,50-316,50)	0,005*
19 V	Decreased PLTs	7 (7,9%)	2 (3,5%)	5 (15,6%)	-
OVID-	Max. DDs (µg/L)	942 (547-2145)	715,00 (479,50-1300,50)	1817,50 (941,00-2977,50)	<0,001*
	Increased DDs	76 (96,2%)	46 (93,9%)	30 (100%)	0,284
ird (Max. FIB (g/L)	7,60 (5,45-9,33)	7,40 (5,20-9,40)	7,70 (5,80-9,30)	0,729*
Ч	Increased	37 (97,4%)	19 (100%)	18 (94,7%)	1,000
	Max EER (ng/ml.)	1776 70 (000 35-2816 05)	1330 20 (640 18-2431 15)	2072,95 (1283,23-	0.057*
		1110,10 (300,33-2010,03)	1000,20 (040,10-2401,10)	3609,95)	0,007
	Increased FER	40 (95,2%)	23 (95,8%)	17 (94,4%)	1,000

All calculated percentages do not include missing values.

In the 1st wave, significant differences between groups were found regarding median DDs results (P=0,018), and all patients had values above normality ranges. In the group of deceased patients, these results almost tripled since the 2nd day of ICU admission. These kinds of increases have been found in other studies. Non-survivors revealed median DD values of 3,4 µg/L in a longitudinal research, which climbed to 16,3 µg/L between the 4th and 7th days of ICU admission (179). In the 2nd wave, besides the worsening of patients results, no significant differences were found between groups of patients. Finally, in the 3rd wave, significant differences were once again verified between median DDs results of both groups (P<0,001) and between the two groups median PLT counts (P=0,005). PLTs were significantly reduced in the group of deceased patients, indicating an increased risk of disease severity and mortality (210). In fact, once again, the survival curves only showed significant results regarding median PLT counts in the 3rd wave (**Figure 4.2.3.5D**).



Figure 4.2.3.5. Survival curves from all patients with COVID-19 according to the PLT threshold of 150 x10⁹/L in the 7th day of ICU interment (**A**) and separate survival curves for each COVID-19 wave (**B**, **C** and **D**).

Ultimately, the survival rate of patients with PLT counts inferior to 150×10^{9} /L was significantly lower (*P*=0,017) than that of patients with PLT counts equal or superior to 150×10^{9} /L, in the 3rd COVID-19 wave (**Table 4.2.3.8**).

	All patients	1 st Covid-19 Wave	2 nd Covid-19 Wave	3 rd Covid-19 Wave		
	P Value	P Value	P Value	P Value		
Log Rank (Mantel-Cox)	0,323	0,793	0,934	0,017		
Breslow (Generalized Wilcoxon)	0,316	0,512	0,953	0,013		
Tarone-Ware	0,312	0,623	0,943	0,012		

4.2.3.8. Comparisons between survival functions of all patients with and without decreased PLT counts, and separate analysis for all COVID-19 waves

Univariate logistic regression for all patients in each COVID-19 wave was applied to determine which biomarkers were related to the disease's outcome in the 7th day of ICU admission. Similarly to the 2nd day of ICU admission, statistically significant results were obtained for PLT counts in the 3rd COVID-19 wave. Thus, for every unit increase in PLT counts, the risk of death decreased by 0,7%. Once again, these results were consistent with the former survival analysis for the 3rd wave.

The following analysis had the goal of determining possible differences between waves, regarding the median levels of each biomarker in every group of patients. In the group of discharged patients, only median DDs results showed significant differences between COVID-19 waves (P=0,037). For the group of deceased patients, differences were found regarding median FIB levels (P=0,009) (**Table 4.2.3.9**). Just like for the analysis of the 2nd day of ICU admission, the obtained differences were most likely a result of the increased median DD results in the 1st wave, mainly in comparison to the ones from the 3rd wave.

	DDs levels comparison between:	P Value
	All COVID-19 Waves (n=123)	0,037†
ts	2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	1,000†
tien	3 rd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,061†
d pa	3 rd and 2 nd COVID-19 Waves	0,151†
large	FIP comparison between	D Value
nar	FID companison between:	P value
ischar	All COVID-19 Waves (n=58)	0,009 [†]
Dischar	All COVID-19 Waves (n=58) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves	0,009 [†] 0,017 [†]
Dischar	All COVID-19 Waves (n=58) 2 nd and 1 st COVID-19 Waves 2 nd and 3 rd COVID-19 Waves	0,009 [†] 0,017 [†] 0,068 [†]

 Table 4.2.3.9.
 Coagulation-related biomarkers' distributions with significant differences across COVID-19 waves, for discharged patients in the 7th day of ICU admission

The changes in FIB values between waves were a result of the significant lower levels in the 2^{nd} COVID-19 wave, in comparison with the 1^{st} one (*P*=0,017) (**Figure 4.2.3.6**). Thus, one can conclude that once again discharged patients demonstrated worse results in the 1^{st} COVID-19 wave.



Figure 4.2.3.6. FIB (g/L) median time course by COVID-19 wave, for discharged patients, between the 2^{nd} and 10^{th} days of ICU admission.

To conclude the analysis of coagulation biomarkers, comparisons between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission (**Table 4.2.3.10**) were obtained to evaluate the patients' evolution.

Table 4.2.3.10. Comparisons of coagulation-related biomarkers of all patients, the ones discharged from the ICU and those who died between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission for each COVID-19 wave

		INR		PL	PLTs x10 ⁹ /L		DDs (µg/L)		FIB (g/L)	
		n	P Value	n	P Value	n	P Value	n	P Value	
e D	Discharged patients	25	0,798	26	0,003	25	0,276	11	0,005	
COV Way	Deceased patients	12	0,754	12	1,000	12	0,530	7	0,735	
16 16	All patients	37	0,964	38	0,010	37	0,635	18	0,013	
COVID- Wave	Discharged patients	49	0,004	52	0,003	45	0,196	20	0,305	
	Deceased patients	34	0,025	34	0,108	30	0,926	9	0,066	
2 nd 19	All patients	83	<0,001	86	0,001	75	0,337	29	0,079	
é þ	Discharged patients	56	0,001	57	0,002	41	0,928	16	0,008	
COV	Deceased patients	32	<0,001	32	0,256	28	0,019	10	0,013	
3 rd 19	All patients	88	<0,001	89	0,001	69	0,120	26	<0,001	

P-values represent the comparison of the median of a given biomarker on the 2nd day with that of the 7th day of ICU admission. All *P* values obtained through related-samples Wilcoxon matched-pair signed rank test.

Regarding INR results, for comparisons between day 2 and 7 of ICU admission, no significant differences were found for any of the groups in the 1st COVID-19 wave, besides the worsening of the results (**Figure 4.2.3.7A, B**). In the 2nd and 3rd waves, INR results were significantly different for all patients (P<0,001) between the two analyzed days (**Figure 4.2.3.7A**). In the 2nd COVID-19 wave, both the discharged (P=0,004) and deceased (P=0,025) patients groups showed significant differences between the two days, since the INR results increased (**Figure 4.2.3.7C**). In the analyzed time frame, discharged patients results reached a peak approximately in the 5th day of ICU admission (slightly over the normality range) and started to decrease. On the other hand, deceased patients' results reached a peak on the 6th day of ICU admission and stabilized, until starting to decrease two days later. Although, their results were abnormally elevated during the entire analyzed period, in comparison with discharged patients, features that have been previously reported (179). In the 3rd wave, once again both the discharged (P=0,001) and deceased (P<0,001) patients groups showed significant differences between the two days, given that the INR results increased, even getting slightly outside normality ranges for



deceased patients (**Figure 4.2.3.8D**). Comparably to what happened in the 1st wave, in the 3rd one no significant differences were observed between discharged and deceased patients.

Figure 4.2.3.7. Median time course for patients' INR in each COVID-19 wave (A) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (B), 2nd (C) and 3rd (D) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

In all COVID-19 waves, patients' results significantly increased between the 2^{nd} and 7^{th} days of ICU admission, besides only peaking after the 8^{th} day (**Figure 4.2.3.8A**). According to Ruchond's *et al.* (210) research, PLTs showed an increasing trend in the group of survivors, but a downward trend or low results for the non-survivors. The same was verified in this study regarding the discharged patients' results in the 1^{st} and 3^{rd} waves, but in the 2^{nd} one, after approximately the 5^{th} day of ICU admission, PLTs counts stated to decrease while remaining between normality ranges (**Figure 4.2.3.8B-D**). Thus, in all COVID-19 waves, discharged patients' results were significantly different between the 2^{nd} and the 7^{th} days of ICU admission (P=0,003 in the 1^{st} and 2^{nd} waves and 0,002 in the 3^{rd}). For deceased patients, a downward trend was only observed for the first five days of ICU admission in the 1^{st} wave, but besides lower than for discharged patients, PLTs counts also kept on increasing in this group of patients (**Figure 4.2.3.8B-D**). Despite their increasing trend in the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} COVID-19 waves, no significant differences were detected between the results of 2^{nd} and 7^{th} days of ICU admission (P=0,108 and 0,256 respectively).



Figure 4.2.3.8. Median time course for patients' PLTs levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (**B**), 2nd (**C**) and 3rd (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Maximum median DD levels were higher for all patients in the 1st wave, throughout the analyzed period of time, and increasing trends were verified in all the waves (**Figure 4.2.3.9A**). DDs were only significantly different between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission for the group of deceased patients, in the 3rd COVID-19 wave (*P*=0,019) (**Figure 4.2.3.9D**). Until the 7th day of ICU admission, deceased patients' DDs results kept on increasing. Discharged patients' results also increased but in a very subtle way in the 1st and 3rd waves. In both groups, maximum values were obtained around the 6th and 7th days of ICU admission (**Figure 4.2.3.9B-D**). In other research, DDs levels reached maximum values between the 1st and 3rd days of hospitalization and after that decreased. This happened for both discharged and deceased patients, although the deceased ones had higher results at any studied time point (179). These findings are very distinct from the ones in the present study, except for the fact that discharged patients also had, almost always, inferior results than the deceased ones, mainly in the 1st and 3rd waves. In another report, maximum DD results were achieved around the 7th day of hospitalization, for both survivors and non-survivors, and higher levels and velocity of DD level increase were obtained for non-survivors. The authors also reached the conclusion that the dynamics of this biomarker may help monitor the disease progression (228).



Figure 4.2.3.9. Median time course for patients' DDs levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (**B**), 2nd (**C**) and 3rd (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Regarding FIB levels, upward trends, especially after the 4th day of ICU admission were observed in all COVID-19 waves (**Figure 4.2.3.10A**), but significant differences between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission were only obtained for the 1st and 2nd waves (*P*=0,013 and <0,001 respectively). Discharged patients from the first wave (*P*=0,005), as well as both discharged and deceased patients from the third wave (*P*=0,008 and 0,013 respectively), also showed significant differences between the two analyzed days. Although, increasing trends were observed in most of the cases (**Figure 4.2.3.10B**-**D**), with values above normality ranges since the 2nd day of ICU admission. According to Eljilany *et al.* (229) initial markers of coagulopathy in COVID-19 are DD levels, while late markers include INR, increased PLTs and decreased FIB levels. In the acute phase, FIB levels are expected to increase as part of the inflammatory response (as it was observed in the present study) followed by a decrease when DIC occurs (230). This last stage wasn't observed in the time period analyzed in this study.



Figure 4.2.3.10. Median time course for patients' FIB levels in each COVID-19 wave (**A**) and for the groups of discharged and deceased patients in the 1st (**B**), 2nd (**C**) and 3rd (**D**) COVID-19 waves, between the 2nd and 10th days of ICU admission.

Considering the total longitudinal data corresponding to the UCI stay, this time associations between coagulation-related biomarkers and death were tested by means of univariate GEEs models (**Table 4.2.1.12**). In the 2nd wave, for patients with increased INR the risk of death increased 1,0%. In the 3rd wave, for every unit increase in INR, the risk increased 1,4% and for patients with decreased PLTs, the risk of death increased 3,9%.

 Table 4.2.3.11. Statistically significant results from univariate GEEs models for coagulation-related biomarkers in each

 COVID-19 wave

		OR	95% CI	P Value
2 nd COVID-19 Wave	Increased INR	1,010	1,002-1018	0,010
3 rd COVID-19 Wave	Max. INR	1,014	1,006-1,023	0,001
	Decreased PLTs	1,039	1,013-1,067	0,004

Chapter 5 – Conclusion and future perspectives

In terms of clinical and demographic features, deceased patients were considerably older (P<0,001), had more comorbidities (P=0,008), required more IMV (P<0,001), and spent less time in the hospital than discharged patients (P<0,001). More patients were admitted during the 3rd COVID-19 wave and less in the 1st one. There were no significant differences in mortality across the waves (P=0,729). Age (P=0,021) and BMI (P=0,013), on the other hand, varied between waves. Patients from the 1st wave were significantly older and relied more on IMV (P=0,023) and ECMO (P<0,001). Patients who needed IMV, had higher mortality (P<0,001), even in the ICU (P<0,001), and were admitted to the ICU (P<0,001) and hospitalized (P<0,001) for longer periods of time. Younger patients didn't require as much IMV (P=0,028) but relied on techniques like HFO.

Regarding the laboratory results of the 2nd day of ICU admission, no significant differences were observed between discharged and deceased patients from the 1st COVID-19 wave. Most of the detected differences were between the groups of patients belonging to the 2nd and 3rd waves, being that deceased patients had almost always worse results. In the 7th day of ICU admission, significant differences between groups regarding laboratory results were found in all COVID-19 waves. Through the survival analysis made for all biomarkers in the two mentioned days, it was possible to conclude that in the 3rd wave, mortality rates were higher for patients with hs-cTn I levels above normality ranges in the 2nd day of ICU admission (*P*=0,048), and for patients with PLT levels under normality ranges, either in the 2nd (*P*<0,001) or 7th days (*P*<0,001) of ICU admission. In the 2nd wave, higher mortality rates were only observed for patients with increased hs-cTn I levels (*P*=0,013) and LYM levels under normality ranges (*P*=0,033) in the 2nd day of ICU admission. Since in the 1st wave biomarkers' results weren't different between discharged and deceased patients, survival analysis didn't lead to any significant results.

Comparisons between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission led to the conclusion that, in the 7th day, hs-cTn I and LDH results were significantly lower for all patients, in all COVID-19 waves (except LDH in the 1st wave). Regarding inflammation biomarkers, in all waves, RBCs, HCT and HGB were significantly lower in the 7th day of ICU admission. Biomarkers with increasing trends included WBCs, NEUs, EOs and, controversially, LYMs. INR, DDs, FIB and PLTs were coagulation biomarkers which also displayed increasing trends between the 2nd and 7th days of ICU admission. Although, more preeminent differences were detected in the 2nd and 3rd COVID-19 waves.

Regarding comparisons between waves, when significant differences between the biomarkers were found in the 2nd day of ICU admission, most of time they seemed to be a result of the significantly worse results observed in the 1st wave. In the 7th day of ICU admission, those differences seemed to be caused by worse results both in the 1st and in the 3rd waves. Thus, in the 2nd wave results were better in comparison to the remaining two. Despite all the mentioned observations, the behavior of each wave was very different between each set of biomarkers, and when comparisons between groups of deceased and discharged patients were obtained for each wave.

The estimated crude OR, regarding the risk of death, allowed to conclude that in the 2nd COVID-19 wave, for the 2nd day of ICU admission, patients with increased hs-cTn I (OR=2,412; *P*=0,028), decreased RBCs (OR=2,390; *P*=0,045), higher PLRs (OR=1,002; *P*=0,007) or NLRs (OR=1,057; *P*=0,004) had an increased risk of death. For patients from the 3rd COVID-19 wave, higher risks were obtained in cases of increased hs-cTn I (OR=2,789; *P*=0,020), higher LDH levels (OR=1,003; *P*=0,001), higher CRP levels (OR=1,004; *P*=0,029), lower PLT counts (OR=0,994; *P*=0,006) or decreased PLTs (OR=4,333; *P*=0,007). For the 7th day of ICU admission, patients in the 2nd wave had a greater risk of death when in the presence of higher CRP levels (OR=1,005; *P*=0,014), decreased RBCs (OR=5,333; *P*=0,035), decreased HCT (OR=8,854; *P*=0,042), lower levels of HGB (OR=0,734; *P*=0,012), higher levels of WBC (OR=1,105; *P*=0,017) or NEU (OR=1,131; *P*=0,007), increased NEU (OR=5,019; *P*=0,017), decreased EO (OR=3,214; *P*=0,011) or higher NLRs (OR=1,005; *P*=0,022) or WBC levels (OR=1,118; *P*=0,018), decreased LYMs (OR=4,435; *P*=0,002), higher NEU levels (OR=1,166; *P*=0,004), higher NLRs (OR=1,076; *P*=0,006), were also at higher risk of death.

Considering the longitudinal data, in the 1st wave, patients with increased hs-cTn I levels (OR=1,004; *P*=0,019), in risk of CS (OR=1,004; *P*=0,017), with increased myoglobin levels (OR=1,024; *P*=0,002) and lower EO counts (OR=0,997; *P*=0,043), were at a greater risk of dying. In the 2nd wave, the risk of death was also higher for patients with increased hs-cTn I levels (OR=1,017; *P*=0,002), in risk of CS (OR=1,021; *P*=0,006) and with increased myoglobin levels (OR=1,189; *P*=0,015), and for patients with decreased EOs (OR=1,009; *P*<0,001), higher WBC (OR=1,001; *P*=0,001) and NEU counts (OR=1,002; *P*<0,001), with increased WBCs (OR=1,015; *P*<0,001) and NEUs (OR=1,018; *P*<0,001), with lower LYM counts (OR=0,985; *P*<0,001), decreased LYMs (OR=1,014; *P*=0,002) and increased INR (OR=1,010; *P*=0,010). Finally, in the 3rd wave, patients with increased hs-cTn I (OR=1,021; *P*=0,003), increased CK (OR=1,023; *P*<0,001), decreased EOs (OR=1,014; *P*=0,001), lower EO counts (OR=0,968; *P*<0,001), higher WBC (OR=1,001; *P*=0,032) and NEU counts (OR=1,002; *P*=0,006), increased NEUs (OR=1,013; *P*=0,021), lower LYM counts (OR=0,984; *P*=0,004) and decreased LYMs (OR=1,027; *P*<0,001), higher INR (OR=1,014; *P*=0,001), and decreased PLTs (OR=1,039; *P*=0,004), were also in higher risk of death.

Aside from the positive results, more research is needed to develop reliable biomarkers for COVID-19's outcome. This study had some limitations, starting with the study sample, that was made up entirely of patients from a single ICU/hospital and quite small when considering that most of the research was focused on three COVID-19 wave groups. Thus, a larger sample size might increase the statistical power of the study. Regarding the clinal and demographical analysis, several information wasn't available, such as the severity of certain cardiac, liver, and renal disorders, the type of medicine patients were taking, and, most crucially, the severity of COVID-19 disease. In the future, it may be critical to consider disease severity in order to generate more trustworthy results and provide information on how to respond in each situation. Furthermore, the impact of therapies like IMV, ECMO, and HFO, as well as medication, on the patients' clinical course was not reported or included in the statistical

analysis. Future research should look into the impact of these factors as well as the early use of antivirals, immunomodulating medicines, vaccines, and other treatments on the disease's progression. In terms of laboratory data, not all biomarkers' results were available at any time point during the patients' ICU stay. There were even days with no measurements for certain patients, mostly after the 7th day of ICU admission. Another limitation was time, since most of it was directed into modeling data and creating databases as complete as possible, several biomarkers related to other organs weren't analyzed. Besides all the former mentioned future work, other possibilities involve including multivariate analysis and the application of more complex prediction models in order to generate stronger results and predict the patients' outcome.

Despite the above-mentioned limitations, this study provides useful information for prognostic evaluation that can be used to guide treatment and monitoring. Most importantly, it consists of valuable information, that took a lot of time to gather and organize into usable databases, and that can be employed as the foundation of a variety of future research.

Bibliography

- Hu B, Guo H, Zhou P, Shi ZL. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2020 Oct 6;19(3):141–54.
- Hui DS, Azhar EI, Madani TA, Ntoumi F, Kock R, Dar O, et al. The continuing 2019-nCoV epidemic threat of novel coronaviruses to global health - The latest 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak in Wuhan, China. Int J Infect Dis. 2020 Feb 1; 91:264–6.
- 3. Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2. Nat Microbiol. 2020 Apr 1; 5(4):536–44.
- Harapan H, Itoh N, Yufika A, Winardi W, Keam S, Te H, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A literature review. Journal of Infection and Public Health. 2020 May 1; 13(5):667–73.
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72 314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. 2020 Apr 7; 323(13):1239–42.
- 6. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Situation Report 51. 2020.
- 7. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Strategy Update. 2020 Apr.
- 8. World Health Organization. Listings of WHO's response to COVID-19. 2020 June 29.
- Soleimanpour S, Yaghoubi A. COVID-19 vaccine: where are we now and where should we go? Expert Rev Vaccines. 2021 Feb; 20(1):23–44.
- 10. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Weekly Epidemiological Update. World Health Organization. 2020 Dec; 1–3.
- 11. World Health Organization. DRAFT landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines. 2020.
- 12. World Health Organization. WHO lists additional COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use and issues interim policy recommendations. 2021.
- World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological update on COVID-19 31 August 2021.
 55th ed. 2021 Aug 31.
- 14. World Health Organization. Tracking SARS-CoV-2 variants. 2021.
- 15. Direção-Geral da Saúde. Relatório de Situação nº 547 COVID-19. 2021 Aug 30.
- Mittal A, Manjunath K, Ranjan RK, Kaushik S, Kumar S, Verma V. COVID-19 pandemic: Insights into structure, function, and hACE2 receptor recognition by SARS-CoV-2. PLoS Pathog. 2020 Aug 1.

- 17. Mousavizadeh L, Ghasemi S. Genotype and phenotype of COVID-19: Their roles in pathogenesis. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2021; 54(2).
- Hosseini ES, Kashani NR, Nikzad H, Azadbakht J, Bafrani HH, Kashani HH. The novel coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19): Mechanism of action, detection and recent therapeutic strategies. Virology. 2020 Dec 1; 551:1–9.
- 19. Su S, Wong G, Shi W, Liu J, Lai ACK, Zhou J, et al. Epidemiology, Genetic Recombination, and Pathogenesis of Coronaviruses. Trends Microbiol. 2016 Jun 1; 24(6):490–502.
- 20. Wong ACP, Li X, Lau SKP, Woo PCY. Global Epidemiology of Bat Coronaviruses. Viruses. 2019 Feb 20; 11(2):174.
- 21. Woo PCY, Lau SK. P, Lam CSF, Lau CCY, Tsang AKL, Lau JHN, et al. Discovery of seven novel Mammalian and avian coronaviruses in the genus deltacoronavirus supports bat coronaviruses as the gene source of alphacoronavirus and betacoronavirus and avian coronaviruses as the gene source of gammacoronavirus and deltacoronavirus. J Virol. 2012 Apr 1 ;86(7):3995–4008.
- 22. Brant AC, Tian W, Majerciak V, Yang W, Zheng ZM. SARS-CoV-2: from its discovery to genome structure, transcription, and replication. Cell & Bioscience. 2021 Jul 19;11(1):1–17.
- 23. Kirtipal N, Bharadwaj S, Kang SG. From SARS to SARS-CoV-2, insights on structure, pathogenicity and immunity aspects of pandemic human coronaviruses. Infect Genet Evol. 2020 Nov 1; 85.
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H, et al. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet. 2020 Feb 22; 395(10224):565–74.
- 25. Singh SP, Pritam M, Pandey B, Yadav TP. Microstructure, pathophysiology, and potential therapeutics of COVID-19: A comprehensive review. J Med Virol. 2021 Jan 1; 93(1):275–99.
- 26. Lam TTY, Shum MHH, Zhu HC, Tong YG, Ni XB, Liao YS, et al. Identifying SARS-CoV-2-related coronaviruses in Malayan pangolins. Nature. 2020 Jul 9; 583(7815):282–5.
- Wang MY, Zhao R, Gao LJ, Gao XF, Wang DP, Cao JM. SARS-CoV-2: Structure, Biology, and Structure-Based Therapeutics Development. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2020 Nov 25; 10.
- Yang D, Leibowitz JL. The structure and functions of coronavirus genomic 3' and 5' ends. Virus Research. 2015 Aug 3; 206:120–33.
- 29. Kadam SB, Sukhramani GS, Bishnoi P, Pable AA, Barvkar VT. SARS-CoV-2, the pandemic coronavirus: Molecular and structural insights. J Basic Microbiol . 2021 Mar 1; 61(3):180–202.

- Al-Qaaneh AM, Alshammari T, Aldahhan R, Aldossary H, Alkhalifah ZA, Borgio JF. Genome composition and genetic characterization of SARS-CoV-2. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2021 Mar 1; 28(3):1978–89.
- Naqvi AAT, Fatima K, Mohammad T, Fatima U, Singh IK, Singh A, et al. Insights into SARS-CoV-2 genome, structure, evolution, pathogenesis and therapies: Structural genomics approach. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2020 Oct 1; 1866(10).
- Synowiec A, Szczepańnski A, Barreto-Duran E, Lie LK, Pyrc K. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2): A systemic infection. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2021 Apr 1; 34(2):1–32.
- Huang Y, Yang C, Xu X feng, Xu W, Liu S wen. Structural and functional properties of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein: potential antivirus drug development for COVID-19. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica. 2020 Sep 1; 41(9):1141–9.
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV 2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease
 Inhibitor. Cell. 2020 Apr 16; 181(2):271-280.e8.
- 35. Jian S, Yushun W, Chuming L, Gang Y, Qibin G, Ashley A, et al. Cell entry mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020 May 26; 117(21):11727–34.
- Ou X, Liu Y, Lei X, Li P, Mi D, Ren L, et al. Characterization of spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV-2 on virus entry and its immune cross-reactivity with SARS-CoV. Nature Communications. 2020 Mar 27; 11(1):1–12.
- 37. Wu Y, Zhao S. Furin cleavage sites naturally occur in coronaviruses. Stem Cell Research. 2021 Jan 1; 50:102115.
- Shang J, Ye G, Shi K, Wan Y, Luo C, Aihara H, et al. Structural basis of receptor recognition by SARS-CoV-2. Nature. 2020 May 14; 581(7807):221–4.
- 39. Chen Z, Du R, Achi JMG, Rong L, Cui Q. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry and targeted antiviral development. Acta Pharm Sin B. 2021 May 13.
- 40. Shereen MA, Khan S, Kazmi A, Bashir N, Siddique R. COVID-19 infection: Origin, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses. J Adv Res. 2020 Jul 1; 24:91–8.
- 41. Bian J, Li Z. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2): SARS-CoV-2 receptor and RAS modulator. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B. 2021 Jan 1; 11(1):1–12.
- 42. Wang S, Qiu Z, Hou Y, Deng X, Xu W, Zheng T, et al. AXL is a candidate receptor for SARS-CoV-2 that promotes infection of pulmonary and bronchial epithelial cells. Cell Research. 2021 Jan 8; 31(2):126–40.

- 43. Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis MLC, Lely AT, Navis GJ, van Goor H. Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J Pathol. 2004 Jun; 203(2):631–7.
- 44. Ghafouri-Fard S, Noroozi R, Omrani MD, Branicki W, Pośpiech E, Sayad A, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme: A review on expression profile and its association with human disorders with special focus on SARS-CoV-2 infection. Vascular Pharmacology. 2020 Jul 1;130.
- 45. Verdecchia P, Cavallini C, Spanevello A, Angeli F. The pivotal link between ACE2 deficiency and SARS-CoV-2 infection. European Journal of Internal Medicine. 2020 Jun 1; 76:20.
- 46. Santos RAS, Sampaio WO, Alzamora A, Motta-Santos D, Alenina N, Bader M, et al. The ACE2/Angiotensin-(1-7)/MAS Axis of the Renin-Angiotensin System: Focus on Angiotensin-(1-7). Physiol Rev. 2018 Jan 1; 98(1):505–53.
- 47. Kai H, Kai M. Interactions of coronaviruses with ACE2, angiotensin II, and RAS inhibitors lessons from available evidence and insights into COVID-19. Hypertension Research. 2020 Apr 27;43(7):648–54.
- 48. Liu Y, Yang Y, Zhang C, Huang F, Wang F, Yuan J, et al. Clinical and biochemical indexes from 2019-nCoV infected patients linked to viral loads and lung injury. Science China Life Sciences. 2020 Mar 1; 63(3):364–74.
- 49. Zambelli V, Bellani G, Borsa R, Pozzi F, Grassi A, Scanziani M, et al. Angiotensin-(1-7) improves oxygenation, while reducing cellular infiltrate and fibrosis in experimental Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Intensive Care Medicine Experimental. 2015 Dec; 3(1).
- 50. Ferreira AJ, Santos RA, Bradford CN, Mecca AP, Sumners C, Katovich MJ, et al. Therapeutic implications of the vasoprotective axis of the renin-angiotensin system in cardiovascular diseases. Hypertension. 2010 Feb; 55(2):207–13.
- 51. Jiang F, Yang J, Zhang Y, Dong M, Wang S, Zhang Q, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and angiotensin 1–7: novel therapeutic targets. Nature Reviews Cardiology. 2014 Apr 29; 11(7):413–26.
- 52. Santos RAS, Ferreira AJ, Silva ACS. Recent advances in the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2-angiotensin(1-7)-Mas axis. Exp Physiol. 2008 May; 93(5):519–27.
- 53. Pinheiro SVB, Silva ACS. Angiotensin Converting Enzyme 2, Angiotensin-(1-7), and Receptor Mas Axis in the Kidney. International Journal of Hypertension. 2012.
- 54. Chappell MC, Modrall JG, Diz D, Ferrario CM. Novel aspects of the renal renin-angiotensin system: angiotensin-(1-7), ACE2 and blood pressure regulation. Contrib Nephrol. 2004; 143:77–89.
- 55. Hosseini A, Hashemi V, Shomali N, Asghari F, Gharibi T, Akbari M, et al. Innate and adaptive immune responses against coronavirus. Biomed Pharmacother . 2020 Dec 1 ;132.

- 56. Fung TS, Liu DX. Human Coronavirus: Host-Pathogen Interaction. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2019.
- 57. O'connell P, Aldhamen YA. Systemic innate and adaptive immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 as it relates to other coronaviruses. Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics. 2020; 16(12).
- Eakachai P, Chutitorn K, Tanapat P. Immune responses in COVID-19 and potential vaccines: Lessons learned from SARS and MERS epidemic. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. 2020 Mar 1; 38(1):1–9.
- 59. Wang C, Zhou X, Wang M, Chen X. The Impact of SARS-CoV-2 on the Human Immune System and Microbiome. Infectious Microbes and Diseases. 2021 Mar; 3(1):14–21.
- 60. Luis F G. Immune Response, Inflammation, and the Clinical Spectrum of COVID-19. Front Immunol. 2020 Jun 16 ;11.
- Singh L, Bajaj S, Gadewar M, Verma N, Ansari MN, Saeedan AS, et al. Modulation of Host Immune Response Is an Alternative Strategy to Combat SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis. Front Immunol. 2021 Jul 8.
- 62. Boechat JL, Chora I, Morais A, Delgado L. The immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19 immunopathology - Current perspectives. Pulmonology. 2021; 27(5).
- 63. Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J. The pathogenesis and treatment of the 'Cytokine Storm' in COVID-19.' Journal of Infection. 2020 Jun 1; 80(6):607–13.
- 64. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. The Lancet. 2020 Feb 15; 395(10223):497–506.
- 65. Yang Y, Shen C, Li J, Yuan J, Wei J, Huang F, et al. Plasma IP-10 and MCP-3 levels are highly associated with disease severity and predict the progression of COVID-19. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020 Jul 1; 146(1):127.
- 66. Ferreira AC, Soares VC, de Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Dias S da SG, Fintelman-Rodrigues N, Sacramento CQ, et al. SARS-CoV-2 engages inflammasome and pyroptosis in human primary monocytes. Cell Death Discovery. 2021 Mar 1; 7(1):1–12.
- 67. Keddie S, Ziff O, Chou MKL, Taylor RL, Heslegrave A, Garr E, et al. Laboratory biomarkers associated with COVID-19 severity and management. Clinical Immunology. 2020 Dec 1; 221.
- 68. Han H, Ma Q, Li C, Liu R, Zhao L, Wang W, et al. Profiling serum cytokines in COVID-19 patients reveals IL-6 and IL-10 are disease severity predictors. Emerging Microbes and Infections. 2020 Jan 1; 9(1):1123–30.
- 69. Li S, Jiang L, Li X, Lin F, Wang Y, Li B, et al. Clinical and pathological investigation of patients with severe COVID-19. JCI Insight. 2020 Jun 18; 5(12).
- 70. Marin BG, Aghagoli G, Lavine K, Yang L, Siff EJ, Chiang SS, et al. Predictors of COVID-19 severity: A literature review. Reviews in Medical Virology. 2021 Jan 1; 31(1):1–10.

- 71. Ghazavi A, Ganji A, Keshavarzian N, Rabiemajd S, Mosayebi G. Cytokine profile and disease severity in patients with COVID-19. Cytokine. 2021 Jan 1; 137.
- Yan Z, Ling Q, Ping Z, Kang L, Lianchun L, Jianping S, et al. Longitudinal COVID-19 profiling associates IL-1RA and IL-10 with disease severity and RANTES with mild disease. JCI Insight. 2020 Jul 9; 5(13).
- 73. Henry BM, de Oliveira MHS, Benoit S, Plebani M, Lippi G. Hematologic, biochemical and immune biomarker abnormalities associated with severe illness and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A meta-analysis. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 2020 Jun 25 ;58(7):1021–8.
- 74. Zhu Z, Cai T, Fan L, Lou K, Hua X, Huang Z, et al. Clinical value of immune-inflammatory parameters to assess the severity of coronavirus disease 2019. International journal of infectious diseases. 2020 Jun 1; 95:332–9.
- 75. Cummings MJ, Baldwin MR, Abrams D, Jacobson SD, Meyer BJ, Balough EM, et al. Epidemiology, clinical course, and outcomes of critically ill adults with COVID-19 in New York City: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Jun 6; 395(10239):1763–70.
- de Los Ríos F, Rosa L, Khoury J, Kissela BM, Flaherty ML, Alwell K, et al. Eligibility for Intravenous Recombinant Tissue-Type Plasminogen Activator Within a Population. Stroke. 2012.
- 77. Ponti G, Maccaferri M, Ruini C, Tomasi A, Ozben T. Biomarkers associated with COVID-19 disease progression. Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences. 2020; 57(6):1–11.
- 78. Bhatraju PK, Ghassemieh BJ, Nichols M, Kim R, Jerome KR, Nalla AK, et al. Covid-19 in Critically III Patients in the Seattle Region — Case Series. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020 May 2; 382(21):2012–22.
- 79. Cecconi M, Piovani D, Brunetta E, Aghemo A, Greco M, Ciccarelli M, et al. Early Predictors of Clinical Deterioration in a Cohort of 239 Patients Hospitalized for Covid-19 Infection in Lombardy, Italy. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020 May 1; 9(5).
- Imam Z, Odish F, Gill I, O'Connor D, Armstrong J, Vanood A, et al. Older age and comorbidity are independent mortality predictors in a large cohort of 1305 COVID-19 patients in Michigan, United States. J Intern Med. 2020 Oct 1; 288(4):469–76.
- Bourgonje AR, Abdulle AE, Timens W, Hillebrands JL, Navis GJ, Gordijn SJ, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2), SARS-CoV-2 and the pathophysiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). J Pathol. 2020 Jul 1; 251(3):228–48.
- Cannistraci CV, Valsecchi MG, Capua I. Age-sex population adjusted analysis of disease severity in epidemics as a tool to devise public health policies for COVID-19. Scientific Reports. 2021 Jun 3 ;11(1):1–8.

- 83. Pradhan A, Olsson PE. Sex differences in severity and mortality from COVID-19: are males more vulnerable? Biology of Sex Differences. 2020 Sep 18; 11(1).
- 84. White MC, Fleeman R, Arnold AC. Sex differences in the metabolic effects of the reninangiotensin system. Biol Sex Differ. 2019 Jul 1; 10(1).
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016 Oct 1; 16(10):626–38.
- 86. Thakur B, Dubey P, Benitez J, Torres JP, Reddy S, Shokar N, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of geographic differences in comorbidities and associated severity and mortality among individuals with COVID-19. Scientific Reports. 2021 Apr 20; 11(1):1–13.
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020 Mar 26; 382(13):1199–207.
- 88. Alimohamadi Y, Sepandi M, Taghdir M, Hosamirudsari H. Determine the most common clinical symptoms in COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Preventive Medicine and Hygiene. 2020 Oct 6; 61(3).
- 89. Rothan HA, Byrareddy SN. The epidemiology and pathogenesis of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. Journal of Autoimmunity. 2020 May 1;109.
- Machnicki S, Patel D, Singh A, Talwar A, Mina B, Oks M, et al. The Usefulness of Chest CT Imaging in Patients With Suspected or Diagnosed COVID-19: A Review of Literature. CHEST. 2021 Aug 1; 160(2):652–70.
- 91. Zhao X, Liu B, Yu Y, Wang X, Du Y, Gu J, et al. The characteristics and clinical value of chest CT images of novel coronavirus pneumonia. Clinical Radiology. 2020 May 1; 75(5):335–40.
- 92. Caruso D, Polici M, Zerunian M, Pucciarelli F, Polidori T, Guido G, et al. Quantitative Chest CT analysis in discriminating COVID-19 from non-COVID-19 patients. La radiologia medica. 2020 Oct 12; 126(2):243–9.
- 93. Sungnak W, Huang N, Bécavin C, Berg M, Queen R, Litvinukova M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 entry factors are highly expressed in nasal epithelial cells together with innate immune genes. Nat Med. 2020 May 1; 26(5):681–7.
- Lopes-Pacheco M, Silva PL, Cruz FF, Battaglini D, Robba C, Pelosi P, et al. Pathogenesis of Multiple Organ Injury in COVID-19 and Potential Therapeutic Strategies. Frontiers in Physiology. 2021 Jan 28; 0:29.
- 95. Hikmet F, Méar L, Edvinsson Å, Micke P, Uhlén M, Lindskog C. The protein expression profile of ACE2 in human tissues. Mol Syst Biol. 2020 Jul; 16(7).

- 96. Samudrala PK, Kumar P, Choudhary K, Thakur N, Wadekar GS, Dayaramani R, et al. Virology, pathogenesis, diagnosis and in-line treatment of COVID-19. Eur J Pharmacol. 2020 Sep 15;883.
- 97. Zaim S, Chong JH, Sankaranarayanan V, Harky A. COVID-19 and Multiorgan Response. Current Problems in Cardiology. 2020 Aug 1; 45(8):100618.
- 98. Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT, Ferguson ND, Caldwell E, Fan E, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the Berlin Definition. JAMA. 2012 Jun 13; 307(23):2526–33.
- 99. Langer T, Brioni M, Guzzardella A, Carlesso E, Cabrini L, Castelli G, et al. Prone position in intubated, mechanically ventilated patients with COVID-19: a multi-centric study of more than 1000 patients. Critical Care. 2021 Apr 6; 25(1):1–11.
- 100. Gattinoni L, Busana M, Camporota L. Standardised PaO2/FiO2 ratio in COVID-19: Added value or risky assumptions? European Journal of Internal Medicine. 2021 Oct 1; 92:31–3.
- 101. Gu Y, Wang D, Chen C, Lu W, Liu H, Lv T, et al. PaO2/FiO2 and IL-6 are risk factors of mortality for intensive care COVID-19 patients. Scientific Reports. 2021 Apr 1; 11(1):1–8.
- 102. Clerkin KJ, Fried JA, Raikhelkar J, Sayer G, Griffin JM, Masoumi A, et al. COVID-19 and Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation. 2020; 141(20):1648–55.
- 103. Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z. Single-cell RNA-seq data analysis on the receptor ACE2 expression reveals the potential risk of different human organs vulnerable to 2019-nCoV infection. Front Med. 2020 Apr 1; 14(2):185–92.
- 104. Gupta A, Madhavan M, Sehgal K, Nair N, Mahajan S, Sehrawat T, et al. Extrapulmonary manifestations of COVID-19. Nat Med. 2020 Jul 1; 26(7):1017–32.
- 105. Kang Y, Chen T, Mui D, Ferrari V, Jagasia D, Scherrer-Crosbie M, et al. Cardiovascular manifestations and treatment considerations in COVID-19. Heart. 2020 Aug 1; 106(15):1132–41.
- 106. Deng Q, Hu B, Zhang Y, Wang H, Zhou X, Hu W, et al. Suspected myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19: Evidence from front-line clinical observation in Wuhan, China. International Journal of Cardiology. 2020 Jul 15; 311:116–21.
- 107. NACB Writing Group Members, Apple FS, Jesse RL, Newby LK, Wu AHB, Christenson RH. National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry and IFCC Committee for Standardization of Markers of Cardiac Damage Laboratory Medicine Practice Guidelines: Analytical Issues for Biochemical Markers of Acute Coronary Syndromes. Circulation. 2007 Apr 3; 115(13).
- 108. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Mar 28; 395(10229):1054–62.

- 109. Zhu H, Rhee JW, Cheng P, Waliany S, Chang A, Witteles RM, et al. Cardiovascular Complications in Patients with COVID-19: Consequences of Viral Toxicities and Host Immune Response. Current Cardiology Reports. 2020 May 1; 22(5).
- 110. Siripanthong B, Nazarian S, Muser D, Deo R, Santangeli P, Khanji MY, et al. Recognizing COVID-19–related myocarditis: The possible pathophysiology and proposed guideline for diagnosis and management. Heart Rhythm. 2020 Sep 1;17(9).
- 111. Madhavan M V, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Biondi-Zoccai G, Brown TS, et al. Cardiovascular Considerations for Patients, Health Care Workers, and Health Systems During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020 May 12; 75(18):2352–71.
- 112. Tajbakhsh A, Gheibi Hayat SM, Taghizadeh H, Akbari A, Inabadi M, Savardashtaki A, et al. COVID-19 and cardiac injury: clinical manifestations, biomarkers, mechanisms, diagnosis, treatment, and follow up. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2021; 19(3):345–57.
- 113. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020 Mar 17; 323(11):1061.
- 114. Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, Leonard-Lorant I, Ohana M, Delabranche X, et al. High risk of thrombosis in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: a multicenter prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Medicine. 2020 Jun 1; 46(6):1.
- 115. Han H, Yang L, Liu R, Liu F, Liu F, Wu KL, et al. Prominent changes in blood coagulation of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 2020 Jul 1; 58(7):1116–20.
- 116. Khourssaji M, Chapelle V, Evenepoel A, Belkhir L, Yombi JC, van Dievoet MA, et al. A biological profile for diagnosis and outcome of COVID-19 patients. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 2020 Dec; 58(12):2141–50.
- 117. Xiao F, Tang M, Zheng X, Liu Y, Li X, Shan H. Evidence for Gastrointestinal Infection of SARS-CoV-2. Gastroenterology. 2020 May 1; 158(6):1831.
- 118. Lamers MM, Beumer J, Vaart J van der, Knoops K, Puschhof J, Breugem TI, et al. SARS-CoV-2 productively infects human gut enterocytes. Science (1979). 2020 Jul 3; 369(6499):50–4.
- 119. Zang R, Castro MFG, McCune BT, Zeng Q, Rothlauf PW, Sonnek NM, et al. TMPRSS2 and TMPRSS4 promote SARS-CoV-2 infection of human small intestinal enterocytes. Science Immunology. 2020 May 13; 5(47):3582.
- 120. Redd WD, Zhou JC, Hathorn KE, McCarty TR, Bazarbashi AN, Thompson CC, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Gastrointestinal Symptoms in Patients With Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection in the United States: A Multicenter Cohort Study. Gastroenterology. 2020 Aug 1; 159(2):765-767.e2.

- 121. Ramos-Casals M, Brito-Zerón P, Mariette X. Systemic and organ-specific immune-related manifestations of COVID-19. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2021 Apr 26; 17(6):315–32.
- 122. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. The Lancet. 2020 May 2; 395(10234):1417–8.
- 123. Qi F, Qian S, Zhang S, Zhang Z. Single cell RNA sequencing of 13 human tissues identify cell types and receptors of human coronaviruses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2020 May 21; 526(1):135–40.
- 124. Kudose S, Batal I, Santoriello D, Xu K, Barasch J, Peleg Y, et al. Kidney Biopsy Findings in Patients with COVID-19. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2020 Sep 1; 31(9):1959–68.
- 125. Su H, Yang M, Wan C, Yi LX, Tang F, Zhu HY, et al. Renal histopathological analysis of 26 postmortem findings of patients with COVID-19 in China. Kidney Int. 2020 Jul. 198(1):219–27.
- 126. Kopp JB, Anders HJ, Susztak K, Podestà MA, Remuzzi G, Hildebrandt F, et al. Podocytopathies. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2020 Aug 13; 6(1):1–24.
- Xiang HX, Fei J, Xiang Y, Xu Z, Zheng L, Li XY, et al. Renal dysfunction and prognosis of COVID-19 patients: a hospital-based retrospective cohort study. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2021 Feb 8; 21(1):1–7.
- 128. Xia T, Zhang W, Xu Y, Wang B, Yuan Z, Wu N, et al. Early kidney injury predicts disease progression in patients with COVID-19: a cohort study. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2021 Sep 27; 21(1):1–11.
- 129. Hirsch JS, Ng JH, Ross DW, Sharma P, Shah HH, Barnett RL, et al. Acute kidney injury in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. Kidney International. 2020 Jul 1; 98(1):209–18.
- 130. Alqahtani SA, Schattenberg JM. Liver injury in COVID-19: The current evidence. United European Gastroenterology Journal. 2020 Jun 1; 8(5):509.
- Parohan M, Yaghoubi S, Seraji A. Liver injury is associated with severe coronavirus disease
 2019 (COVID-19) infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis of retrospective studies.
 Hepatology research. 2020 Aug 1; 50(8):924–35.
- 132. Tian S, Xiong Y, Liu H, Niu L, Guo J, Liao M, et al. Pathological study of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) through postmortem core biopsies. Modern Pathology. 2020 Apr 14; 33(6):1007–14.
- 133. Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y, Zhang J, Huang L, Zhang C, et al. Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Apr 1; 8(4):420–2.

- 134. Zhang C, Shi L, Wang FS. Liver injury in COVID-19: management and challenges. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020 May 1; 5(5):428–30.
- 135. Kumar A, Kumar P, Dungdung A, Kumar Gupta A, Anurag A, Kumar A. Pattern of liver function and clinical profile in COVID-19: A cross-sectional study of 91 patients. Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome. 2020 Nov 1; 14(6):1951.
- Bertolini A, van de Peppel IP, Bodewes FAJA, Moshage H, Fantin A, Farinati F, et al. Abnormal Liver Function Tests in Patients With COVID-19: Relevance and Potential Pathogenesis. Hepatology. 2020 Nov 1; 72(5):1864–72.
- Bzeizi K, Abdulla M, Mohammed N, Alqamish J, Jamshidi N, Broering D. Effect of COVID-19 on liver abnormalities: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Scientific Reports. 2021 May 19; 11(1):1–18.
- Abdelrahman MM, Abdel-Baset AA, Younis MA, Mahmoud MG, Shafik NS. Liver function test abnormalities in COVID-19 patients and factors affecting them - a retrospective study. Clin Exp Hepatol. 2021; 7(3):297–304.
- Liu F, Long X, Zhang B, Zhang W, Chen X, Zhang Z. ACE2 Expression in Pancreas May Cause Pancreatic Damage After SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020 Aug 1; 18(9):2128-2130.e2.
- 140. Yang JK, Lin SS, Ji XJ, Guo LM. Binding of SARS coronavirus to its receptor damages islets and causes acute diabetes. Acta Diabetol. 2010 Sep; 47(3):193–9.
- 141. Geravandi S, Mahmoudi-aznaveh A, Azizi Z, Maedler K, Ardestani A. SARS-CoV-2 and pancreas: a potential pathological interaction? Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2021 Nov 1; 32(11):842–5.
- 142. Müller JA, Groß R, Conzelmann C, Krüger J, Merle U, Steinhart J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infects and replicates in cells of the human endocrine and exocrine pancreas. Nature Metabolism. 2021 Feb 3; 3(2):149–65.
- Montefusco L, Ben Nasr M, D'Addio F, Loretelli C, Rossi A, Pastore I, et al. Acute and long-term disruption of glycometabolic control after SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nature Metabolism. 2021 May 25; 3(6):774–85.
- 144. Santos A, Magro DO, Evangelista-Poderoso R, Saad MJA. Diabetes, obesity, and insulin resistance in COVID-19: molecular interrelationship and therapeutic implications. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2021; 13:23.
- 145. Ando W, Horii T, Uematsu T, Hanaki H, Atsuda K, Otori K. Impact of overlapping risks of type 2 diabetes and obesity on coronavirus disease severity in the United States. Scientific Reports. 2021 Sep 9; 11(1):1–8.

- 146. Ding P, Song B, Liu X, Fang X, Cai H, Zhang D, et al. Elevated Pancreatic Enzymes in ICU Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: A Retrospective Study. Frontiers in Medicine. 2021 Aug 17; 8:1345.
- 147. Goyal H, Sachdeva S, Perisetti A, Mann R, Inamdar S, Tharian B. Hyperlipasemia and Potential Pancreatic Injury Patterns in COVID-19: A Marker of Severity or Innocent Bystander? Gastroenterology. 2021 Feb 1; 160(3):946-948.e2.
- 148. Ellul MA, Benjamin L, Singh B, Lant S, Michael BD, Easton A, et al. Neurological associations of COVID-19. The Lancet Neurology. 2020 Sep 1;19(9):767–83.
- 149. Yachou Y, El Idrissi A, Belapasov V, Ait Benali S. Neuroinvasion, neurotropic, and neuroinflammatory events of SARS-CoV-2: understanding the neurological manifestations in COVID-19 patients. Neurol Sci. 2020 Oct 1; 41(10):2657–69.
- 150. Dey J, Alam MT, Chandra S, Gupta J, Ray U, Srivastava AK, et al. Neuroinvasion of SARS-CoV-2 may play a role in the breakdown of the respiratory center of the brain. Journal of Medical Virology. 2021 Mar 1; 93(3):1296–303.
- 151. Xu J, Zhong S, Liu J, Li L, Li Y, Wu X, et al. Detection of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus in the Brain: Potential Role of the Chemokine Mig in Pathogenesis. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2005 Oct 15; 41(8):1089–96.
- 152. Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, Horoi M, Le Bon SD, Rodriguez A, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology. 2020 Apr 6; 277(8):2251–61.
- 153. Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Neurology. 2020 Jun 1; 77(6):683–90.
- 154. Nuttall FQ. Body Mass Index: Obesity, BMI, and Health: A Critical Review. Nutr Today. 2015 May;50(3):117–28.
- 155. Yumuk V, Tsigos C, Fried M, Schindler K, Busetto L, Micic D, et al. Clinical Information European Guidelines for Obesity Management in Adults. Obes Facts. 2015; 8:402–24.
- Fitzmaurice GM, Laird NM, Ware JH. Marginal Models: Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE). 2018 Dec 20; 353–94.
- 157. Liang KY, Zeger SL. Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models. Biometrika. 1986 Apr 1; 73(1):13–22.
- 158. Serviço Nacional de Saúde. Retrato da Saúde. Ministério da Saúde, editor. Lisboa; 2018.

- 159. Santos AP, Leite PP, Casaca P, Moreno J, Dias CM, Nunes B, et al. Monitorização das linhas vermelhas para a COVID-19 Relatório n.o 11. Direção-Geral da saúde. 2021 Jun.
- Trêpa M, Reis AH, Oliveira M. Cardiovascular Complications of COVID-19 Infection. Acta Médica Portuguesa. 2021 Aug 31; 34(9):608–14.
- 161. Khan S, Rasool ST, Ahmed SI. Role of Cardiac Biomarkers in COVID-19: What Recent Investigations Tell Us? Current Problems in Cardiology. 2021 Oct 1; 46(10):100842.
- 162. Parohan M, Yaghoubi S, Seraji A. Cardiac injury is associated with severe outcome and death in patients with Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection: A systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care. 2020 Sep 1; 9(6):665–77.
- 163. Alzahrani SH, Al-Rabia MW. Cardiac Injury Biomarkers and the Risk of Death in Patients with COVID-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cardiology Research and Practice. 2021.
- Stefanini GG, Chiarito M, Ferrante G, Cannata F, Azzolini E, Viggiani G, et al. Early detection of elevated cardiac biomarkers to optimise risk stratification in patients with COVID-19. Heart. 2020 Oct 1; 106(19):1512–8.
- 165. Qin JJ, Cheng X, Zhou F, Lei F, Akolkar G, Cai J, et al. Redefining cardiac biomarkers in predicting mortality of inpatients with COVID-19. Hypertension. 2020; 1104–12.
- 166. Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, Cai Y, Liu T, Yang F, et al. Association of Cardiac Injury With Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Cardiol. 2020 Jul 1; 5(7):802–10.
- 167. Lala A, Johnson KW, Januzzi JL, Russak AJ, Paranjpe I, Richter F, et al. Prevalence and Impact of Myocardial Injury in Patients Hospitalized With COVID-19 Infection. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020 Aug 4; 76(5):533–46.
- Park KC, Gaze DC, Collinson PO, Marber MS. Cardiac troponins: from myocardial infarction to chronic disease. Cardiovascular Research. 2017 Dec 1; 113(14):1708–18.
- 169. Imazio M, Klingel K, Kindermann I, Brucato A, de Rosa FG, Adler Y, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and troponin: indirect myocardial injury, myocardial inflammation or myocarditis? Heart. 2020 Aug 1; 106(15):1127–31.
- 170. Akbar MR, Pranata R, Wibowo A, Lim MA, Sihite TA, Martha JW. The prognostic value of elevated creatine kinase to predict poor outcome in patients with COVID-19 A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome. 2021 Mar 1; 15(2):529.
- Orsucci D, Trezzi M, Anichini R, Blanc P, Barontini L, Biagini C, et al. Increased Creatine Kinase May Predict A Worse COVID-19 Outcome. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2021 Apr 16; 10(8):1734.

- 172. de Rosa A, Verrengia EP, Merlo I, Rea F, Siciliano G, Corrao G, et al. Muscle manifestations and CK levels in COVID infection: results of a large cohort of patients inside a Pandemic COVID-19 Area. Acta Myologica. 2021.
- 173. Yang J, Liao X, Yin W, Wang B, Yue J, Bai L, et al. Elevated cardiac biomarkers may be effective prognostic predictors for patients with COVID-19: A multicenter, observational study. The American Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2021 Jan 1; 39:34–41.
- 174. Guzik TJ, Mohiddin SA, Dimarco A, Patel V, Savvatis K, Marelli-Berg FM, et al. COVID-19 and the cardiovascular system: implications for risk assessment, diagnosis, and treatment options. Cardiovasc Res. 2020 Aug 1; 116(10):1666–87.
- 175. Fan Q, Zhu H, Zhao J, Zhuang L, Zhang H, Xie H, et al. Risk factors for myocardial injury in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in China. ESC Heart Failure. 2020 Dec 1; 7(6):4108–17.
- 176. Perera S, Rathore S, Shannon J, Clarkson P, Faircloth M, Achan V. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on ST-elevation myocardial infarction presentation and survival. British Journal of Cardiology. 2022 Jan; 29:36–40.
- 177. Fu X yan, Shen X feng, Cheng Y ran, Zhou MY, Ye L, Feng Z hui, et al. Effect of COVID-19 outbreak on the treatment time of patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. The American Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2021 Jun 1; 44:192.
- 178. Rodríguez-Leor O, Cid-Álvarez B, Pérez de Prado A, Rossello X, Ojeda S, Serrador A, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction care. The Spanish experience. Revista espanola de cardiologia. 2020 Dec; 73(12):994–1002.
- 179. Li C, Jiang J, Wang F, Zhou N, Veronese G, Moslehi JJ, et al. Longitudinal correlation of biomarkers of cardiac injury, inflammation, and coagulation to outcome in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology. 2020 Oct; 147:74.
- 180. Mollinedo-Gajate I, Villar-Álvarez F, Zambrano-Chacón M de Ios Á, Núñez-García L, Dueña-Muñoz L de Ia, López-Chang C, et al. First and Second Waves of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Madrid, Spain: Clinical Characteristics and Hematological Risk Factors Associated With Critical/Fatal Illness. Critical Care Explorations. 2021 Feb 22; 3(2):e0346.
- 181. Hashem MK, Khedr EM, Daef E, Mohamed-Hussein A, Mostafa EF, Hassany SM, et al. Prognostic biomarkers in COVID-19 infection: value of anemia, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio, and D-dimer. The Egyptian Journal of Bronchology. 2021 May 21; 15(1):1–9.
- 182. Heidari-Beni F, Vahedian-Azimi A, Shojaei S, Rahimi-Bashar F, Shahriary A, Johnston TP, et al. The Level of Procalcitonin in Severe COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2021; 1321:277–86.

- George JA, Mayne ES. The Novel Coronavirus and Inflammation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2021; 1321:127–38.
- 184. Lippi G, Plebani M. Procalcitonin in patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19):
 A meta-analysis. Clinica chimica acta. 2020 Jun 1; 505:190–1.
- 185. Stringer D, Braude P, Myint PK, Evans L, Collins JT, Verduri A, et al. The role of C-reactive protein as a prognostic marker in COVID-19. Int J Epidemiol. 2021 May 17; 50(2):420–9.
- 186. Hong LZ, Shou ZX, Zheng DM, Jin X. The most important biomarker associated with coagulation and inflammation among COVID-19 patients. Mol Cell Biochem. 2021 Jul 1; 476(7):2877–85.
- 187. Russo A, Tellone E, Barreca D, Ficarra S, Laganà G. Implication of COVID-19 on Erythrocytes Functionality: Red Blood Cell Biochemical Implications and Morpho-Functional Aspects. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2022 Feb 16; 23(4):2171.
- 188. Zhu B, Feng X, Jiang C, Mi S, Yang L, Zhao Z, et al. Correlation between white blood cell count at admission and mortality in COVID-19 patients: a retrospective study. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2021 Dec 1; 21(1):1–5.
- Shahri MK, Niazkar HR, Rad F. COVID-19 and hematology findings based on the current evidences: A puzzle with many missing pieces. International Journal of Laboratory Hematology. 2021 Apr 1; 43(2):160–8.
- 190. Palladino M. Complete blood count alterations in COVID-19 patients: A narrative review. Biochemia Medica. 2021 Oct 10; 31(3):30501.
- 191. Huang I, Pranata R. Lymphopenia in severe coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): Systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Intensive Care. 2020 May 24; 8(1):1–10.
- 192. Lee J, Park SS, Kim TY, Lee DG, Kim DW. Lymphopenia as a Biological Predictor of Outcomes in COVID-19 Patients: A Nationwide Cohort Study. Cancers (Basel). 2021; 13(3):1–15.
- 193. Xiang Q, Feng Z, Diao B, Tu C, Qiao Q, Yang H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Induces Lymphocytopenia by Promoting Inflammation and Decimates Secondary Lymphoid Organs. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021 Apr 28; 12:1292.
- 194. Cazzaniga M, Fumagalli LAM, D'angelo L, Cerino M, Bonfanti G, Fumagalli RM, et al. Eosinopenia is a reliable marker of severe disease and unfavourable outcome in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. International Journal of Clinical Practice. 2021 Jul 1; 75(7):e14047.
- 195. Knoll R, Schultze JL, Schulte-Schrepping J. Monocytes and Macrophages in COVID-19. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021 Jul 21; 12:2952.
- 196. Rajamanickam A, Kumar NP, Pandiarajan AN, Selvaraj N, Munisankar S, Renji RM, et al. Dynamic alterations in monocyte numbers, subset frequencies and activation markers in acute and convalescent COVID-19 individuals. Scientific Reports. 2021 Oct 12; 11(1):1–9.

- 197. Kilercik M, Demirelce Ö, Serdar MA, Mikailova P, Serteser M. A new haematocytometric index: Predicting severity and mortality risk value in COVID-19 patients. PLoS ONE. 2021 Aug 1; 16(8):e0254073.
- 198. Simadibrata DM, Pandhita BAW, Ananta ME, Tango T. Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio, a novel biomarker to predict the severity of COVID-19 patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis: Journal of the Intensive Care Society. 2020 Nov 2; 23(1):20–6.
- 199. Qu R, Ling Y, Zhang Y hui zhi, Wei L ya, Chen X, Li X mian, et al. Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated with prognosis in patients with coronavirus disease-19. Journal of Medical Virology. 2020 Sep 1; 92(9):1533–41.
- 200. Sarkar S, Kannan S, Khanna P, Singh AK. Role of platelet-to-lymphocyte count ratio (PLR), as a prognostic indicator in COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Medical Virology. 2022 Jan 1; 94(1):211–21.
- 201. Eslamijouybari M, Heydari K, Maleki I, Moosazadeh M, Hedayatizadeh-Omran A, Vahedi L, et al. Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte and Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratios in COVID-19 Patients and Control Group and Relationship with Disease Prognosis. Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine. 2020; 11(Suppl 1):531.
- 202. Liu Y, Du X, Chen J, Jin Y, Peng L, Wang HHX, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as an independent risk factor for mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Journal of Infection. 2020 Jul 1; 81(1):e6–12.
- 203. Urbano M, Costa E, Geraldes C. Hematological changes in SARS-COV-2 positive patients. Hematology, Transfusion and Cell Therapy. 2022 Apr 1; 44(2):218–24.
- 204. Cortés-Vieyra R, Gutiérrez-Castellanos S, Álvarez-Aguilar C, Baizabal-Aguirre VM, Nuñez-Anita RE, Rocha-López AG, et al. Behavior of eosinophil counts in recovered and deceased covid-19 patients over the course of the disease. Viruses. 2021 Sep 1; 13(9).
- 205. Hu R, Han C, Pei S, Yin M, Chen X. Procalcitonin levels in COVID-19 patients. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2020 Aug 1; 56(2):106051.
- 206. Tong-Minh K, van der Does Y, Engelen S, de Jong E, Ramakers C, Gommers D, et al. High procalcitonin levels associated with increased intensive care unit admission and mortality in patients with a COVID-19 infection in the emergency department. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2021; 22–165.
- 207. Seong H, Hyun HJ, Yun JG, Noh JY, Cheong HJ, Kim WJ, et al. Comparison of the second and third waves of the COVID-19 pandemic in South Korea: Importance of early public health intervention. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2021 Mar 1; 104:742–5.

- 208. Zhang HJ, Qi GQ, Gu X, Zhang XY, Fang YF, Jiang H, et al. Lymphocyte blood levels that remain low can predict the death of patients with COVID-19. Medicine. 2021 Jul 16; 100(28):e26503.
- 209. Mao J, Dai R, Du RC, Zhu Y, Shui LP, Luo XH. Hematologic changes predict clinical outcome in recovered patients with COVID-19. Annals of Hematology. 2021 Mar 1; 100(3):675–89.
- 210. Chen R, Sang L, Jiang M, Yang Z, Jia N, Fu W, et al. Longitudinal hematologic and immunologic variations associated with the progression of COVID-19 patients in China. The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2020 Jul 1; 146(1):89.
- 211. Lim AYH, Goh JL, Chua MCW, Heng BH, Abisheganaden JA, George PP. Temporal changes of haematological and radiological findings of the COVID-19 infection—a review of literature. BMC Pulmonary Medicine. 2021 Dec 1; 21(1):1–16.
- Nair AP, Soliman A, al Masalamani MA, de Sanctis V, Nashwan AJ, Sasi S, et al. Clinical Outcome of Eosinophilia in Patients with COVID-19: A Controlled Study. Acta biomedica. 2020; 91(4):1–10.
- Ye W, Chen G, Li X, Lan X, Ji C, Hou M, et al. Dynamic changes of D-dimer and neutrophillymphocyte count ratio as prognostic biomarkers in COVID-19. Respiratory Research. 2020 Jul 3; 21(1):1–7.
- Zinellu A, Paliogiannis P, Carru C, Mangoni AA. INR and COVID-19 severity and mortality: A systematic review with meta-analysis and meta-regression. Adv Med Sci. 2021 Sep 1; 66(2):372–80.
- 215. Kamel MH, Yin W, Zavaro C, Francis JM, Chitalia VC. Hyperthrombotic Milieu in COVID-19 Patients. Cells. 2020 Oct 31; 9(11).
- 216. Komi DEA, Rahimi Y, Asghari R, Jafari R, Rasouli J, Mohebalizadeh M, et al. Investigation of the Molecular Mechanism of Coagulopathy in Severe and Critical Patients With COVID-19. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021 Dec 16; 12:5370.
- 217. Chen AT, Wang CY, Zhu WL, Chen W. Coagulation Disorders and Thrombosis in COVID-19 Patients and a Possible Mechanism Involving Endothelial Cells: A Review. Aging and Disease.
 2022 Feb 1; 13(1):144–56.
- 218. Iba T, Levy JH, Levi M, Thachil J. Coagulopathy in COVID-19. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis. 2020 Sep 1; 18(9):2103–9.
- Li Q, Cao Y, Chen L, Wu D, Yu J, Wang H, et al. Hematological features of persons with COVID19. Leukemia. 2020 Jun 11; 34(8):2163–72.
- 220. Lin J, Yan H, Chen H, He C, Lin C, He H, et al. COVID-19 and coagulation dysfunction in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Medical Virology. 2021 Feb 1; 93(2):934–44.
- 221. Nugroho J, Wardhana A, Mulia EP, Maghfirah I, Rachmi DA, A'Yun MQ, et al. Elevated fibrinogen and fibrin degradation product are associated with poor outcome in COVID-19 patients: A meta-analysis. Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation. 2021 Jan 1; 77(2):221–31.
- 222. Sui J, Noubouossie DF, Gandotra S, Cao L. Elevated Plasma Fibrinogen Is Associated With Excessive Inflammation and Disease Severity in COVID-19 Patients. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2021 Aug 3; 11:712.
- 223. Zhang L, Yan X, Fan Q, Liu H, Liu X, Liu Z, et al. D-dimer levels on admission to predict inhospital mortality in patients with Covid-19. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2020 Jun 1; 18(6):1324–9.
- 224. Habib HM, Ibrahim S, Zaim A, Ibrahim WH. The role of iron in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 and possible treatment with lactoferrin and other iron chelators. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 2021 Apr 1; 136:111228.
- Feld J, Tremblay D, Thibaud S, Kessler A, Naymagon L. Ferritin levels in patients with COVID 19: A poor predictor of mortality and hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis. International Journal of Laboratory Hematology. 2020 Dec 1; 42(6):773–9.
- 226. Kaushal K, Kaur H, Sarma P, Bhattacharyya A, Sharma DJ, Prajapat M, et al. Serum ferritin as a predictive biomarker in COVID-19. A systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis. Journal of Critical Care. 2022 Feb 1; 67:172.
- 227. He J, Wei Y, Chen J, Chen F, Gao W, Lu X. Dynamic trajectory of platelet-related indicators and survival of severe COVID-19 patients. Critical Care. 2020 Dec 1; 24(1):1–4.
- 228. Valerio L, Ferrazzi P, Sacco C, Ruf W, Kucher N, Konstantinides S v., et al. Course of D-Dimer and C-Reactive Protein Levels in Survivors and Nonsurvivors with COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Retrospective Analysis of 577 Patients. Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2021 Jan 1; 121(1):98.
- Eljilany I, Elzouki AN. D-Dimer, Fibrinogen, and IL-6 in COVID-19 Patients with Suspected Venous Thromboembolism: A Narrative Review. Vascular Health and Risk Management. 2020; 16:455.
- 230. Sui J, Noubouossie DF, Gandotra S, Cao L. Elevated Plasma Fibrinogen Is Associated With Excessive Inflammation and Disease Severity in COVID-19 Patients. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2021 Aug 3; 11.